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2013 in figures

Key figures   2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Net sales € million 9,315 9,686 9,460 8,777 8,477

Operating profit € million 248 212 281 307 232

Operating profit excl. non-recurring items € million 239 230 279 268 155

Profit before tax € million 242 210 282 312 217

Return on capital employed excl. non-recurring items % 9.8 9.0 13.1 14.0 7.4

Return on equity excl. non-recurring items % 7.7 6.9 8.8 8.7 3.8

Cash flow from operating activities € million 414 382 216 438 379

Capital expenditure € million 171 378 425 325 198

Equity ratio % 54.5 52.5 53.9 53.5 54.2

Dividend per share € 1.40* 1.20 1.20 1.30 0.90

Earnings per share, diluted € 1.75 1.26 1.84 2.06 1.27

Earnings per share excl. non-recurring items, basic € 1.68 1.47 1.84 1.78 0.71

Equity per share € 22.96 22.48 22.29 21.81 20.39

Personnel, average 19,489 19,747 18,960 18,215 19,200

* Proposal to the AGM    
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NET SALES IN 2013 
€ 9,315 million
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  Home and speciality 
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  Building and home 
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  Car and machinery 
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OPERATING PROFIT EXCL.  
NON-RECURRING ITEMS IN 2013
€ 239 million

 Food trade
  Home and speciality 
goods trade 

  Building and home 
improvement trade 

  Car and machinery 
trade



K-group’s retail sales anD 
store numbers by country  Finland Sweden Norway Estonia Latvia Lithuania Russia Belarus

Retail sales € million 9,663 207 720 118 100 303 358 106

Stores 1,547 20 91 20 9 18 38 10

KesKo  
OPerATes  
in eigHT  
COunTries

finlanD

82%*

sweDen
2%*

estonia
1%*

latvia
1%*

litHuania
3%*

 russia, mainly  
st. petersburg anD 

moscow areas
4%*

belarus
1%*

norway
5%*

	 Finland: all divisions  

		Sweden and Norway: building and home improvement trade 

		Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania: building and home improve-

ment trade, machinery trade, furniture trade and e-commerce 

	 Russia, mainly St. Petersburg and Moscow areas: building 

and home improvement trade, food trade and sports trade

	 Belarus: building and home improvement trade 

* Percentage of Kesko’s net sales 
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BUILDING AND HOMe 
IMPROVeMeNT  
TRADe 

HOMe AND sPeCIALITY 
GOODs TRADe

CAR AND  
MACHINeRY TRADe

FOOD TRADe

Kesko Food is a key operator in 

the Finnish grocery trade. K-food 

retailers, with whom Kesko 

Food applies the efficient chain 

business model, are responsible 

for customer satisfaction at more 

than 900 K-food stores.

Retail sales €5,578 million

Kesko is a highly valued listed trading sector com-
pany. It manages retail store chains that are valued 
by customers, and efficiently produces services for 
retail store chains’ purchasing, logistics, network 
development and data management.  

Kesko’s operations include the food, home and spe-
ciality goods, building and home improvement, and 
car and machinery trades. Its divisions and chains 
act in close cooperation with retailer entrepreneurs 
and other partners. Kesko has about 2,000 stores 
engaged in chain operations in Finland, Sweden, 
Norway, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Russia and Bela-
rus. 

Kesko and K-retailers form the K-Group, whose 
retail sales totalled about €11.6 billion (VAT 0%) in 
2013. The K-Group employs around 45,000 people.

keskO IN BRIEF

Rautakesko develops retail and 

B2B sales of building, renovation 

and home improvement products 

and services with an emphasis on 

customer-orientation.

Retail sales €3,363 million

The home and speciality goods 

chains are K-citymarket’s home 

and speciality goods, Anttila and 

Kodin1, Intersport and Budget 

Sport, Asko and Sotka, Musta 

Pörssi and Kookenkä. 

Retail sales €1,574 million

The car and machinery trade con-

sists of VV-Auto and Konekesko 

with their subsidiaries. VV-Auto 

and Konekesko represent the 

leading brands and are responsi-

ble for their sales and after-sales 

services.

Retail sales €1,059 million

DIVIsIONs

OUR CORe COMPETENCE AREAS

	 Development and management of store concepts and brands 

	Combining retailer entrepreneurship and chain operations efficiently

	  International retail expertise

	 Multi-channel retailing

	 Cost-efficient and responsible business models 

	 Development and management of the store site network

WHY INVesT IN KESKO

	 Strong market position in Finland and other countries

	 Growth particularly in the growing Russian market 

	Strong and steady profit and financial position

	 Good dividend payment capacity

	 Recognised responsibility work

ReAD MORe
Divisions from p. 12 onwards
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keskO’s PROFIT INCREASED

One of the key objectives of Kesko’s 
profitability programme, which was 
launched in 2012, was implementing 
cost savings of €100 million, thereby 
ensuring Kesko’s profit performance 
in the deteriorating economic situa-
tion. Though Kesko’s net sales did not 
reach the targets set, we succeeded in 
improving our profit by implementing 
the targeted cost savings by the end of 
2013. All business operations of Kesko 
Group participated in this, and cost 
savings were achieved across the whole 
range. In addition, capital of about €200 
million was released from Group inven-
tories and receivables, clearly strength-
ening the Group’s financial position 
and liquidity.

Kesko’s net sales for 2013 totalled 
€9.3 billion, 3.8% down on the previ-
ous year. Operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items was €239 million, 
an increase of €9 million. Profit for the 
year was €185 million, representing an 
increase of €49 million from 2012. 

In the food trade, net sales increased 
by 1.8%, but K-food stores’ sales devel-
opment fell short of the market growth. 
Thanks to the strong rationalisation 
measures in the food trade, profitability 
improved clearly and comparable costs 
decreased by over €30 million from 
the previous year. One K-citymarket 
and 11 K-supermarkets were opened 
in Finland over the course of the year. 
Three new K-food stores were opened 
in St. Petersburg, Russia. Both sales and 
profitability exceeded the anticipated 
level in Russia, where customers have 
received the K-food stores’ ‘Best in 
Fresh’ concept extremely well. Kespro’s 

strong sales and profit development 
continued in 2013 and the citymarket.fi 
online store was expanded in late 2013 
to include groceries. 

In the home and speciality goods 
trade, sales development and profita-
bility varied from chain to chain.  
K-citymarket’s home and speciality 
goods, Intersport Finland, Asko and Sot-
ka achieved strong profit. For Anttila de-
partment stores, however, the year was 
difficult: sales decreased and business 
was clearly loss-making. For Anttila, the 
key objectives include expanding the 
selections of the NetAnttila online store 
and revising the department store con-
cept, while plans are also being made to 
close a considerable number of current 
stores to improve overall profitability.

In the building and home im-
provement trade, the rationalisation 
measures taken improved profitability 
despite the difficult market situation, 
particularly towards the end of the year. 
The construction market remained 
weak above all in Finland. The third 
K-rauta store in Moscow opened during 
the year. Revised retailer agreements 
were adopted in Norway.

In the car and machinery trade, sales 
decreased following market trends, but 
return on capital remained excellent. 
Volkswagen was once again the market 
leader and the combined market share 
of Audi, Volkswagen and Seat increased 
to 20.6%.

 
CAPITAL exPeNDITURe PRIORITIseD
In accordance with the profitability pro-
gramme, Kesko Group’s capital expendi-
ture was prioritised and the emphasis 

Gloomy financial news, deteriorating employment rates and increasingly 
stringent taxation cut consumers’ purchasing power and willingness to 
shop in all divisions, particularly in Finland. At the same time, electronic 
commerce assumed an increasingly important role in consumers’ 
purchasing behaviour and international online retailing intensified 
competition, particularly in the home and speciality goods trade.

was on food store sites in Finland and 
Russia. In 2013, capital expenditure 
totalled about €171 million, compared 
with €378 million in the previous year. 

Store sites provide the key basis for 
the business operations of Kesko and 
K-retailers. In Kesko Group’s capital 
expenditure, the focus is on the food 
trade and the building and home im-
provement trade. From the perspective 
of growth, the expansion of operations 
in Russia plays a key role. Three K-food 
stores were opened in St. Petersburg in 
2013 and three more will also be opened 
there over the course of 2014. 

Kesko decided to look into selling 
some of the store sites it owns to a fund 
to be set up with Kesko as one of its 
significant investors. 

 
MULTI-CHANNeL BUsINess 
APPROACH WILL PROCeeD
Online business and electronic infor-
mation have greatly changed custom-
ers’ purchasing behaviour. In e-com-
merce, competition is international 
and the importance of price, wide 
selections and shopping experience 
is emphasised. From customers’ per-
spective, it is of key importance that 
they are offered an opportunity to plan 
and make purchases irrespective of 
time and place. Retailers need to have 
comprehensive product, service, price 
and availability information online, 
provide customer-oriented logistics 
services and adopt interactive and 
more individualised communications 
for marketing and customer loyalty 
programmes. By the end of 2014, all 
of Kesko’s chains will offer an online 
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”We succeeded in 
improving our profit 
by implementing the 
targeted cost savings.”

shopping option to their customers, 
while also shifting the emphasis even 
more towards targeted marketing and 
customer rewards.

 
ResPONsIBILITY WORk  
ReWARDeD AGAIN
Kesko’s responsibility work was 
developed on the basis of the updated 
responsibility programme, published in 
February 2013. K-food stores introduced 
a new K-responsibility concept, which 
will raise the customer visibility of our 
responsibility work. Kesko’s Corporate 
Responsibility Report for 2012 was 
selected as the best in Finland in a 
responsibility reporting contest. Kesko 
was again included in major sustain-
ability indices, and continues on the 
list of The Global 100 Most Sustainable 
Corporations in the World. Kesko was 
also selected for the new UN Global 
Compact 100 stock index. 

 

eMPLOYees’ COMPeTeNCe 
DeVeLOPMeNT 
Kesko and K-retailers have around 
45,000 employees. As electronic com-
merce and services increase, systematic 
and business-driven development of 
employees’ competence is a critical 
success factor. Kesko and the K-stores 
actively participate in the Youth Guar-
antee initiative.  The K-Group aims 
to employ 1,000 young people in the 
target group of the initiative by the end 
of 2014. By the end of 2013, 520 young 
people had already been employed.

AIMING FOR PROFITABLe GROWTH  
Key objectives for 2014 include a 
healthy increase in K-food stores’ sales, 
strong growth in e-commerce and 
services, and enhancement measures in 
all of the chains, profitable expansion 
of business in Russia, and improv-
ing return on capital in the building 

and home improvement trade and in 
Anttila.
 
THANks TO eMPLOYees, 
sHAReHOLDeRs, k-ReTAILeRs  
AND ALL PARTNeRs
I thank all shareholders, K-retailers and 
their staff and our business partners 
for successful cooperation and all of 
Kesko’s employees for committed and 
competent work.

Matti Halmesmäki
President and CEO
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Values

We exCeeD OUR  
CUsTOMeRs’  
exPeCTATIONs

We ARe THe BesT  
OPeRATOR IN THe 
TRADING seCTOR 
 
 

We CReATe A GOOD 
WORkING COMMUNITY

We BeAR OUR  
CORPORATe  
ResPONsIBILITY 

Corporate responsibility is an integral part of everyday work at kesko 
and is based on kesko’s values, vision and strategy. Kesko and K-stores 

aim to make customers’ lives easier and help them make responsible choices.
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VISION
Kesko is the leading provider of trading sector  

services and a highly valued listed company

Group’s strategic themes

1. sTReNGTHeNING 
sALes GROWTH  AND 
INCReAsING sHARe-
HOLDeR VALUe

2. e-COMMeRCe AND 
MULTI-CHANNeL  
seRVICes

3. exPLOITING  
BUsINess  
OPPORTUNITIes IN 
RUssIA 

4. ResPONsIBLe  
OPeRATIONs

Divisions’ focus areas

   Superior fresh foods depart-

ments, the best selections and  

a good price image

   Customer-driven online  

services

   Fast and successful expansion of 

food retailing in Russia

 

  Considerable expansion of the 

selections in NetAnttila and 

Musta Pörssi online stores

  Reducing the network of Anttila 

department stores and renew-

ing the concepts

  Refurbishing the home and 

speciality goods departments of 

K-citymarkets

  Online stores in all chains over 

the course of 2014

  Development of customer- 

driven services in stores and 

online

  Increasing sales and cost  

efficiency

  High-quality private label 

brands Cello, PROF and FXA

Car trade

  Strengthening the market share 

of Volkswagen, Audi and Seat

  The best maintenance services 

Machinery trade

  The leading brands and the best 

maintenance services

FOOD TRADe HOMe AND sPeCIALITY 
GOODs TRADe

BUILDING AND HOMe 
IMPROVeMeNT TRADe

CAR AND MACHINeRY 
TRADe
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1. sTReNGTHeNING sALes GROWTH  
AND INCREASING SHAREHOLDER VALUE

FINANCIAL OBjeCTIVes AND THeIR ReALIsATION 

OBjeCTIVes Target level Realised in 2013 Realised in 2012

Net sales growth Growth faster than market
Realised **: In Finland, furniture 

trade and car trade 

Realised**: Building and home improvement 
trade in Finland, sports trade in Finland, car 

and machinery trade

Return on equity* 12% 7.7% 6.9%

Return on capital employed* 14% 9.8% 9.0%

Interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA < 3 -0.3 0.4 

Equity ratio 40–50% 54.5% 52.5%

* Excl. non-recurring items
** Kesko’s own estimate 

Kesko’s key objective is healthy, 
profitable growth. This summarises 
the aim to make Kesko’s operations as 
customer-oriented as possible in all 
divisions: the food trade, the home and 
speciality goods trade, the building 
and home improvement trade, and the 
car and machinery trade. The core of 
Kesko’s chains’ customer relationship 
and competition strategy consists of 
customer-driven brands, selections and 
services, and their multi-channel offer-
ing via the store site network and online 
stores. From the perspective of growth, 
key strategic focus areas include capital 
expenditure in the major growth centres 
of Finland, the growing retail market of 
Russia and the development of e-com-
merce and services.

In addition to sales growth, key 
issues in Kesko’s strategy include 
improving cost-efficiency and allo-
cating capital expenditure to the most 
profitable business operations. Kesko’s 
target return on capital employed is 
14%, while the target return on equity 
is 12%. From the perspective of share-
holder value, a good dividend payment 
capacity and the strong financial posi-
tion supporting this also play key roles. 
Kesko’s dividend policy is to distribute 
at least 50% of its earnings per share 
excluding non-recurring items as div-
idends, taking into account, however, 
the company’s financial position and 
operating strategy.

YeAR 2013
As expected, 2013 proved challenging from 
the perspective of growth. The general 
economic situation declined in nearly 
all of the countries where Kesko oper-
ates, which was reflected in a decrease in 
consumer demand above all in the home 
and speciality goods trade, the building and 
home improvement trade, and the car and 
machinery trade. The key dynamics of the 
operating environment also included the 
growth of electronic commerce, manifest-
ed particularly in the home and speciality 
goods trade as increasing domestic and 
foreign supply and tightening competition.

In the food trade, in line with the 
strategy, services of fresh foods depart-
ments of Finnish K-food stores were re-
vised, 12 new K-food stores were opened 
in Finland and three in Russia, and the 
ruoka.citymarket.fi online food store 
was opened. The emphasis in the home 
and speciality goods trade’s strategy was 
on revising K-citymarket and Anttila and 
increasing e-services and e-commerce. 
In line with its profitability strategy, the 
building and home improvement trade 
greatly increased the efficiency of its 
operations and succeeded in improving 
profitability despite a decrease in sales. 
One new K-rauta store was opened in 
Moscow, Russia. In the car and machin-
ery trade, Volkswagen was the market 
leader once again. 

Capital expenditure in the refurbish-
ment of the store network totalled €126 

million in 2013 and 22 new stores were 
opened. This figure consisted of 15 food 
stores, one building and home improve-
ment store and six home and speciality 
goods stores. Capital expenditure in 
Russia amounted to €62 million, where 
three new food stores, one new building 
and home improvement store and one 
sports store were opened. In the home 
and speciality goods trade, the emphasis 
was increasingly shifted to electronic 
commerce.

To improve profitability, all divisions 
implemented significant cost savings, 
€100 million in all. Significant capital 
expenditure and working capital adjust-
ments were also implemented, which 
essentially strengthened Kesko Group’s 
financial position.

In 2013, Kesko paid a dividend of €1.20 
per share, which was 82% of the earnings 
per share excluding non-recurring items 
and corresponded to an effective yield of 
4.8% per share.

OBjeCTIVes
FOR THE FOLLOWING YEARS 

  The growth rate will exceed that of the 

market in all product lines

  Kesko Group’s return on capital employed 

will be 14%
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2. e-COMMeRCe  
AND MULTI-CHANNEL SERVICES
Customer needs and consumption 
behaviour have changed greatly along 
with new web services and rapidly de-
veloping mobile devices. In multi-chan-
nel transactions, customers expect 
stores to provide real-time information 
about product selections, properties, 
prices and availability.

Providing e-commerce and online shop-
ping services are strategic focal points in 
all of Kesko’s divisions. The aim is to serve 
customers as well as possible irrespective 
of time and place at various stages of their 
purchasing processes. In the food trade, 
for example, the pirkka.fi service offers 
consumers a wide range of recipes and 
services for home cooks to share and the 
ruoka.citymarket.fi online food store in 
the Greater Helsinki area, further broad-
ens the scope.

The development of online services and 
stores necessitates major investments in 
building operating processes, developing 
competence and providing the required IT 
systems. Kesko aims to offer online shop-
ping services in all of its divisions over the 
course of 2014. Kesko has already achieved 
a significant position in e-commerce with 
the NetAnttila.com, kodin1.com, citymar-
ket.fi, mustaporssi.fi, budgetsport.fi and 
kookenka.fi online stores. 

YeAR 2013
The change in customer behaviour 
related to the use of e-services contin-
ued as expected during 2013 and it is 
estimated that about 75% of Finnish 
consumers shopped online, compared 
with only about 60% in 2010. Growth 
in online sales in the Finnish retailing 
market was estimated to be about 6% 
in January-June. Total net sales in the 
retail trade decreased by nearly one 
percent in 2013.

Kesko continued to develop e-com-
merce and services in all product lines in 
2013. Key activities in the home and spe-
ciality goods trade included the revisio of 
business operations of the NetAnttila.com 

and citymarket.fi online stores. In the 
food trade, the ruoka.citymarket.fi online 
food store was launched in the Greater 
Helsinki area. In the building and home 
improvement trade, ‘click and collect’ 
services and many other e-services were 
introduced on the k-rauta.fi pages. In 
addition to many other e-services, the car 
trade also provides an option for booking 
maintenance and test drives online. 

OBjeCTIVes
FOR THE FOLLOWING YEARS 

  There will be an online shopping option in 

all the home and speciality goods chains, in 

the food trade and in the building and home 

improvement trade in 2014

  Comprehensive store-specific product 

information, prices and availability will be 

provided online by the end of 2016

NEED

IMPULSE

COMMENTS CHOICE

DECISIONCOMMITMENT

INTEREST

PURCHASINGINTERACTION

Various 
media

QR codes 

Product 
information 
and prices

Special  
offers and 
coupons

Location 
information

Shopping 
basket

Payment

Customer  
identification

www.plussa.com

Social  
media

MULTI-CHANNeL seRVICes

Smartphones, fast connections, use of web services via mobile devices, mobile applications and 

exploiting location information enable online and traditional shopping to combine under the cus-

tomer’s fingertips, irrespective of time and place.
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3. exPLOITING BUsINess   
OPPORTUNITIES IN RUSSIA 

Kesko’s key geographic growth area 
is Russia, where the retail market is 
estimated to have increased by about 
10% annually in recent years. The 140 
million Russian consumers constitute a 
food trade market worth about €250 bil-
lion, a building and home improvement 
trade market worth about €13 billion and 
a sports trade market worth about €8 
billion. The strong basis for an increase 
in demand lies in the large middle class 
of Russia, rising average salaries and 
the low unemployment rate, which was 
below 6% at the end of 2013.

Kesko’s aim is to make annual capital 
expenditure of over €100 million in 
expanding the networks of food stores 
and building and home improvement 
stores in Russia. In the building and 
home improvement trade, Kesko has 13 
K-rauta stores in Russia, seven of which 
are in St. Petersburg and six in the 
Moscow area. Some new stores will be 
added to the network in St. Petersburg, 
but the emphasis in the coming years 
will be on the Moscow area. As a whole, 
the medium-term aim in the building 
and home improvement trade is to have 
a network of about 30 stores. 

In food retailing, Kesko launched 
business in Russia at the end of 2012. 
There are now four K-ruoka stores in 
St. Petersburg and the aim is to have a 
network of about ten stores there by the 
end of 2015 and expand business to the 
Moscow area. 

Intersport has 21 stores in Russia, 
where the focus is the St. Petersburg 
market.

YeAR 2013
Kesko’s net sales in Russia totalled €362 
million in 2013. The development of the 
Russian national economy slowed from 
previous years and real GDP growth was 
only 1.6%.

Slower growth in Russia was also 
reflected in the development of the 
building and home improvement trade 
during 2013. Rautakesko’s net sales in 
Russia amounted to €272 million in 
2013 and, in terms of roubles, sales in-
creased by 1.6%. Kesko opened its 13th 
K-rauta store in Russia, in the Mytishi 
area of Moscow in April. 

In the food trade in Russia, Kesko’s 
net sales amounted to €71 million in 
2013 and three new K-ruoka stores were 
opened in St. Petersburg. There were 
four stores in all at the end of 2013. 
The ‘Best in Fresh’ concept of Russian 
food stores and related superior fresh 
foods departments have received 
extremely good customer feedback and 
overall customer satisfaction has been 
excellent. Sales, customer numbers 
and profitability have all been higher 
than expected in Russian food stores. 
The aim is to open three more stores 
in 2014.

In 2013, Intersport Russia focused on 
renewing the concept and restructuring 
the store network.

OBjeCTIVes
FOR THE FOLLOWING YEARS 

  In the building and home improvement 

trade, net sales of €800 million by 2017

  In the food trade, net sales of €500 million 

and a positive operating result by 2017

  Intersport’s net sales in Russia €50 million by 

2015 
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4. ResPONsIBLe   
OPERATIONS

Responsibility is a part of the every-
day activities at Kesko and K-stores. 
It is also essential in order to achieve 
good financial performance and build 
confidence between Kesko, K-stores, 
customers and business partners. 

Responsibility work is based on 
Kesko’s values and vision and is guided 
by the management system, corporate 
responsibility stakeholder analysis, 
materiality assessment, operating 
principles and the guide entitled ‘Our 
Responsible Working Principles’.

It is important that all employees in 
the eight countries where we oper-
ate, as well as our partners, commit 
themselves to working in line with 
Kesko’s values and responsible working 
principles.

The transparency and responsibili-
ty of purchasing chains have become 
increasingly important and we want to 
provide customers with increasingly 
detailed information on the origins and 
manufacturing methods of products.

In Kesko, wellbeing at work is based 
on the opportunity to do meaningful 
work, in line with one’s abilities, in a 
safe, pleasant and supportive working 
environment. A pluralist organisation 
that promotes diversity guarantees equal 
opportunities, rights and treatment to all.

YeAR 2013
Kesko’s updated responsibility pro-
gramme was published in February 
2013. The programme contains both 
short- and long-term objectives up to 
2020 for Kesko’s operations and those 
of the entire K-Group. 

The responsibility programme covers 
all divisions and is part of all our op-
erational processes. The progress and 
results of the responsibility programme 
will be described in Kesko’s Corporate 
Responsibility Report.

In 2013, K-food stores adopted a new 
K-responsibility concept, which helps 
communicate stores’ responsibility to 
customers and personnel with concrete 

OBjeCTIVes 
FOR THE FOLLOWING YEARS

   We will improve our annual energy efficiency 

by 65 GWh by 2016

   We will reduce the relative carbon dioxide 

emissions from Keslog’s transportation by 

10% by 2020

   We will offer a wide selection of responsible 

Pirkka products; 500 Pirkka products meet-

ing a responsibility criterion and 200 Pirkka 

organic products by 2015

IMPACTs OF keskO’s OPeRATIONs ON sOCIeTY 

RAW MATERIALS                 PRODUCTION              LOGISTICS              STORE            CUSTOMER            PRODUCTS AND SERVICES            RECYCLING

Kesko’s corporate responsibility impact can be divided into economic, social and environmental 

impacts. Kesko is a service company which, in addition to its own direct impact, has indirect  

impacts related to the production, use and recyclability of products, which play a significant role.

ReAD MORe
Read more about Kesko’s responsibility 
work on page 39

examples. In 2014, the K-responsibility 
concept will be expanded to K-rauta, 
Rautia and K-agricultural stores.
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The business models applied in Kesko’s sales to consumer-customers are re-
tailing through retailer entrepreneurs and Kesko’s own retailing. Kesko is also 
engaged in B2B sales. Kesko Group manages retail store chains and produces 
purchasing, logistics, network development and information management 
services efficiently by using centralised resources and economies of scale.

keskO’s BUSINESS MODEL

1. ReTAILeR eNTRePReNeURs 
Our principal business model in the Finnish 

market is the chain business model, in which 

independent K-retailers run retail stores in 

Kesko’s store chains. In Finland, all food and 

building and home improvement stores in the 

K-Group are run by retailer entrepreneurs. In 

the retailer model, through its chain operations 

Kesko provides a first-class setting for its retail-

er entrepreneurs to provide the best possible 

service to their customers. The K-retailer entre-

preneur implements the chain concept and is 

responsible for store management, customer 

satisfaction, personnel and business profitabil-

ity. The K-Group’s competitive edge is based 

on having the best selections, excellent service 

and knowledge of customer needs.

At the end of 2013, Kesko had 1,036 inde-

pendent K-retailer entrepreneurs and also 

about 180 other retailer entrepreneurs as 

partners. 

2. keskO’s OWN ReTAILING
Kesko acts as a retailer in business operations 

where the competitive advantage is based on 

having a centrally managed chain concept and 

large units. Kesko’s own retail stores in Finland 

include the K-citymarket chain’s home and spe-

ciality goods trade and the Anttila and Kodin1 

department stores.

Outside Finland, our own retailing is the main 

business model. At the end of 2013, Kesko had 

around 130 own retail stores outside Finland. 

Kesko also has several online stores, such as 

NetAnttila.com, Kodin1.com, citymarket.fi and 

mustaporssi.fi.

3. B2B sALes
Kesko is also engaged in B2B sales. In the food 

trade, B2B customers are served by Kespro, 

the leading wholesaler in the Finnish hotel, 

restaurant and catering (HoReCa) business. 

In the building and home improvement trade, 

customers are served by Rautakesko B2B 

Sales, whose customers include building firms, 

agricultural entrepreneurs, the manufacturing 

industry and municipalities. The car and ma-

chinery trade also serves retail dealers across 

Finland.

KESKO’S NET SALES BY 
BUSINESS MODEL

 Retailer entrepreneurs’ retailing 51% (52%)
 Kesko’s own retailing 27% (26%)
 B2B sales 22% (22%)

sUPPLIeRs 
AND seRVICe 

PROVIDeRs

CONsUMeR- 
CUsTOMeRs

 ∙ Store concepts and  
business models

 ∙ Sourcing, logistics, IT and 
marketing services

 ∙ Store chain management
 ∙ Store sites
 ∙ Retailer resources
 ∙ Support processes

BUsINess MODeLs

1. ReTAILeR  

eNTRePReNeURs’ ReTAILING 

2.keskO’s OWN  

ReTAILING

3. B2B sALes 
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GROWTH OF RETAIL MARKET IN KESKO’S OPERATING COUNTRIES IN 2011-2013
%

  2011            2012            2013
Retail trade, percentage change on previous year, not inflation-adjusted
Source: Eurostat and, for Russia, Bofit

Finland Sweden Norway Russia Estonia Latvia Lithuania 

TReNDs IN THE RETAIL  
OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

GROWTH OF e-COMMeRCe AND 
MULTI-CHANNeL ReTAILING IN 
ALL PRODUCT LINes

   Customers can plan and shop irrespective of 

time and place

sLOW eCONOMIC GROWTH AND 
CONsUMeRs’ PRICe AWAReNess

   When the development of purchasing power 

is modest, low-priced products are favoured 

for the shopping basket

   Consumers make price comparisons actively

CONsUMeRs ARe INCReAsINGLY 
PRODUCT-AWARe AND  
DeMANDING

  Web services will increase the transparency 

of selections, prices and availability 

  Product origins and responsible operating 

practices are important selection criteria for 

consumers 

  The importance of social media in purchas-

ing decisions will increase

INCReAsING PROPORTION OF 
ReTAILeRs’ PRIVATe LABeL 
BRANDs

   Ease of shopping

   Low-priced products

THe IMPORTANCe OF  
CUsTOMeR -ORIeNTeD seRVICes 
As A COMPeTITIVe AsseT Is  
eMPHAsIseD

   Services offered at all stages of the purchas-

ing process

CUsTOMeR LOYALTY  
PROGRAMMes WILL Be INTeR-
ACTIVe AND PROVIDe MORe 
INDIVIDUAL ReWARDs 

 Targeted offers and rewards
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DIVIsIONs

FOOD TRADe HOMe AND sPeCIALITY 
GOODs TRADe

Kesko Food is a key operator in the Finnish grocery trade. K-food retailers, 

with whom Kesko Food applies the efficient chain business model, are 

responsible for customer satisfaction at more than 900 K-food stores.

Finland, Russia 

Total number of stores: 920

The home and speciality goods chains are K-citymarket’s home and 

speciality goods, Anttila and Kodin1, Intersport and Budget Sport, Asko 

and Sotka, Musta Pörssi and Kookenkä. 

Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Russia

Total number of stores: 430 

NET SALES NET SALESRETAIL SALES RETAIL SALES

OPERATING PROfIT  
ExCL. NON-RECURRING  
ITEMS

OPERATING PROfIT  
ExCL. NON-RECURRING  
ITEMS

€ 4,387
million 

€ 1,457
million 

€ 5,578
million 

€ 1,574
million 

€ 203.3
million 

€-8.3
million 

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

	 The best fresh foods departments and widest selections 

	K-retailer entrepreneurship guarantees customer-driven and efficient  

 operations

	Favourably-priced and high-quality Pirkka products

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

	 Efficient combination of online retailing and a physical store network 

	Well-known and trusted store chains and product brands

	Active customer service in stores and electronic channels
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BUILDING AND HOMe 
IMPROVeMeNT TRADe 

CAR AND MACHINeRY TRADe

NET SALES NET SALESRETAIL SALES RETAIL SALES

OPERATING PROfIT  
ExCL. NON-RECURRING  
ITEMS

OPERATING PROfIT  
ExCL. NON-RECURRING  
ITEMS

€ 2,607
million 

€ 1,037
million 

€ 3,363
million 

€ 1,059
million 

€ 25.7
million 

€ 33.9
million 

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

	 Chain concepts and service offering based on customer needs

	Efficient sourcing, purchasing and logistics

	Internationally uniform business models and skilled customer service 

	Good location and comprehensive store network

	Wide e-services on the internet

Rautakesko develops retail and B2B sales of building, renovation and 

home improvement products and services with an emphasis on cus-

tomer orientation.

Finland, Sweden, Norway, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Russia, Belarus

Total number of stores: 420

The car and machinery trade consists of VV-Auto and Konekesko 

with their subsidiaries. VV-Auto and Konekesko represent the leading 

brands and are responsible for their sales and after-sales services.

Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania

Total number of stores: 11

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

	 International brands and strong market position

	Versatile and multi-channel services, expert staff

	Strong sales and after-sales network, efficient logistics
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FOOD TRADe
K-food retailers, with whom Kesko Food applies the efficient chain busi-
ness model, are responsible for customer satisfaction at more than 900 
K-food stores in Finland. Kesko Food’s business is rapidly expanding in 
Russia and in online retailing. Kespro – a Kesko Food subsidiary – is the 
leading wholesaler in the Finnish HoReCa sector.

Every day, 900,000 customers visit 
K-food stores with high expectations 
for comprehensive product selections, 
ease of shopping, favourable prices 
and responsibility. Meeting individual 
customer needs and expectations is 
a prerequisite of success for K-food 
stores.

Kesko Food’s main functions include 
centralised product purchasing, selec-
tion management, logistics, and the 
development of chain concepts and 
the store site network. Cooperation 
between Kesko Food and K-food retail-
ers is based on the chain operations 
defined in the chain agreement, which 
ensures the customer-orientation of 
operations, efficiency and the achieve-
ment of competitive advantages.

The competitiveness of K-food stores 
and Kesko Food is reinforced by effi-
cient practices and long-term coopera-
tion models with selected partners. 

Responsibility is an integral part of 
Kesko Food’s and K-food stores’ daily 
operations. In 2013, K-food stores intro-
duced a K-responsibility concept, which 
makes the responsible operations of 

K-food stores increasingly visible to 
customers.

sTRATeGIC OBjeCTIVes
In Finland, the focus in the food trade 
is ensuring the profitable growth of 
K-food stores. They increase their mar-
ket shares by delivering on customer 
promises and strengthening competi-
tive advantages. K-food stores’ compet-
itive advantages include superior fresh 
foods departments, the best selections 
and a good price image. The quality 
image of Pirkka products continues to 
be strengthened. 

Significant capital expenditure in 
online services will make shopping 
easier for customers. The food online 
store launched in the autumn will first 
be expanded in the Greater Helsinki 
area and then in other major cities. The 
aim is to build an online store network 
covering all of Finland in cooperation 
with K-food retailers.

In the food trade in Russia, the aim is 
rapid and profitable expansion, which 
involves significant capital expenditures.

eVeNTs IN 2013

		Significant enhancement measures improved profitability 

		The refurbishment of fresh foods departments in K-food stores

	The ruoka.citymarket.fi online food store was launched

		Three new K-ruoka stores were opened in St. Petersburg

		The K-responsibility concept ‘Let’s do Good. Together.’ was introduced in K-food stores

		Kesko Food’s Consumer Service introduced the principle ‘We will always answer you’

		The Osta&Nosta cashback service was expanded in K-food stores

		Pirkka social media services received a Some Awards prize
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FResH FOODs  
DePARTMeNTs As  
A COMPeTITIVe  
ADVANTAGe

K-food stores offer their customers 

the best fruit and vegetable depart-

ment in the area, a bakery department 

and service counters with fresh meat, 

fish and meals. The refurbishment of 

fresh foods departments continued in 

2013 and their selections, service and 

displays were enhanced in all K-food 

store chains.

K-citymarkets will have a refur-

bished service counter, providing 

the best service and cooking tips. 

K-supermarkets will offer the best se-

lections of fruit and vegetables in the 

market, while K-markets will provide 

the most wide-ranging selection of 

bread and bake-off products in the 

neighbourhood market. The aim is 

that all K-markets across Finland al-

ways offer bread fresh from the oven.

k-ReTAILeR seRVes BesT
Local K-retailers are responsible for 
customer service, wide product selec-
tions, competence of personnel, product 
quality and profitability of business in 
their own stores. Listening to the wishes 
of local customers and making use of 
customer data, the K-retailers build a 
selection of products and services that 
meet customers’ needs. K-food retailers 
complement the chain’s common prod-
uct selection, for example, with local 
food from local producers.

K-food retailers offer their customers 
competitive prices, visible to customers 
in the form of low-priced Pirkka prod-
ucts, chain campaigns, store-specific 
special offers and the benefits provided 
by the K-Plussa customer loyalty pro-
gramme. On the other hand, K-food re-
tailers can complement their selections 
flexibly and quickly with store-specific 
products that they are free to choose. 

More than 900 K-food stores provide 
a comprehensive network for their 
customers. Approximately half of the 
Finnish population live within a kilo-
metre of a K-food store.  

K-food stores operate in four chains:
•	 K-citymarkets offer their customers 

the widest selections of groceries and 
home and speciality goods, a low-

price shopping basket and the best 
special offers. Their special strengths 
include a diversified service counter 
for meat, fish and meals, operating 
under the ‘Kitchen’ concept. K-city-
markets combine food expertise with 
exciting stores and displays.

•	 K-supermarkets are better than 
average food stores. Their strengths 
include excellent service and wide se-
lections of food items. Abundant fruit 
and vegetable departments always 
provide customers with the freshest 
produce of the season for everyday 
needs and more festive occasions. 
Store selections are always comple-
mented with local products.

•	 K-markets are reliable, service-orient-
ed, local neighbourhood stores located 
near customers. In addition to good 
basic selections, K-markets offer cus-
tomers fresh bread straight from the 
store oven and the best local services.

•	 K-extras are neighbourhood stores 
which focus on personal service 
and provide customers with daily 
essentials.

HIGH-qUALITY AND  
LOW-PRICeD PIRkkA
The Pirkka range of more than 2,000 
products plays an important role in the 
K-food stores’ total selection. Pirkka 
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RUOkA.CITYMARkeT.FI  
ONLINe FOOD  
sTORe

In November 2013, Kesko Food 

launched the ruoka.citymarket.

fi online food store, which delivers 

products to consumers and business 

customers in the cities of Helsinki 

and Vantaa. The delivery area will be 

expanded gradually. The products 

are familiar from K-food stores’ 

favourably-priced selections and also 

include many Pirkka items. In addition 

to thousands of food products, the 

selections also include non-food 

items. There are also large packages 

available to meet the needs of families 

and companies. In many cases, deliv-

eries are made on the same day the 

order is placed and some of them with 

biogas-fuelled vehicles.

products combine high quality and low 
prices. The success of the Pirkka brand 
in several consumer surveys is the 
result of long-term work.

All Kesko Food’s recipes have been 
developed and tested by the Pirkka test 
kitchen, which is part of the Pirkka Prod-
uct Research Unit. These diverse recipes 
are published in the Pirkka magazine, on 
the Pirkka.fi web site and Pirkka mobile 
services, on the K-RuokaPirkka leaflet 
available at K-food stores, on the TV 
programme “What are we having today?”, 
on Pirkka social media channels, and on 
Pirkka product packaging.

kesPRO OFFeRs THe BesT sOURCING 
sOLUTIONs
Kesko Food’s subsidiary Kespro is the 
leading wholesaler in the Finnish 
hotel, restaurant and catering (HoReCa) 
business and acts as a partner for its 
customer companies and municipal-
ities in Finland. Kespro provides its 
customers with the best sourcing solu-
tions as well as delivery and cash&carry 
services in the HoReCa sector. The wide, 
customer-driven product selection 
comprises food items, alcohol, cook-
ware, tableware and cutlery. Kespro’s 
own Menu range is varied, high-quality 
and favourably priced. Kespro’s market 
share increased in 2013.

exPANsION IN RUssIA
Kesko Food opened the first grocery 
store of the K-ruoka chain in St. Pe-
tersburg in 2012 and three new stores 
in 2013. The new stores have been 
excellently received by local customers. 
K-ruoka stores’ competitive advantages 
include extensive, fresh, high-quality 
selections. The objective for the next 
few years is to expand business opera-
tions to Moscow. The aim is to achieve 
net sales of €500 million and a positive 
business result in Russia by 2017.

PIRkkA PRODUCTs 
IN 2013

		Number of products at the end of 2013: 2,252

		Number of Pirkka Organic products: 95

		Number of new Pirkka products launched: 173

		Pirkka further expanded its selections of 

products baked in stores. Several new Pirkka 

household items were also launched. 
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   The Finnish grocery trade market was worth 

about €16.6 billion (incl. VAT) in 2013, repre-

senting an estimated growth of about 2.5% 

(VAT 0%, Kesko’s own estimate).

MARkeT sHARes

FOOD TRADe 
   Market share in Finland 33.7% 

(Kesko’s own estimate)

   Competitors: Prisma, S-market and Alepa/

Sale (S Group), Valintatalo, Siwa and Euro-

market (Suomen Lähikauppa Oy), Lidl and 

M chain stores

HOReCA
   Kespro, Finland

   Competitors: Meiranova Oy, Metro-tukku, 

Heinon Tukku Oy
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Retail sales and number of stores   Number Sales (VAT 0%), € million 

2013 2012 2013 2012

K-citymarket, food 80 80 1,540 1,526
K-supermarket 218 210 1,723 1,708
K-market (incl. service station stores) 442 452 1,269 1,298
K-ruoka, Russia 4 1 70 3
Others* 176 194 182 201
K-food stores, retail sales 4,783 4,736
Kespro 795 779
Food trade, total  920 937 5,578 5,515

* Incl. online sales

Food trade, key figures 
2013 2012

Net sales € million 4,387 4,311
Operating profit € million 208.0 170.2
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items € million 203.3 167.5
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items as % of net sales % 4.6 3.9
Capital expenditure € million 92 200
Capital employed € million 821 763
Return on capital employed excl. non-recurring items % 24.8 21.9
Personnel average 3,143 2,799

Food trade, net sales in 2013
 € million Change, %

K-citymarket, food 1,087 -1.2
K-supermarket 1,254 2.2
K-market and K-extra 988 -1.2
Kespro 803 2.0
K-ruoka, Russia 71 -
Others 184 -5.1
Net sales, total 4,387 1.8

Properties
2013 2012

Owned properties, capital € million 658 633
Owned properties, area 1,000 m² 426 392
Leased properties, lease liabilities € million 1,184 1,107
Leased properties, area 1,000 m² 1,001 1,017

FOOD TRADe KEY FIGURES 

	In the food trade, the net sales were €4,387 million, up 1.8%. 

	The operating profit excluding non-recurring items was €203.3 million (€167.5 million).

	Profitability was improved by significant savings achieved from enhanced operations and by the adjustment of capital expenditure.

	The sales and profitability of K-ruoka stores in Russia were better than expected. 

	Kespro’s sales and profit improved.
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HOMe AND sPeCIALITY 
GOODs TRADe
Kesko’s home and speciality goods chains are K-citymarket’s home 
and speciality goods, Anttila and Kodin1, Intersport and Budget Sport, 
Asko and Sotka, Musta Pörssi and Kookenkä. In addition to around 420 
stores, all chains also provide wide-ranging services online. 

Kesko’s home and speciality goods 
chains provide customers with a wide 
and price-competitive selection of well-
known domestic and foreign brands. 

Wide-ranging online services help 
customers plan their purchases in 
advance and shop for both products and 
services. Kesko’s home and speciality 
goods chains are present in customers’ 
daily lives, in the channel they have 
chosen.  

sTRATeGIC OBjeCTIVes 
There is a strong change underway in 
the home and speciality goods trade. 
The web and electronic information are 
changing customers’ shopping behav-
iour. Sales are growing, particularly on 
the web, where business is global. New 
foreign store chains are also entering 
the Finnish market by opening physical 
stores.

Kesko’s home and speciality goods 
chains are vigorously developing online 
stores and their selections. Intersport, 
Asko and Sotka will open their online 
stores over the course of 2014. 

The growth of e-commerce and the 
tightening competition have greatly 
reduced the profitability of Anttila and 
the home technology trade. Approxi-
mately one third of the current network 
of Anttila department stores is planned 
to be closed. At the same time, the 
selections of NetAnttila will be consid-
erably expanded and the Anttila and 
Kodin1 department store concepts will 
be renewed. Home and speciality goods 
departments of K-citymarket will be 
refurbished. 

Marketing aims to provide increas-
ingly real-time and individual service 
to customers in channels important to 
them, both traditional and electronic. 

Choosing where to shop is made 
easier for customers by providing each 
store’s product, price and availability 
information online.

Intersport Russia’s business oper-
ations, concept and network will be 
developed to achieve healthy sales and 
profitability.

eVeNTs IN 2013

		Anttila’s new, automated logistics centre served both online and physical stores efficiently

	NetAnttila.com and Kodin1.com websites were renewed  

		With mobile devices more and more common, the number of mobile sites and services was 

increased

		Musta Pörssi’s business model was changed and the focus shifted to online trade

		Anttila opened a store in the Citycenter shopping centre in downtown Helsinki

		The Kodin1 department store for interior decoration and home goods was opened in Raisio in an 

energy-efficient passive retail store 

		The Intersport store network in Russia underwent reorganisations
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provides availability data for Kodin1 
department stores. Mobile versions of 
online stores make shopping easier for 
customers on move. Anttila also has 
online stores in Estonia and Latvia.

INTeRsPORT Is THe  
BIGGesT sPORTs TRADe  
OPeRATOR IN FINLAND
Intersport Finland’s retail store chains in 
Finland are Intersport, Budget Sport and 
Kesport. Intersport is part of an interna-
tional sports trade chain in which Kesko 
is a partner. The Intersport chain is the 
market leader in Finnish sports retailing. 
The chain’s stores and the online store 
to be opened in 2014 provide customers 
with the clothing, equipment and advice 
needed for active sports, keeping fit 
and leisure purposes. Intersport Club is 
Intersport’s customer programme. Elec-
tronic programmes for various sports, 
launched by Intersport, have gained 
great popularity among customers.

Intersport Russia’s store site network 
was adjusted in 2013. The 21 Inter-
sport stores currently operating in the 
country are located in shopping centres 
mainly in and around St. Petersburg 
and Moscow. There are only few sports 
stores in Russia like Intersport, selling 
several product brands.

Budget Sport stores offer branded 
products for physical activities, outdoor 
sports and leisure easily and at favour-
able prices. Customers are also served 
by the diversified budgetsport.fi online 
store.

Kesport stores, located in smaller 
rural centres, are the leading sports 
stores in their areas and provide their 
customers with expert service and help.

AskO AND sOTkA OPeRATe IN 
FINLAND AND esTONIA
Asko and Sotka are Kesko-owned In-
door’s retail store chains selling furni-
ture and interior decoration items. Asko 
provides home decorators with a wide 
range of high-quality furniture and in-
terior decoration items combined with 
active and reliable service. Sotka’s main 
target group consists of customers who 
value low prices and easy shopping.

On the chains’ websites there are 
several interior decoration and design 
applications, varying design ideas and 
tips, and YouTube videos. Asko and Sot-
ka also have an online store in Estonia, 
and the ones in Finland will be opened 
over the course of 2014.

k-CITYMARkeT IN DAILY LIFe
K-citymarket is a diversified and favour-
ably-priced hypermarket chain, which 
provides wide selections of groceries 
and home and speciality goods. K-city-
market Oy is responsible for the home 
and speciality goods business in the 
stores, while K-retailer entrepreneurs 
are responsible for the food business.

The citymarket.fi online store gives 
customers access to a wide range of 
products and allows them to place 
orders whenever they want, reliably 
and easily. There are several modes of 
delivery, including collection from any 
of the K-citymarkets. 

ANTTILA PROVIDes eNTeRTAINMeNT, 
FAsHION AND HOMe GOODs
Anttila retails entertainment, fashion 
and home goods. Anttila’s extensive 
store network and online stores seam-
lessly complement each other. 

Anttila department stores offer wide 
selections of home goods, casual cloth-
ing and entertainment at low prices. 
Kodin1 provides smart, up-to-date prod-
ucts and services for home decoration. 
NetAnttila.com is one of the oldest and 
best known online stores in Finland. In 
addition to interior decoration ideas and 
products, the Kodin1.com online store 
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INTeRsPORT RUNNING PROGRAMMe  
ATTRACTeD MORe THAN 50,000  
eNTHUsIAsTs 

Intersport started an eight-week running programme on the store chain’s web 

pages at the beginning of March. Most participants were Intersport Club mem-

bers who also invited their friends – more than 10,000 running enthusiasts – to 

join in.

Once a week during the programme, the participants received an email 

directing them to Intersport’s campaign pages. Varied content was produced for 

the website, including videos providing tips on training, running technique and 

equipment. Various aspects of health and wellbeing in general – an important 

part of running – were also highlighted on the site, including pirkka.fi tips on 

a runner’s diet. Themes taken up in newsletters also included the impact of 

music on running and practical hints on how to prepare for running events. The 

programme also offered wide-ranging benefits, information on new products 

for spring, fun competitions and votes. 

Feedback on the running programme was positive and corresponding new 

programmes on various sports are being planned.

MUsTA PöRssI FOCUses  
ON ONLINe TRADe 
The Musta Pörssi chain offers its cus-
tomers home technology products and 
related services. Customers can choose 
to have any home technology installed 
ready to use, if they so wish. Both the on-
line store and the physical stores located 
in shopping centres focus on providing a 
good customer experience and constant-
ly changing product selections. 

The focus in the home technology 
trade is increasingly on e-commerce. It 
is easy to compare products online and 
customers are price-conscious.

In 2013, a new KotiKauppa service 
was tested, in which the customer can 
ask a sales assistant for a house call.

There are currently 11 Musta Pörssi 
Partneri stores in smaller towns. 

 
kOOkeNkä Is FINLAND’s BIGGesT 
sHOe sTORe CHAIN 
Kenkäkesko’s retail store chain, Kooken-
kä, offers a high-quality selection of 
shoes and service for customers who 
value trends, fashion and brands. Koo 
Club is Kookenkä’s own customer 
programme. In addition to chain stores, 
customers can purchase footwear from 
the Kookenka.fi online store.
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Home and speciality goods market in finland 
and development from the previous year 
(retail trade, VAT 0%)
   The total Finnish market for home and speci-

ality goods is approximately €9.4 billion

   The sports trade is about €0.8 billion (0%)

   The interior decoration items and furniture 

trade is approximately €1.5 billion (-7%)

   The market for home electronics and enter-

tainment products is about €1.8 billion (+3%)

   The shoe trade is around €0.4 billion (-7%)

MARkeT sHARes

HYPeRMARkeT AND DePARTMeNT  
sTORe TRADe
   K-citymarket’s home and speciality goods, 

Anttila, Kodin1 and NetAnttila

   The market share cannot be reliably calculated

   Competitors: department stores, hypermar-

kets, speciality store chains and online stores 

sPORTs TRADe
   Intersport, Budget Sport and Kesport 

   Finland 35%* 

   Competitors: Sportia, Top Sport, Stadium, 

department stores and hypermarkets, and 

other speciality sports stores 

FURNITURe TRADe
   Asko and Sotka

   Finland 23%* 

   Competitors: furniture and interior decora-

tion stores

HOMe TeCHNOLOGY TRADe
   Musta Pörssi and Musta Pörssi Partneri 

   Finland 2%* 

   Competitors: stores specialising in home 

technology, hypermarkets and online stores.

sHOe TRADe
   Kookenkä and Kenkäexpertti

   Finland 10%* 

   Competitors: other speciality stores, depart-

ment stores, hypermarkets, sports stores 

and online stores

* Kesko’s own estimate
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	In the home and speciality goods trade, the net sales were €1,457 million, down 9.1%.

	The operating profit excluding non-recurring items was €-8.3 million (€19.6 million).

	K-citymarket home and speciality goods and Intersport Finland as well as Asko and Sotka had profits at a good level.

	Weakened demand and the e-commerce revolution affected especially Anttila, where sales decreased and financial result was negative.

	Net sales performance was also impacted by the ending of Musta Pörssi’s retailer business and the closing of unprofitable stores of Intersport Russia.

HOMe AND sPeCIALITY GOODs TRADe KEY FIGURES

Retail sales and number of stores Number Sales (VAT 0%), € million

2013 2012 2013 2012

K-citymarket, home and speciality goods* 81 81 613 653
Anttila department stores* 31 32 264 327
Kodin1 department stores for interior decoration and home goods* 13 13 116 133
Intersport 63 62 212 216
Budget Sport* 11 10 41 38
Kesport 30 32 19 22
Asko 36 34 93 94
Sotka 49 49 103 104
Musta Pörssi* ** 17 32 41 72
Shoe stores* ** 65 69 42 45
Home and speciality goods stores, Finland 396 414 1,544 1,704
Anttila, Baltic countries (NetAnttila)* 3 3 6 8
Asko and Sotka, Baltic countries* 10 10 8 9
Intersport, Russia 21 28 16 28
Home and speciality goods stores, other countries 34 41 31 45
Home and speciality goods stores, total 430 456 1,574 1,749

* Incl. online stores
** Incl. 19 Kenkäexpertti stores and 11 Musta Pörssi Partneri stores

Home and speciality goods trade, key figures 

2013 2012

Net sales € million 1,457 1,603
Operating profit € million -2.1 0.0
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items € million -8.3 19.6
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items as % of net sales % -0.6 1.2
Capital expenditure € million 23 61
Capital employed € million 445 514
Return on capital employed excl. non-recurring items % -1.9 3.8
Personnel average 5,751 6,139

Home and speciality goods trade, net sales in 2013

€ million Change, %

K-citymarket, home and speciality goods 628 5.4
Anttila 391 -16.5
Intersport, Finland 190 +5.0
Intersport, Russia 18 -36.2
Indoor 182 -1.2
Musta Pörssi 29 -48.8
Kenkäkesko 21 -8.7
Total 1,457 -9.1

Properties

2013 2012

Owned properties, capital € million 196 202
Owned properties, area 1,000 m² 146 141
Leased properties, lease liabilities € million 779 806
Leased properties, area 1,000 m² 786 810
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BUILDING AND HOMe 
IMPROVeMeNT TRADe
Rautakesko’s 420 stores are reliable partners in building, home  
improvement and interior decoration for both consumers and B2B  
customers. Rautakesko operates in eight countries and manages six 
retail store chains: K-rauta, Rautia, K-maatalous, Byggmakker, Senukai 
and OMA. Rautakesko is the fifth largest company in the European 
building and home improvement market. 

Meeting the various demands of cus-
tomer groups, extensive assortments 
and wide-ranging installation and 
design services in stores and on the 
internet provide the basis for imple-
menting building and interior decora-
tion projects in cooperation with the 
customer. Rautakesko’s stores have 
around 100,000 customer visits per day, 
while the websites are visited by more 
than 40,000.

Rautakesko’s key function is to 
support the stores’ operations and 
customer service by offering common 
assortments and services, sourcing and 
logistics, and the development of the 
chain concepts and the store network. 
There are 420 building and home 
improvement stores in eight countries: 

Finland, Sweden, Norway, Estonia, 
Latvia, Lithuania, Russia and Belarus. 
The figure also includes 83 K-maatalous 
agricultural stores in Finland. K-retail-
ers who operate in the chain business 
model are responsible for the business 
of Finnish retail stores. The retailer 
business model will also be implement-
ed in Sweden and Norway.

keY sTRATeGIC OBjeCTIVes
In 2013, the focus was on improving the 
efficiency of operations and profitability 
in all operating countries. The particu-
lar emphasis was on advancing store 
processes and uniform core operations. 
Enhancement of e-services continued 
during the year. The focus was also on 
implementing the common assortment, 

eVeNTs IN 2013

		Implementation of Rautakesko’s common core operations and assortments started and profit 

improved clearly

		Revised Byggmakker retailer agreements in Norway

		K-rauta Skanssi, the largest K-rauta store in Finland, was opened in Turku in March

		A new K-rauta was opened in Moscow region, Russia in April 

			The efficiency of responsible sourcing was improved by adopting shared operating models and a 

new web-based training programme

		The Kimara Aurinkorinne of K-rauta and Rautia won the ‘Best House’ and ‘Best Interior Decoration’ 

categories and was the second in the ‘Best Yard’ category in the visitors’ vote at the Hyvinkää 

Housing Fair in Finland

		K-maatalous Experimental Farm in Hauho celebrated its 50th anniversary in promoting Finnish ex-

perimental farming and cultivation, and the stores in the K-maatalous chain were fully transferred 

under the responsibility of retailer entrepreneurs
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six in the Moscow area. K-rauta is the 
second largest operator in the building 
and home improvement market in St. 
Petersburg. The newest K-rauta in the 
Moscow area was opened in Mytishi in 
April. Rautakesko’s aim is to create a 
network of ten K-rauta stores in St. Pe-
tersburg and a network of 15-20 stores 
in the Moscow area. The net sales target 
in Russia is €800 million by 2017.

Byggmakker is a key building and 
home improvement trade operator 
in Norway. Its store network extends 
throughout the country and B2B cus-
tomer expertise is extremely strong. 
Byggmakker retailers’ retailer agree-
ments were revised on 1 January 2014 
and the aim is to transfer all stores in 
the chain to independent retailers over 
the course of 2014.

The Senukai chain is the market 
leader in Lithuania. The chain’s stores 
offer customers almost every product 
related to building and living. OMA is 

DeVeLOPMeNT  
OF e-seRVICes 
CONTINUes

Services, planning tools, 

instructional videos and mobile 

applications related to building, 

energy efficiency, home im-

provement, renovation and inte-

rior decoration were published 

on the websites of K-rauta, Rautia 

and Byggmakker and on social 

media channels. The Rautia chain 

launched targeted communities, 

based on customers’ interest 

– Sisäpiiri and Tyylikerho –  to 

increase customer interaction on 

electronic channels.  

During the year, real-time cus-

tomer service was tested on so-

cial media channels. Two K-rauta 

stores successfully piloted the 

‘click and collect’ e-commerce 

service, in which products are 

ordered on the internet and 

collected from the store.  

K-maatalous continued to 

make use of multi-channel 

customer communications 

by providing plant protection 

advice on Facebook, Twitter and 

YouTube.

PRIVATe LABeL BRANDs 
CeLLO AND PROF

		Rautakesko’s private label brands, Cello and 

PROF, have won several product tests. In 

the most recent one in 2013, PROF masking 

tape shared first place in a tape comparison 

carried out by the TM Rakennusmaailma 

magazine.

supporting in-store customer service 
and developing the management model 
and reporting system that support retail 
store operations. 

A strategic area for the future will be 
the development of customer-oriented 
total solutions both in the consumer 
and B2B trade. It is very important to 
continue expanding e-services along-
side operations, so that customers are 
offered service that meets their individ-
ual needs and expectations at all stages. 

eFFICIeNT CONCePTs  
AND LOCAL exPeRTIse
The competitive advantage of Rauta- 
kesko’s stores consists of locally op-
erating retailers and country-specific 
chains, and the efficient, centralised ac-
tivities supporting them. Rautakesko’s 
international business model increases 
efficiency by combining the purchas-
ing volumes, category management, 
logistics, information system manage-
ment and network development of the 
chains operating in different countries. 
Operations outside Finland accounted 
for 55.0% (56.5%) of net sales in the 
building and home improvement trade.

K-rauta is Rautakesko’s international 
concept, which combines total services 
and assortments for consumers and 
B2B customers. There are 42 K-rauta 
stores in Finland, 20 in Sweden, and 
eight in both Estonia and Latvia. There 
are 13 K-rauta stores in Russia, seven of 
which are in the St. Petersburg area and 
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the largest building and home improve-
ment store chain in Belarus.

The Rautia chain has the widest 
building and home improvement store 
network in Finland. It serves builders, 
renovators and building professionals, 
in particular. In many localities, Rautia 
and K-maatalous agricultural stores 
operate as combined stores.

The K-maatalous chain operates in Fin-
land. The stores are run by K-maatalous 
retailers who know the local conditions 
and agricultural entrepreneurs. 

THe MOsT ReLIABLe  
BUILDING PARTNeR
Building and home improvement store 
customers are offered an individual 
shopping experience, which plays a 
major role in consumers’ purchasing 
decisions in particular. There are also 
targeted services available for home 
builders and decorators, such as a sales 
assistant appointed for the project, and 
solutions and tips for project manage-
ment. 

In 2013, about two thirds of the total 
net sales came from consumer busi-
ness and one third from sales to B2B 
customers, but the proportion varies 

considerably from country to country. 
In addition to strong consumer sales, 
the special needs of B2B customers are 
taken closely into account when plan-
ning assortments and services. 

The ‘Pro Center’ concept developed 
as part of the international K-rauta 
concept was created for the specific 
purpose of responding to these iden-
tified special needs, so that the B2B 
customer can better focus on its core 
business. Together with the K-rauta and 
Rautia chains, Rautakesko B2B Sales is 
the market leader in the B2B trade in 
Finland.  

e-seRVICes As A sTRATeGIC FOCUs
Rautakesko tested and launched several 
electronic services in 2013. The aim is to 

offer customers a fluent and inspiring 
multi-channel shopping experience. 
The customer receives the products 
and services needed for the project 
readily delivered to the selected place; 
for instance, ordered on the web and 
delivered to the store or home.

The improvement of store communi-
cations and concepts continued in all 
the chains and operating countries in 
2013. Customer service offered by stores 
was strengthened by providing exten-
sive, store-specific product, price and 
availability information on the web and 
piloting store-specific ‘click and collect’ 
online service solutions in Finland. The 
aim is to provide e-commerce services 
across the entire operating area.

k-rauta’s Pro Center concept has been de-

veloped to serve B2B customers’ special needs, 

allowing customers to focus on their core 

business. Together with the K-rauta and Rautia 

chains, Rautakesko B2B Sales is the market 

leader in the B2B trade in Finland. 
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MARkeT sHARes

BUILDING AND HOMe  
IMPROVeMeNT TRADe
		Finland 39% (Finnish Hardware Association 

DIY, Kesko’s own estimate). Main competitors: 

Starkki, Kodin Terra, S-rauta, Agrimarket, Bau-

haus.

		Sweden 6%*. Main competitors: Bauhaus, Bygg-

max, Beijer Bygg and Hornbach

		Norway 18%*. Main competitors: Monter/Opti-

mera, Maxbo, Coop and XL Bygg

		Estonia 22%*. Main competitors: Ehitus ABC, 

Bauhof, Espak and Bauhaus

		Latvia 14%*. Main competitors: Depo DIY and 

Kursi

		Lithuania 30%*. Main competitors: Bauhof, 

Emeritazas

		Northwestern and central Russia 5% (St. Peters-

burg and Moscow)*. Main competitors: Leroy 

Merlin, OBI, Castorama, Maxidom, Metrika

		Belarus 10%*. Main competitors: Novoselkin, 

Materik

AGRICULTURAL TRADe 
		Finland 26%*. Main competitors: Agrimarket 

and Yrittäjien Maatalous (YRMA)

MARkeT

The building and home improvement market 
by operating country and development from 
the previous year (retail trade, VAT 0%)
The total retail market in Rautakesko’s operat-

ing area is around €25 billion*

		Finland €3.2 billion (-4.7%), (Finnish Hard-

ware Association DIY)

		Sweden €3.7 billion (+0.8%)*

		Norway €4.0 billion (+0.3%)*

		Estonia €0.3 billion (+9%)*

		Latvia €0.3 billion (+5.5%)*

		Lithuania €0.5 billion (+10%)*

		Russia €13.4 billion (+3%)*

		Belarus €0.7 billion (+15%)*

The agricultural market in finland
The agricultural market is about €2 billion 

(+0%)* 

* Kesko’s own estimate



keskO 2013    31

divisions

		In the building and home improvement trade, the net sales were €2,607 million, down 7.8%. 

	Excluding the impact of retailer changes in Norway, net sales performance in terms of local currencies was -0.5%.

	The operating profit excluding non-recurring items was €25.7 million (€13.3 million).

	Due to enhancement measures, profit performance was clearly positive. 

.

BUILDING AND HOMe IMPROVeMeNT TRADe KEY FIGURES

Retail sales and number of stores  Number Sales (VAT 0%), € million 

2013 2012 2013 2012

K-rauta* 42 42 565 587
Rautia* 99 99 460 487
Rautakesko B2B sales 187 209
K-maatalous* 83 83 460 463
K-customer contract stores 28 30 46 47
Finland, total 252 254 1,718 1,792
K-rauta, Sweden 20 21 207 215
Byggmakker, Norway 91 106 720 988
Other Nordic countries, total 111 127 927 1,203
K-rauta, Estonia 8 8 69 64
K-rauta, Latvia 8 8 52 51
Senukai, Lithuania 18 17 266 268
Baltic countries, total 34 33 386 383
K-rauta, Russia 13 14 272 284
OMA, Belarus 10 9 106 86
Building and home improvement trade, outside Finland, total 168 183 1,692 1,956
Building and home improvement trade, total 420 437 3,363 3,748
* In 2013, 47 Rautia stores also operated as K-maatalous stores. In 2012, one K-rauta store and 48 Rautia stores also operated as K-maatalous stores   
  

Building and home improvement trade, key figures 

2013 2012

Net sales € million 2,607 2,827
Operating profit € million 24.8 11.6
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items € million 25.7 13.3
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items as % of net sales % 1.0 0.5
Capital expenditure € million 38 63
Capital employed € million 732 760
Return on capital employed excl. non-recurring items % 3.5 1.7
Personnel average 8,910 9,105

Building and home improvement trade, net sales in 2013

€ million Change, %

Building and home improvement trade, Finland 1,173 -4.6
K-rauta, Sweden 205 -4.0
Byggmakker, Norway 470 -26.0
K-Rauta, Estonia 69 +8.1
K-rauta, Latvia 52 +1.1
Senukai, Lithuania 263 -1.1
K-rauta, Russia 272 -4.2
OMA, Belarus 106 +22.7
Total 2,607 -7.8

Properties

2013 2012

Owned properties, capital € million 427 427
Owned properties, area 1,000 m² 432 405
Leased properties, lease liabilities € million 373 354
Leased properties, area 1,000 m² 685 725
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CAR AND  
MACHINeRY TRADe
The car and machinery trade consists of VV-Auto and Konekesko with 
their subsidiaries. VV-Auto is a company specialised in importing, 
retailing and providing after-sales service for cars manufactured by 
Volkswagen Group. Konekesko offers machinery products and servic-
es valued by customers in Finland and the Baltic countries. 

VV-Auto imports and markets Volkswa-
gen, Audi and SEAT passenger cars, and 
Volkswagen commercial vehicles in 
Finland. It also imports and markets 
SEAT passenger cars in Estonia and Lat-
via. VV-Auto is also a major car retailer 
and provides after-sales service at its 
own outlets in the Greater Helsinki area 
and Turku. 

Konekesko is a machinery trade 
company, focusing on the import, sale 
and after-sales service of construction, 
materials handling, environmental 
and agricultural machinery, trucks and 
buses, and recreational machinery. 
Konekesko operates in Finland, Estonia, 
Latvia and Lithuania.

sTRATeGIC OBjeCTIVes 
The strategic objective of the car trade is 
to strengthen the market share, desira-
bility and customer loyalty of Volkswa-

gen, Audi and SEAT by offering the most 
comprehensive car sales and after-sales 
service in the sector. Electronic services 
combined with a strong dealer network 
create the prerequisites for the best 
customer experience in the car trade.

The strategic objective of the ma-
chinery trade is to be the most valued 
business partner in the sector. Cen-
tralised product line management that 
covers all operating countries provides 
the basis for wide-ranging services and 
efficient operations. The developing 
Baltic machinery market is strengthen-
ing the growth of machinery stock and 
the after-sales business. Both consumer 
and business customer services are im-
proved by enhancing electronic services 
and customer communications.

In the car and machinery trade, 
long-term areas of improvement are 
customer service and training of sales 

eVeNTs IN 2013

		 For the third time Volkswagen was rated the winner in the Service 1 purchase survey of the Finnish 

Auto Bild magazine

		 Jouni Gustafsson won the Master Technician European Championship in the competition organ-

ised by Volkwagen 

		 The new training centre was opened in Vantaa

		 	 Claas combine harvesters became market leaders in every Baltic country

		 The new principal brand in earthmoving equipment is Kobelco

		 In Lithuania, the offices moved to new premises in Vilnius and a new outlet was opened in Kuldiga, 

Latvia
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and after-sales personnel. Efficiency of 
operations will be improved by stream-
lining operating practices.

VV-AUTO 
Volkswagen passenger car owners are 
served by a network of 40 dealers and 
55 service workshops, and there are 39 
dealers and 54 service workshops for 
Volkswagen commercial vehicles. The 
corresponding figures for Audis are 21 
and 25. SEATs are sold by 21 dealers and 
maintained and repaired by 35 work-
shops in Finland. There are four dealers 
and service workshops for SEATs in the 
Baltic countries.

The Volkswagen, Audi and SEAT 
ranges expanded considerably over the 
course of 2013. New Volkswagen models 
launched included the Golf Variant, the 
Jetta hybrid, Golf GTI and GTD versions, 
the Beetle Cabriolet, the bio/natural 
gas-fuelled eco up! and the civilian 
version of the successful rally car, the 
Polo R WRC. Audi launched the new 
A3 Sportback and Sedan models, the 
A6 and A7 models were complemented 
with RS types and new launches also 
included RSQ3 and SQ5, and revised A8 

WORLD CHAMPIONsHIP  
WITH TRAINING

In summer 2013, a new training centre was completed in Vantaa, where 130 

courses and 5,000 training days will be annually organised for the service 

personnel working in various positions for Volkswagen, Audi and SEAT. 

With the help of the training programmes, every employee will gain exper-

tise in his or her specific duties. Six full-time trainers also tailor courses to 

meet dealers’ wishes and familiarise employees with new car models and 

technology. 

  Jouni Gustafsson, 31, who works as a service technician for Huittisten 

Laatuauto in Huittinen is an excellent example of the broad scope of 

the training system. After having gained in-depth expertise and skills by 

attending dozens of Volkswagen’s technology and specialised courses, 

Gustafsson became the European Champion when finishing second in the 

World Championship competition arranged for the Volkswagen partner 

organisations’ master technicians in the summer of 2013. Two years before, 

Gustafsson won the World Championship. More than 40,000 Volkswagen 

professionals took part in competition qualifications and the 2013 finals in 

Wolfsburg had nearly 300 participants from 80 countries. 
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and S8 types. New SEAT arrivals includ-
ed the new Mii and Toledo as well as 
Leon SC and ST versions.

In the Car Brand Tracking survey (TNS 
Gallup) that measures the desirability 
of car brands –  that is, brand preference 
and presence – Volkswagen has been by 
far the most sought-after car brand in 
Finland for years. Audi, for its part, has 
long led its other competitors in the cat-
egory as far as desirability is concerned. 
SEAT has also discovered the right direc-
tion with the brand’s revised models and 
improved its position in the assessment 
of desirability.

VV-Auto is constantly developing its 
electronic services and offers a modern 
car service booking tool, independent 
of terminals, to its customers. The 
booking service responds to customers’ 
expectations of visiting a service centre 
whenever they wish to do so. The service 
allows customers to choose an exact 
date and time at the preferred centre 
from all available times and dates. When 
selecting the services they require, 
customers are also given the price for 
each job booked. In 2013, the service was 
launched at four Audi Centers: Airport, 

Helsinki, Espoo and Turku. The service 
is one of the best of its kind available for 
customers in Finland.

kONekeskO 
Konekesko’s largest business area 
is agricultural machinery. The main 
brands in Finland are Massey Ferguson 
tractors and Claas combine harvesters. 
In the Baltic countries, the selection 
also includes Claas tractors and a range 
of agricultural implements, the most 
important brands being Claas, Lem-
ken, Hardi and Umega. Claas combine 
harvesters are market leaders in every 
Baltic country and Konekesko is now 
also the market leader for tractors in 
Latvia. 

Konekesko’s sale of recreational 
machinery is based on close, long-term 
cooperation with Yamaha Motor Co. 
Ltd. Konekesko has the largest dealer 
network in Finland selling Yamaha 
motorcycles, mopeds, ATVs, snowmo-
biles, outboards, generators, PWCs and 
snowblowers.

Konekesko’s own boat brands are 
Yamarin, Yamarin Cross, Suvi and Palta. 
During the year, five new Yamarin and 

Suvi models were launched to the mar-
ket. Konekesko also represents Linder, 
Zodiac and TG boats.

Yamaha launched several new motor-
cycle, snowmobile, ATV and outboard 
models during the year. Yamaha has 
been the market leader in outboards 
since 1977 and it also retained its posi-
tion as the market leader for motorcy-
cles in Finland. Yamarin increased its 
market share in registered boats.

Konekesko has a sales network of 
its own for construction, materials 
handling and environmental machin-
ery in Finland and the Baltic countries. 
The best-known product brands are 
Kobelco, Kubota, Sennebogen, Wei-
demann, Grove and Still. In the Baltic 
countries, Konekesko also represents 
Ponsse forestry machinery and Dynapac 
asphalt rollers and pavers. After cooper-
ation between CNH and Kobelco ended, 
Konekesko started as Kobelco’s first 
new importer in Europe.

In Finland, Konekesko is also respon-
sible for the sales and after-sales service 
of MAN trucks, and MAN and Neoplan 
buses.
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MARkeT

		In 2013, 103,450 passenger cars and 10,405 

vans were registered for the first time in Fin-

land. The passenger car market decreased 

by 7.0% and the van market by 9.3% from the 

previous year.

		Volkswagen was the number one brand 

in terms of registration statistics for both 

passenger cars and vans. The total number 

of registrations of cars and vans imported by 

VV-Auto was 23,157.

		The total market for Konekesko’s product 

areas was €1,300 million in Finland and €300 

million in the Baltic countries (Kesko’s own 

estimate). 

MARkeT sHARes

CAR TRADe, FINLAND  
		VV-Auto’s market share 20.6% (Volkswagen, 

Audi and SEAT passenger cars and Volkswa-

gen commercial vehicles, total)

		Volkswagen passenger cars 12.4%. 

		Audi 5.5%.  

		SEAT 1.6%. 

		Volkswagen commercial vehicles 30.8%.

MACHINeRY TRADe, FINLAND
		Outboards* 48.6% (Yamaha, Selva)

		Boats* 24.2% (Yamarin, Suvi, Linder,  

TG, Zodiac, Palta)

		Motorcycles* 15.6% (Yamaha)

		Tractors* 10.2% (Massey Ferguson)

		Trucks*, over 6 tonnes, 3.9% (MAN)

		Light transportation trailers < 750 kg,  

16.2% (Muuli)

*Registered
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	Net sales of the car and machinery trade were €1,037 million, down 6.9%.

	In the car trade, the market share of Audi, Volkswagen and Seat grew to 20.6%. 

	The operating profit excluding non-recurring items was €33.9 million (€41.9 million). 

	Due to enhancement measures, profitability remained at a good level.

CAR AND MACHINeRY TRADe KEY FIGURES

Retail sales and number of stores Number Sales (VAT 0%), € million

2013 2012 2013 2012

VV-Auto, retail outlets 10 10 381 412
VV-Auto, imports 382 396
Konekesko, Finland 1 1 177 210
Finland total 11 11 940 1,017
Konekesko, Estonia 36 31
Konekesko, Latvia 47 52
Konekesko, Lithuania 37 38
Konekesko, Baltic countries, total 119 120
Car and machinery trade, total 11 11 1,059 1,138

Car and machinery trade, key figures 

2013 2012

Net sales €  million 1,037 1,114
Operating profit €  million 33.9 41.9
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items €  million 33.9 41.9
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items as % of net sales % 3.3 3.8
Capital expenditure € million 15 27
Capital employed € million 161 188
Return on capital employed excl. non-recurring items % 21.1 22.3
Personnel average 1,252 1,254

Car and machinery trade, net sales in 2013

€ million Change, %

VV-Auto  745 -5.7
Konekesko, Finland 178 -15.7
Konekesko, Baltic countries 116 +0.2
Total 1,037 -6.9

Properties

2013 2012

Owned properties, capital € million 67 68
Owned properties, area 1,000 m² 68 67
Leased properties, lease liabilities € million 22 26
Leased properties, area 1,000 m² 35 34
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ResPONsIBLe
CHOICES
Responsibility is part of everyday work at Kesko and K-stores. The re-
sponsibility programme and our responsible working principles guide 
our work. We want to help our customers make responsible choices.

ResPONsIBLe PURCHAsING
Customers must be able to rely on the 
fact that the products offered by stores 
are well-researched, safe and sustaina-
bly produced. 

Kesko’s purchasing principles guide 
Kesko’s responsible purchasing. Various 
sustainability statements, such as the 
palm oil policy, the fish and shellfish 
statement, the timber policy, and the 
stand on the sandblasting of jeans, have 
been prepared to support purchasing.

In its operations, Kesko pays special 
attention to human rights issues and 
working conditions across its sourcing 
chain. Monitoring focuses particularly 
on countries where the risks that these 
rights will be violated are the greatest 
(such as in many Asian, Central Ameri-
can and African countries). 

International assessment systems, 
BSCI auditing and SA8000 certification 
are used for supplier audits in high-risk 
countries. The Principles and Practice 
of Socially Responsible Trading guide 
has been created to help Kesko’s buyers 
and suppliers in purchases from high-
risk countries.

sAFe, WeLL-ReseARCHeD PRODUCTs
Kesko Food’s own Pirkka Product 
Research unit analyses samples of 
foodstuffs and home and speciality 
goods and develops new private label 
products.  

The Product Research laboratory has 
an accredited ISO 17025 quality system 
and uses more than 450 determination 
methods. In addition to new prod-
ucts, the products already included in 
selections are monitored on a constant 

basis. The laboratory tested over 9,400 
product samples and made over 29,300 
analyses in 2013.

Home economics teachers in the 
Pirkka test kitchen annually develop 
and test hundreds of new food recipes. 
The Pirkka.fi recipe service contains 
about 5,000 recipes, all of which have 
their nutrition contents calculated, to 
make choices easier.

Consumers’ interest in products, 
their origins and contents has in-
creased. Customers can contact Kesko 
Food’s consumer service unit to find 
out the country of origin of any Pirkka 
product ingredient. The consumer 
service unit received more than 23,000 
consumer contacts in 2013. 

eNeRGY eFFICIeNT sOLUTIONs  
IN k-sTORes
Kesko is committed to saving 65 GWh 
of its annual energy consumption 
by the end of 2016. Particularly good 
results have been obtained with energy 
efficient construction and retail stores’ 
energy solutions.

The Kodin1 department store for inte-
rior decoration and home goods, which 
was opened in Raisio in May 2013, is the 
first passive retail store building in the 
Nordic countries. The Veturi shopping 
centre in Kouvola was awarded with 
the BREEAM Very Good environmental 
certificate in autumn 2013.

Energy saving solutions in retail 
stores include lids and doors on refrig-
eration equipment, recovery of conden-
sation heat, refrigeration equipment 
that uses carbon dioxide, and adjustable 
and directional lighting. In Keslog’s 
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OBjeCTIVes OF THe 
ResPONsIBILITY 
PROGRAMMe UP  
TO 2020
Kesko’s updated responsibility pro-

gramme was published in February 

2013. The programme contains both 

short-term objectives and objectives 

up to 2020 for Kesko’s operations and 

those of the entire K-Group.

Examples of the objectives:
•	 We will improve our annual energy 

efficiency by 65 GWh by 2016.

•	 We will reduce the relative carbon 

dioxide emissions from Keslog’s 

transportation by 10% by 2020.

•	 We will offer a wide selection of 

responsible Pirkka products: 500 

Pirkka products meeting a respon-

sibility criterion and 200 Pirkka 

organic products by 2015.

The progress and results of the 

responsibility programme will be 

described in Kesko’s Corporate Re-

sponsibility Report.

Services and products available for 
customers include energy savings 
surveys, thermal camera inspections, 
air and ground heat pumps, solar water 
heaters and solar panels, including 
installations.

Customers of building and home 
improvement stores are served by Energy 
Experts and Energy Masters. The objec-
tive is to have at least one trained Energy 
Expert or Energy Master and a service 
cooperation network in each of the stores. 

OUR ResPONsIBLe WORkING 
PRINCIPLes
Our Responsible Working Principles 
provide the guidelines for working at 
Kesko and K-stores. All employees in 
eight countries have the same guide-
lines and share the same view of our 
common values and principles.

It is particularly important to ensure 
that all employees are committed to 
working in accordance with Kesko’s val-
ues and responsible working principles. 
We also require that our business part-
ners follow corresponding responsible 
principles.

In 2013, five value discussions on 
responsible working principles were 

transportation, emissions are cut by 
economical driving, route planning 
and two-tier trailers.

WAsTe ReCOVeRY
Kesko’s objective is to direct all gen-
erated waste to recycling and energy 
recovery. Anttila’s logistics centre in 
Kerava recovers nearly all of its waste, 
around 99%. The waste recovery rate 
of the K-stores in the sphere of the 
centralised waste management agree-
ment is about 90%.

Kesko Food’s objectives include 
decreasing the food waste generated 
in K-food stores by ten percent by 
2020. The amount of food wasted will 
be reduced with the help of electronic 
forecasting and ordering systems, 
efficient logistics and employee 
training. K-retailers also donate food 
to charity.

sAVINGs WITH THe  
eNeRGY exPeRT seRVICe
The aim of the Energy Expert service 
provided by K-rauta and Rautia stores 
is to make it easy for customers to 
improve the energy efficiency of their 
homes. 
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Kesko is listed in the most significant 

sustainability indices

Kesko participates in the  

UN Global Compact initiative

organised for various divisions in 
Finland, Sweden, Norway, Estonia and 
Russia. 

ResPONsIBILITY VIsIBLe  
TO CUsTOMeRs
We aim to raise the customer visibility 
of Kesko’s and K-stores’ responsible 
operations in retail stores. In autumn 
2013, K-food stores launched a new 
K-responsibility concept, which tells 
customers about the stores’ good deeds 
in a practical manner and helps them 
make sustainable choices easily. The 
concept will be expanded to K-maa-
talous, K-rauta and Rautia stores over 
the course of 2014.

The ”Let’s Do Good. Together.” symbol 
makes the K-responsibility concept 
visible to customers. The concept 
takes into account all of the aspects of 
responsibility, such as local origins, 
healthiness of food, reliable selections, 
the environment and a good working 
community.

YOUTH GUARANTee PROMOTes 
eMPLOYMeNT
In 2013, Kesko and K-stores launched a 
programme intended to employ at least 

1,000 young people in the target group 
of the Youth Guarantee by the end of 
2014. By the beginning of 2014, a total 
of 520 young people had been employed 
by K-stores and Kesko across Finland; 
between August and December 2013, 
most of them by K-food stores. The 
programme has had a promising start, 
particularly in the Greater Helsinki 
area, northern Finland and eastern 
Finland. Kesko’s Board of Directors 
granted €100,000 for the launch of the 
programme in 2013.

By early 2014, the k-Group had already provided employment for more than 500 young people 
with the help of the Youth Guarantee. Pictured new employees Juha Pettinen (right), Nora Varve-

maa and Tuomo Miettinen.

THe BesT  
ResPONsIBILITY  
RePORT IN FINLAND

Kesko’s Corporate Responsibility 

Report for 2012 was chosen as Fin-

land’s best in the 2013 Sustainability 

Reporting Award Finland Competition. 

Kesko’s report was also ranked the 

best by the media and non-govern-

mental organisations.

According to the jury, Kesko has 

reported on its social and economic 

responsibility exceptionally well and 

produced good descriptions of its 

supply chains management, product 

responsibility, and anti-corruption 

actions and principles, for example.

This was Kesko’s 13th Corporate 

Responsibility Report. The report for 

2013 will be in electronic format and it 

will be published in April 2014.
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HUMAN ResOURCes   
TO IMPLEMENT STRATEGIES 
Kesko and its chain stores offer a wide range of career and devel-
opment opportunities in the trading sector, varying from sales and 
customer service jobs to supervisory and specialist jobs and retailer 
entrepreneurship. In all, the K-Group – Kesko and the K-retailers – 
employ around 45,000 people.

Systematic, business-driven develop-
ment of personnel and management is 
a critical factor for future success. Core 
competence development areas include 
sales and service competence, product 
line specific competitive advantage 
projects, immediate leadership and 
management, as well as e-commerce 
and services.

The Master Sales Assistant train-
ing programme is the biggest annual 
training event of the K-Group. In 2013, 
retail stores ordered study rights for 
over 12,000 students and the num-
ber of courses completed using the 
web environment was approximately 
175,000. The training culminated in 
the Master Sales Assistant competition 
at the K-Team Event in Tampere at the 
beginning of November. The train-
ing programme was also provided at 
more than 100 business colleges and 
polytechnics, which ordered study 
rights for nearly 4,400 students and 
had over 58,000 courses completed. A 
new online course entitled Responsible 
Choices also became part of the Master 
Sales Assistant training programme.

Regional and store-specific training 
courses provided by the K-instituutti 
training centre in Finland had about 
2,500 students in 2013. The vocational 
and specialist qualification training 
programmes organised by K-instituutti 
had nearly 500 participants over the 
course of the year. In addition, chains 
organised various types of training 
events for stores with the aim of 
improving competitive advantage and 

retailers provided training for their staff 
according to their own specific needs.

Since 2011, Kesko has been imple-
menting a wellbeing at work programme 
aimed at enhancing employees’ job sat-
isfaction and working capacity and low-
ering the total costs of wellbeing at work. 
The 2013 focus area of the programme 
was work safety. During the year, related 
training was organised for around 750 su-
pervisors and a new web training course 
on work safety was made available.

In order to enhance employees’ 
success and wellbeing at work, special 
attention was paid to cooperation be-
tween companies’ managers and shop 
stewards.

The measures for staff cost enhance-
ment in line with the profitability pro-
gramme launched in Kesko Group in late 
2012 were implemented as announced. 
In addition to terminations, the reduc-
tions included reduced working hours 
and retirement arrangements. 

The HR Shared Service Center that 
serves Kesko Group’s companies in 
Russia began operating in St. Petersburg 
in 2013. 

A comprehensive revision of the 
Group’s HR operations began at the 
end of 2013, aimed at strengthening 
the unit’s support for implementing 
business strategies and developing 
international, Group-level HR operat-
ing models. The process will focus on 
strengthening HR development work, 
improving employee efficiency and 
achieving savings in the total costs of 
providing wellbeing services at work. 

THRee AIMs  
OF HR MANAGEMENT: 

		To be the most attractive workplace in the 

trading sector 

		To have the most competent and motivated 

people 

		To achieve the best labour productivity

Kesko and K-stores offer various jobs in 
eight countries. International growth 
provides opportunities for job rotation 
between different countries and Kesko 
Group divisions. 

Kesko and K-stores participate in the 
Youth Guarantee initiative aimed at 
employing at least 1,000 young people 
in the target group by the end of 2014. 
Kesko is implementing the initiative in 
cooperation with the authorities, the 
K-Retailers’ Association and other or-
ganisations. Kesko’s Board of Directors 
granted €100,000 for the launch of the 
initiative. By the end of 2013, K-stores 
and Kesko had employed 520 young 
people across Finland as part of the 
initiative.

As part of cooperation between Kesko 
and educational establishments and 
Kesko’s long-standing responsibility 
work, Kesko Fair Play scholarships were 
distributed to more than 2,800 young 
people who had promoted motivation 
in school work. The total scholarship 
amount was nearly €150,000.
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ReVIseD  
PeRsONNeL sURVeY

The personnel survey, which was re-

vised in 2013 and conducted by Kesko 

Group and some of the K-stores, had 

16,269 respondents. The questions 

were rephrased, which means that 

the results are not comparable with 

those for previous years. The results 

are now compiled in four indices – 

employee engagement, performance 

management, supervisory work and 

wellbeing at work – and they are glob-

ally comparable. Based on the results, 

supervisors prepare action plans using 

an electronic tool. They also have 

access to an elearning programme 

that helps them to make best use of 

the results.

OPeRATIONs 
IN EIGHT COUNTRIES

		Kesko has about 20,000 employees on 

average

 –  In 2013, the number decreased by 426 

in Finland and increased by 168 outside 

Finland

		At the end of 2013, Kesko had 23,863 employ-

ees in the following divisions:

 –  Food trade 3,570

 –  Home and speciality goods trade 8,483

 –  Building and home improvement trade 

10,066

 –  Car and machinery trade 1,261

 –  Common operations 483

		Employee numbers by country at the end of 

2013:

 –  Finland 12,776

 –  Lithuania 3,554

 –  Russia 3,082

 –  Belarus 1,980

 –  Sweden 932

 – Estonia 568

 – Norway 488

 –  Latvia 483

eVeNTs IN 2013

		Kesko and K-stores participated in the Youth 

Guarantee initiative 

		Kesko distributed the Kesko Fair Play schol-

arship to over 2,800 young people 

			The HR Shared Service Center began operat-

ing in St. Petersburg

		The revised personnel survey was adopted

The Master sales Assistant training pro-
gramme is the biggest annual training event 
of the k-Group. The 2013 training culminated 

in the Master Sales Assistant competition at the 

K-Team Event in November. 



44    keskO 2013

kesko 2013

sTORe sITe OPeRATIONs
The store site network is a strategic competitive factor for Kesko. It  
provides opportunities for developing business operations and increasing 
sales and customer satisfaction. Kesko’s divisions are responsible for their 
own store sites throughout their life cycles. 

ReAL esTATe PROPeRTY 
MANAGeMeNT
For the management of Kesko’s real 
estate assets and liabilities, the retail 
stores and other real estate properties 
are classified as follows:

Strategic properties are or can be 
developed into large retail stores. They 
involve important business interests 
related to the continuity of manage-
ment, the flexibility of change and the 
financial value of the premises. In order 
to protect such interests, Kesko usually 
prefers to own these properties.

Standard properties are premises 
owned by Kesko Group, including 
large properties without a significant 
development need, which can be sold 
and leased back for use in the Group’s 
business operations.

Realisation properties are those for 
which Kesko has no further business 
use.

Development properties are those in 
need of further development for their 
intended use.

In 2013, Kesko reviewed the criteria 
on which store sites owned by it are 
classified as strategic and other proper-
ties. As at 31 December 2013, according 
to the new classification, 53% of store 
sites are strategic, compared to 78% in 
the old classification.

Kesko is looking into selling some of 
its store sites to a fund with a maximum 
fair value of approximately €750-950 
million to be set up with Kesko as one 
of its significant investors. Kesko Group 
would continue its operations on these 
store sites under long-term leases signed 
in connection with their sales to the 
fund. The possible fund is expected to be 
launched over the course of 2014.

CAPITAL exPeNDITURe
Kesko’s capital expenditure in real es-
tate aims to enable the creation of retail 
services valued by customers by anti- 
cipating changes in customer behaviour 
and the operating environment and by 
maintaining the technical condition of 
properties.

Kesko makes capital expenditure 
only in properties needed in its own or 
supporting business operations. As a 
result of Kesko’s internationalisation, 
capital expenditure outside Finland has 
become increasingly important.

LIFe-CYCLe eFFICIeNT  
ReAL esTATe OPeRATIONs
Kesko’s real estate operations are based 
on the life-cycle efficiency of store 
sites. This means optimising the costs 
and environmental burden across the 
entire life cycle of a store site. The aim 
is to achieve the lowest life-cycle costs 
in the retail sector while also ensuring 
that optimum conditions are main-
tained for customers, employees and 
products. Optimum conditions must be 
taken into account from planning and 
construction onwards.

The Kodin1 department store for inte-
rior decoration and home goods opened 
in Raisio in 2013 is the first passive retail 
store building in the Nordic countries. 
The building is energy efficient thanks 
to lighting solution based on customer 
movements combined with adaptable 
ventilation, heat recovery from ventila-
tion and airtight structures. These func-
tions are controlled by highly sophisti-
cated building automation. The factors 
taken into account when planning the 
passive retail store building also includ-
ed its shape and position on the site.

PROPeRTY MAINTeNANCe
Kesko has outsourced the production of 
maintenance services for the properties 
managed by it. In 2013, these services 
were provided by Caverion Suomi Oy, 
ISS Palvelut Oy and Ovenia Oy. System-
atic, proactive maintenance is managed 
through a centralised ERP system. 
Comprehensive management of prop-
erty data enables efficient maintenance 
and on-time repairs and replacements 
in order to maintain good conditions 
and energy efficiency. A Kesko Group 
company is responsible for purchasing 
electricity for the K-Group. 

keskO Is COMMITTeD  
TO sAVING eNeRGY
Kesko has been increasing its energy effi-
ciency for decades: retail stores were given 
advice on how to save energy as early as in 
the 1980s. We participate in the national 
energy efficiency agreement, in which 
we have made a commitment to increase 
the efficiency of our energy consumption 
through various actions and save 65 GWh 
by the end of 2016. This amount corre-
sponds to the annual energy consumption 
of about 3,200 one-family houses. 

We are constantly developing new 
energy efficient solutions for construction 
and real estate use and briefing retail store 
staff. To enable improvement in energy 
efficiency, we use a comprehensive moni-
toring system of energy consumption and 
remote monitoring of building automa-
tion as a part of our daily maintenance. 

Careful energy monitoring helps us keep 
our properties’ technical systems in order 
and maintain the value of the properties.
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 Strategic properties 53% (49%)
 Standard properties 43% (46%)
 Realisation properties 0% (1%)
 Development properties 4% (4%)

BREAKDOWN OF 
OWNED PROPERTIES

 Food trade 46% (45%) 
 Home and speciality goods trade 14% (14%)
  Building and home improvement  
trade 30% (30%)

 Car and machinery trade 5% (5%)
  Others 5% (6%)

OWNED PROPERTIES  
BY DIVISION, book value

Owned properties  

Book value by region, € million 2013 2012

Finland 1,004 1,015
Other Nordic countries 89 98
Baltic countries and Belarus 39 40
Russia 291 256
Total 1,423 1,409

Area by region, 1,000 m2 2013 2012

Finland 758 750
Other Nordic countries 121 121
Baltic countries and Belarus 112 123
Russia 143 111
Total 1,135 1,105

Book value by division, € million 2013 2012

Food trade 658 633
Home and speciality goods trade 196 202
Building and home improvement trade 427 427
Car and machinery trade 67 68
Others  75 79
Total 1,423 1,409

Area by division, 1,000 m2 2013 2012

Food trade 426 392
Home and speciality goods trade 146 141
Building and home improvement trade 432 405
Car and machinery trade 68 67
Others 63 100
Total 1,135 1,105

Leased properties

Area by region, 1,000 m2 2013 2012

Finland 2,317 2,330
Other Nordic countries 161 185
Baltic countries and Belarus 456 466
Russia 30 36
Total 2,963 3,017

Lease liabilities by region, € million 2013 2012

Finland 2,154 2,087
Other Nordic countries 49 71
Baltic countries and Belarus 132 106
Russia 33 38
Total 2,368 2,302

Lease liabilities, € million 2013 2012

No later than 1 year 360 358
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 1,088 1,074
Later than 5 years 920 870
Total 2,368 2,302

 Finland 71% (72%)
 Other Nordic countries 6% (7%)
 Baltic countries and Belarus 3% (3%)
 Russia 20% (18%)

OWNED PROPERTIES BY 
REGION, book value
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CUsTOMeR INFORMATION HeLPs   
IDENTIFY CUSTOMER NEEDS

Information collected with the K-Plussa customer loyalty programme 
helps us develop and tailor our operations to better meet customer 
needs. The objective is to be able to provide individual service to each 
customer at every K-store and chain.

With the help of the information 
produced by the customer loyalty pro-
gramme we develop customer dialogue 
and the multi-channel approach in the 
K-Group. K-Plus Oy’s most important 
strategic initiatives in 2013 included 
developing an environment for Kesko 
Group’s customer register and building 
a campaign management tool that ena-
bles multi-channel customer dialogue. 

The emphasis has been on using 
electronic channels, through which 
targeted benefits and offers have been 
provided for customers. In 2013, an in-
creasing number of K-Plussa customers 
received individual benefits when the 
K-Group carried out new targeted mar-
keting campaigns with the help of the 
campaign tool. In order to receive per-
sonal product offers, the customer has 
to give permission for product-specific 
data handling and e-mail marketing.  

Every month, there are hundreds of 
K-Plussa offers available for K-Plussa 
customers, which always reward them 
with a discount of at least 10% at the 
checkout. In addition, the bonus for 
purchases amounts to up to 5%. 

Customer information and analytics 
produced by K-Plus Oy are also used in 
business management, store network 
planning, concept development and 
planning selections and services. 
Business partners who participate in 
K-Plussa’s customer reward model have 
access to the best information on the 

market combined with tools for imple-
menting customer-specific services and 
communications.

CUsTOMeR LOYALTY  
PROGRAMMe IN RUssIA
In Russia, our customer loyalty pro-
gramme was launched on 5 December 
2012 in connection with the opening 
of the first K-ruoka food store. The new 
customer loyalty card has been well re-
ceived and about 400,000 Russian cus-
tomers already have it. The card entitles 
customers to discounts at K-Group 
stores in Russia, including K-rauta and 
Intersport stores in addition to K-ruoka 
stores. 

YeAR 2013 IN FIGURES

	  More than 74,000 new customer households

	  3.9 million customers, 2.3 million Finnish 

households

	  Used 1 million times a day

	  40 partners

	  3,000 places of purchase

	  Discounts of at least 10% off the normal price 

	  The Pirkka magazine celebrated its 80th 

anniversary

	  2.9 million readers, which means that Pirkka 

was the most widely read magazine in Fin-

land (KMT 2013)

	  400,000 customers in the Russian K-plus 

Loyalty Program
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COMPeTITIVe sTReNGTH   
FROM CHAIN OPERATIONS AND 
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE FROM 
K-RETAILER ENTERPRISE 
The K-Group’s principal business model in Finland is the chain business mod-
el, in which independent K-retailers run retail stores in Kesko’s store chains. 
At the end of 2013, Kesko had 1,183 K-retailer entrepreneurs as partners.

Cooperation between K-retailers and 
Kesko – chain operations – is based on 
equality, openness and willingness to 
develop joint operations. The objective 
of chain operations is to improve com-
petitiveness and customer satisfaction 
and to achieve higher, uniform quality 
and lower costs.

The obligations and rights of K-re-
tailers and Kesko have been specified in 
the chain agreement.

Competitive edge is gained by com-
bining systematic chain operations 
and the K-retailer operations based on 
entrepreneurship. Kesko is responsi-
ble for continuously developing the 
business model and the store concepts, 
for managing chain operations and for 
sourcing the products included in the 
chain selections. The K-retailer entre-
preneur is responsible for his or her 
store’s customer satisfaction, personnel 
and business profitability.

To ensure success, it is important 
that a new retailer’s professional and 
other skills are at as high a level as pos-
sible at the start of the retailer career. 
About 200 stores are affected by retailer 
changes annually in the K-Group. 
The annual need for new K-retailer 
entrepreneurs is 50-100. In 2013, 51 new 
K-retailers started their careers.

Future K-retailer entrepreneurs 
are trained in the retailer training 
programmes. The training consists 
of online studies, on-the-job training 

under a mentor retailer, and regional 
and nationwide events for exchanging 
experiences. The content and duration 
of the programme can be flexibly and 
efficiently defined for each student on 
an individual basis, taking their devel-
opment potential, work experience and 
education into account.

Many of those starting the K-retail-
er trainee programme have a steady 
amount of retailing experience, but the 
number of students transferring from 
other fields or having just finished their 
general education has grown. 

More than 100 people complete the 
programme every year. After comple-
tion, the trainees are ready to start as 
independent K-retailer entrepreneurs.

The K-Group gives its retailers strong 
background support and opportunities 
for further training and progress in 
their K-retailer careers.
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RULes AND CoRPoRATe GoVeRNANCe 
CoDe oBseRVeD BY kesko
Kesko Corporation (Kesko or company) is a 
Finnish public limited company in which 
the duties and responsibilities of the exec-
utive bodies are defined according to Finn-
ish law. Kesko Group comprises the parent 
company, Kesko, and its subsidiaries. 

Kesko’s decision-making and 
corporate governance are guided by 
Kesko’s values and responsible oper-
ating practices. Decision-making and 
corporate governance comply with the 
Finnish Limited Liability Companies 
Act, regulations concerning publicly 
quoted companies, Kesko’s Articles of 

CoRPoRATe GoVeRNANCe

Association, the charters of Kesko’s 
Board of Directors and its Commit-
tees and the rules and guidelines 
of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. The 
company complies with the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code for Listed 
Companies 2010 (available at www.
cgfinland.fi). 

KESKO GROUP’S CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

AUDITOR

INTERNAL AUDIT GROUP MANAGEMENT BOARD

GENERAL MEETING
SHAREHOLDERS

KESKO  CORPORATION

PRESIDENT AND CEO

FOOD TRADE
HOME AND SPECIALITY 

GOODS TRADE
BUILDING AND HOME 

IMPROVEMENT TRADE
CAR AND 

MACHINERY TRADE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

reports

elects issues an 
audit report elects

elects
supervises

controls
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As provided by the Comply or Explain 
principle of the Corporate Governance 
Code, the company departs from the Cor-
porate Governance Code’s recommenda-
tion concerning Board members’ terms 
of office. According to Kesko’s Articles of 
Association, the term of the company’s 
Board members is three years, whereas 
recommendation 10 of the Corporate 
Governance Code recommends that the 
Board members should be elected for 
a term of one year. A shareholder who, 
together with related entities, holds over 
10% of all votes carried by the Kesko 
shares, has informed the company’s 
Board that it considers the term of three 
years good for the company’s long-term 
development and has not seen any need 
to shorten the term of office stated in the 
Articles of Association.

GeNeRAL MeeTING
The highest decision-making power 
in Kesko is exercised by the company’s 
shareholders at the company’s General 
Meeting. The Annual General Meeting 
is held annually by the end of June on 
a date designated by the company’s 
Board. The most significant matters 
falling within the competence of the 
General Meeting include the election 
of Board members and the auditor, the 
adoption of the financial statements, 
the resolution on discharging the Board 
members and the Managing Director 
from liability, and the resolution on the 
distribution of the company’s assets, 
such as profit distribution. 

The company has share series A and 
B, which differ with respect to the votes 
they carry. Each series A share carries 
the right to ten (10) votes and each 
series B share carries the right to one 
(1) vote at the General Meeting. When 
votes are taken, the proposal for which 
more than half of the votes were given 
will normally be the resolution of the 
General Meeting, as prescribed by the 
Limited Liability Companies Act. 

Shareholders are invited to the 
General Meeting by a notice published 
on the company website. The notice of 
the meeting and other General Meeting 
documents, including the proposals 

of the company’s Board to the General 
Meeting, are made available to share-
holders no later than three weeks prior 
to the General Meeting at the company’s 
main office and on its website at www.
kesko.fi. The notice of the meeting and 
the proposals of the company’s Board to 
the General Meeting are also published 
in a stock exchange release. 

The company aims for all of Kesko’s 
Board members, the President and CEO, 
and the auditor to be present at the An-
nual General Meeting. The minutes of 
the General Meeting are made available 
to shareholders at www.kesko.fi within 
two weeks of the General Meeting. The 
resolutions of the General Meeting are 
also published in a stock exchange re-
lease immediately after the meeting.

BoARD oF DIReCToRs
According to the Articles of Association, 
the term of office of a Board member is 
three years, starting at the close of the 
General Meeting electing the member 
and expiring at the close of the third 
Annual General Meeting after the elec-
tion. Kesko’s Board of Directors consists 
of a minimum of five and a maximum 
of eight members. The Board elects the 
Chair and the Deputy Chair from among 
its members for the whole term of the 
Board. 

According to the resolutions of the 
Annual General Meetings on 16 April 
2012 and 8 April 2013, the Board con-
sists of seven (7) members, and the Gen-
eral Meeting on 16 April 2012 elected 
seven (7) members to the Board.

The Board of Directors elected by Kes-
ko’s Annual General meeting of 16 April 
2012 consists of seven members: 
•	 Esa Kiiskinen (Chair)
•	 Seppo Paatelainen (Deputy Chair)
•	 Ilpo Kokkila
•	 Tomi Korpisaari
•	 Maarit Näkyvä
•	 Toni Pokela
•	 Virpi Tuunainen.

In accordance with the Articles of 
Association, their terms will expire at 
the close of the 2015 Annual General 
Meeting. 

All of Kesko’s Board members are 
non-executive directors. In the latest 
independence evaluation carried out 
on 8 April 2013, the Board found all 
members independent of the compa-
ny’s significant shareholders, and the 
majority of the members also inde-
pendent of the company. Board mem-
bers Kiiskinen, Korpisaari and Pokela 
are not independent of the company, 
because companies controlled by them 
have chain agreements with a Kesko 
Group company.

Board  duties
Kesko’s Board of Directors ensures that 
the company’s administration, opera-
tions, accounting and financial manage-
ment controls are in place. The Board 
considers and makes decisions on all 
matters that are financially, operation-
ally or fundamentally significant to the 
Group. The Board’s duty is to promote 
the best interests of Kesko and all of its 
shareholders.

Board operations in 2013 
In 2013, the Board held 10 meetings. The 
Board members’ average attendance rate 
at Board meetings was 95.7%.

In its strategy work in 2013, the Board 
has concentrated especially on strat-
egies for the food trade, the building 
and home improvement trade and the 
department store trade, on the real estate 
owned by the Group, on the strategic 
questions related to real estate man-
agement and on developing electronic 
services. The Board has monitored and 
supervised the implementation of the 
divisions’ plans for expansion in Russia. 
The Board also approved changes in the 
composition of the Group Management 
Board and in the responsibility areas of 
the Management Board members. It also 
monitored the implementation of the 
Group’s profitability programme. As in 
previous years, the Board has reviewed 
the financial reports and monitored the 
Group’s funding situation, approved the 
most significant capital expenditures, 
monitored the progress of Group-level 
projects and approved interim reports 
and the financial statements.
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The Board meetings regularly include 
a review by the President and CEO on 
major topical issues, as well as reports 
by the Chairs of the Board’s Audit Com-
mittee and Remuneration Committee 
on preparatory committee meetings 
preceding the Board meetings. The au-
ditor presents his findings to the Board 
once a year in connection with the 
review of the financial statements.

The Board regularly assesses its 
operations and working practices and 
carries out a related self-assessment 
once a year. Most recently, the Board 
made a self-assessment in December 
2013. The self-assessment was based 
on the results of a survey, which the 
Board discussed before deciding upon 
follow-up measures. When assessing its 
operations, the Board noted that it had 
been more successful than before in 
allocating its time to addressing issues 
that are important to Kesko Group.

BoARD CoMMITTees
Kesko has a Board’s Audit Committee 
and a Remuneration Committee, both 
of which consist of three Board mem-
bers. At the close of the Annual General 
meeting, the Board elects the Chairs 
and the members of the Committees 
from among its members for one year 
at a time.

The Committees have no independ-
ent decision-making power. Instead, 
the Board makes decisions based on 
material prepared by the Committees. 

The Committees regularly assess 
their operations and working practices 
and carry out a related self-assessment 
once a year.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee members are 
Maarit Näkyvä (Ch.), Seppo Paatelainen 
(Deputy Ch.) and Virpi Tuunainen. All 
members of the Audit Committee are 
independent of the company and its 
significant shareholders. In the election 
of the Audit Committee members, the 
relevant qualification requirements 
have been taken into account.

According to its charter, the duties of 
the Audit Committee include monitor-

ing Kesko Group’s financial and funding 
situation and the process of reporting 
the financial statements and supervising 
the company’s financial reporting pro-
cess, as well as monitoring the statutory 
audit of the financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements, and 
evaluating the independence of the com-
pany’s audit firm. The Audit Committee 
also prepares the draft resolution con-
cerning the election of the company’s 
auditor to the General Meeting. 

In 2013, the Audit Committee held five 
(5) meetings, and its members’ average 
attendance rate at the meetings was 
100%. At the Committee meetings, the 
Group’s Chief Financial Officer, the Group 
Controller, the Chief Audit Executive and 
the Group General Counsel regularly re-
port on their areas of responsibility to the 
Committee. The Committee also receives 
reports on Kesko Group’s funding situ-
ation, risk management and insurance. 
The auditor is present at the Committee 
meetings and presents his audit plan and 
report to the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Committee 
reviewed reports on the Group’s finan-
cial situation, including the financial 
statements release and interim reports, 
and made a recommendation to the 
Board on handling the interim reports 
and the financial statements release. In 
addition, the Committee reviewed the 
Group’s external and internal audit, risk 
management and legal affairs reports. 
As part of risk management, the Com-
mittee reviewed the change on domi-
nant market position in the Competi-
tion Act that is related to the operation 
of Kesko Food and the expected tight-
ening of data protection regulations 
within the EU and considered measures 
to provide for the changes, among other 
things. The Committee approved the 
updated internal control principles 
and internal audit plan, budget and 
resources for 2014. The Committee also 
evaluated the auditor’s independence 
and the consultation services provided 
to the Group. The Audit Committee has 
prepared and submitted a proposal to 
Kesko’s Annual General Meeting on the 
auditor to be elected for Kesko. 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee mem-
bers are Esa Kiiskinen (Ch.), Seppo 
Paatelainen (Deputy Ch.) and Ilpo 
Kokkila. All members of the Remunera-
tion Committee are independent of the 
company’s significant shareholder and 
the majority is also independent of the 
company.

According to its charter, the duties of 
the Remuneration Committee include 
preparing matters pertaining to the 
appointment, compensation and other 
financial benefits of the company’s 
President and CEO and Group Manage-
ment Board members responsible for 
lines of business, and preparing the 
managing director’s service contract to 
the Board.

In 2013, the Remuneration Com-
mittee held four (4) meetings and its 
members’ average attendance rate 
at the meetings was 100%. Among 
other things, the Committee prepared 
proposals for the Board on the vesting 
criteria and target group for share-
based compensation, as well as on the 
principles of the management’s per-
formance bonus scheme. In addition, 
the Committee reviewed results from 
studies and surveys on the Group’s em-
ployee satisfaction, wellbeing at work, 
sickness absences and management 
resources.

Read more about Kesko’s Board  
members on pages 58–59 and at  
www.kesko.fi.

PResIDeNT AND Ceo 
Kesko has a managing director who is 
the President and CEO. Kesko’s Pres-
ident and CEO is Matti Halmesmäki, 
Master of Science in Economics, Master 
of Laws. He has been Kesko’s President 
and CEO since 1 March 2005.

The President and CEO’s duty is to 
manage the company in accordance 
with the instructions and orders issued 
by the company Board and to inform 
the Board about the developments in 
the company’s business operations 
and financial situation. He is also 
responsible for the company’s day-
to-day management and for ensuring 
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ATTeNDANCe AT MeeTINGs BY MeMBeRs oF THe BoARD AND ITs CoMMITTees IN 2013

Attendance

Board member since Committee Board Audit Committee Remuneration Committee

Esa Kiiskinen, Ch. 2009 Remuneration Committee (Ch.) 10/10 4/4
Seppo Paatelainen, Dep. Ch. 2006 Audit Committee (Dep. Ch.) 10/10 5/5

Remuneration Committee (Dep. Ch.) 4/4
Ilpo Kokkila 2006 Remuneration Committee 8/10 4/4
Tomi Korpisaari 2012 10/10
Maarit Näkyvä 2001 Audit Committee (Ch.) 9/10 5/5
Toni Pokela 2012 10/10
Virpi Tuunainen 2012 Audit Committee 10/10 5/5

BoARD MeMBeRs’ INDePeNDeNCe IN 2013

Independent of the company Independent of significant shareholder

Esa Kiiskinen, Ch. No* Yes
Seppo Paatelainen, Dep. Ch. Yes Yes
Ilpo Kokkila Yes Yes
Tomi Korpisaari No* Yes
Maarit Näkyvä Yes Yes
Toni Pokela No* Yes
Virpi Tuunainen Yes Yes

* Each of the companies controlled by Kiiskinen, Korpisaari and Pokela has a chain agreement with a company belonging to Kesko Group.

ANNUAL AND MeeTING Fees PAID To BoARD MeMBeRs FoR BoARD AND CoMMITTee WoRk IN 2013 (€)

Meeting fees

Annual fees Board Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Total

Esa Kiiskinen, Ch. 80,000 5,500  2,000 87,500
Seppo Paatelainen, Dep. Ch. 50,000 5,500 2,500 2,000 60,000
Ilpo Kokkila 37,000 5,000  2,000 44,000
Tomi Korpisaari 37,000 5,500   42,500
Maarit Näkyvä 37,000 5,500 5,000  47,500
Toni Pokela 37,000 5,500   42,500
Virpi Tuunainen 37,000 5,000 2,000  44,000
Total 315,000 37,500 9,500 6,000 368,000

The fees are reported on cash basis.

ANNUAL AND MeeTING Fees ResoLVeD BY THe ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeeTING IN 2009–2013 (€)

Fee/year

Annual fee 2009–2013

Board Chair 80,000
Board Deputy Chair 50,000
Board member 37,000

Fee/meeting

Meeting fees 2009–2013

Fee for a Board meeting 500
Fee for a Committee meeting 500
Committee Chair’s fee for a Committee 
meeting, if he/she is not also the Board Chair or 
Deputy Chair 1,000
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PResIDeNT AND Ceo MATTI HALMesMÄkI

Salaries, performance bonuses and fringe benefits in 2011–2013 (€)

2013 2012 2011

Non-variable monetary salary 909,840 865,300 642,900
Performance bonuses 350,000* 309,000* 339,500*
Fringe benefits 22,740 22,023 19,980
Total 1,282,580 1,196,323 1,002,380

* Paid based on previous year’s performance.

PeRIoD oF NoTICe AND TeRMINATIoN BeNeFIT
If the President and COE’s service contract is terminated by the company, 

he is paid a 12-months’ salary for the period of notice and a separate lump 

sum termination benefit which corresponds to his 12-months’ monetary 

salary and fringe benefits (a total of 24 x termination month’s monetary 

salary + fringe benefits). If the President and CEO resigns, he is entitled to 

a 6-months’ salary for the period of notice.

sHARe-BAseD PAYMeNTs

Share-based compensation plan

Share award (pcs) 2013 2012 2011

Maximum 21,000 21,000 18,000
Granted 4,200* 5,607 7,794
Commitment period (until) 31 Dec. 2016 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

* Board’s decision in February 2014. The number of shares granted for the 
2013 vesting period will be paid in April 2014 in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. 

The share award is based on the fulfilment of the vesting criteria set by the 

Board for each vesting period. The Board annually decides on the vesting 

criteria and the maximum share amounts at the beginning of the vesting 

period. At the beginning of the year following the vesting period, the 

Board decides the final amounts of Kesko B shares to be granted based 

on the fulfilment of the vesting criteria. The vesting criteria with equal 

weightings for the 2011, 2012 and 2013 vesting periods are Kesko’s basic 

earnings per share (EPS) excl. non-recurring items, the performance of 

Kesko Group’s sales exclusive of tax for the vesting period, and the per-

centage by which the total shareholder return of a Kesko B share exceeds 

the OMX Helsinki Benchmark Cap GI Index.

In addition, a cash component is paid to cover the taxes and tax-like 

charges incurred by the award.

CoMMITMeNT PeRIoD oF sHARe-BAseD PAYMeNTs
The share award in Kesko B shares involves a commitment period of three 

calendar years, following each vesting period, during which the shares 

may not be assigned. 

The commitment period for shares awarded for the 2011 vesting period 

ends on 31 December 2014, the commitment period for shares awarded 

for the 2012 vesting period ends on 31 December 2015, and the commit-

ment period for shares awarded for the 2013 vesting period ends on 31 

December 2016.

sHARe oPTIoNs
As at 31 December 2013, the President and CEO did not hold any share 

options. The 2007A-2007C share options carry an obligation set by Kesko’s 

Board to option recipients to use 25% of the proceeds from their share 

options to buy company shares for permanent ownership. 

ReTIReMeNT BeNeFITs
The President and CEO’s statutory pension security is organised through a 

pension insurance company. In addition, he is a member of Kesko Pension 

Fund’s department A that was closed in 1998, and his supplementary 

retirement benefit is based on its rules and his managing director’s service 

contract. His supplementary retirement benefit is based on a defined 

benefit plan. In 2011, the President and CEO’s term of office, based on his 

managing director’s service contract, was extended until his retirement 

on old age pension at the age of 63. At retirement, his pension will be 66% 

of his pensionable salary, which is determined based on his non-variable 

monetary salary, performance bonuses and fringe benefits for the last 10 

years. The IFRS pension obligation based on a defined benefit plan that 

arises from the President and CEO’s supplementary retirement benefit is 

€5.5 million. The pension obligation is fully covered. During the financial 

year 2013, the supplementary retirement benefit did not incur cash flow 

contributions. The IFRS pension cost calculated on an accrual basis was 

positive by €0.1 million due to surplus. The pension cost incurred by the 

President and CEO’s statutory pension cover was €0.2 million. 

that financial matters are handled in 
a reliable manner. The President and 
CEO also chairs the Group Management 
Board and the key Boards with regard to 
business operations.

The President and CEO is elected 
by the Board, which also makes the 
decisions on the terms and conditions 
of the President and CEO’s service 
contract. A written managing director’s 
service contract, approved by the Board, 
has been made between the company 
and the President and CEO.

Read more about Kesko’s President 
and CEO on page 60 and at www.kesko.fi. 

GRoUP MANAGeMeNT BoARD 
Kesko Group has a Group Manage-
ment Board, the Chair of which is 
Kesko’s President and CEO. The Group 
Management Board has no authority 
based on legislation or the Articles of 
Association. The Group Management 
Board’s duty is to discuss Group-wide 
development projects and Group-level 
policies and practices. In addition, the 
Group Management Board discusses the 
Group’s and the division parent com-
panies’ business plans, profit perfor-
mances and matters handled by Kesko’s 
Board, which it also helps to prepare. 

The Group Management Board holds 
8–10 meetings a year.

Read more about Kesko’s Group 
Management Board on pages 60–61 and 
at www.kesko.fi.

ReMUNeRATIoN 
REMUNERATION OF THE  
BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES
The Annual General Meeting adopts res-
olutions on the fees and other financial 
benefits of the members of Kesko’s 
Board and its Committees annually. The 
fees of the members of the Board and its 
Committees are paid in cash only.
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GRoUP MANAGeMeNT BoARD MeMBeRs AND ResPoNsIBILITY AReAs IN 2013

Since Responsibility area (at 31 Dec. 2013)

Matti Halmesmäki, Ch. 1 Jan. 2001 Kesko’s President and CEO
Jorma Rauhala, President of Kesko Food Ltd 5 Feb. 2013 Food trade and Kesko’s store site operations in Russia
Minna Kurunsaari, Senior Vice President, home and 
speciality goods trade* 1 Dec. 2011 Home and speciality goods trade
Terho Kalliokoski, President of Rautakesko Ltd** 17 Mar. 2005 Building and home improvement trade
Pekka Lahti, President of VV-Auto Group Oy 1 Mar. 2005 Car and machinery trade
Arja Talma, Senior Vice President*** 17 Mar. 2005 Store sites and investments
Jukka Erlund, Senior Vice President, CFO of Kesko 1 Nov. 2011 Finance and accounting, IT management, financial services
Matti Mettälä, Senior Vice President 1 Oct. 2012 Human resources and stakeholder relations

* Kurunsaari’s responsibility area has been home and speciality goods trade since 20 Dec. 2013. Her previous responsibility area was home and speciality 
goods trade and customer information and e-commerce projects. Since 20 Dec. 2013, each division parent company is responsible for customer 
information and e-commerce projects. 
** Kalliokoski was appointed President of Rautakesko Ltd starting on 5 Feb. 2013. Previously, he was President of Kesko Food Ltd.
*** Talma was appointed Senior Vice President responsible for the store sites and investments of Kesko Group starting on 5 Feb. 2013. Previously, she was 
President of Rautakesko Ltd.

sALARIes, PeRFoRMANCe BoNUses AND FRINGe BeNeFITs oF GRoUP MANAGeMeNT BoARD MeMBeRs 
IN 2012–2013 (€)

Non-variable monetary salary Performance bonuses Fringe benefits Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Matti Halmesmäki, Ch. 909,840 865,300 350,000 309,000 22,740 22,023 1,282,580 1,196,323
Group Management Board* 1,671,384 1,491,291 323,550 327,950 118,896 108,944 2,113,830 1,928,185
Total 2,581,224 2,356,591 673,550 636,950 141,636 130,968 3,396,410 3,124,508

* Excluding President and CEO Halmesmäki.

Salaries, performance bonuses and fringe benefits are reported on cash basis. The 2012 accrual is calculated by adding the amount of performance bonus 

paid in 2013 to the salaries and fringe benefits in 2012. The performance bonus accrued for 2013 will be decided in spring 2014.

sHARe-BAseD PAYMeNTs To GRoUP MANAGeMeNT BoARD MeMBeRs 

2013 2012 2011

Maximum To be granted** Maximum Granted Maximum Granted
Matti Halmesmäki, Ch. 21,000 4,200 21,000 5,607 18,000 7,794
Group Management Board* 46,500 9,300 35,600 9,506 33,300 14,420
Total 67,500 13,500 56,600 15,113 51,300 22,214

* Excluding President and CEO Halmesmäki. The amounts reported for the Group Management Board reflect the situation in February following each 
vesting period. 
** The Board’s decision in February 2014. The shares to be granted for the 2013 vesting period will be granted by the end of April 2014 in accordance with 
the terms of the plan.

The share award is based on the fulfilment of the vesting criteria set by the Board for each vesting period. The Board annually decides on the vesting criteria 

and the maximum share amounts at the beginning of the vesting period. At the beginning of the year following the vesting period, the Board decides the 

final amounts of Kesko B shares to be granted based on the fulfilment of the vesting criteria. The vesting criteria with equal weightings for the 2011–2013 

vesting periods are Kesko’s basic earnings per share (EPS) excl. non-recurring items, the performance of Kesko Group’s sales exclusive of tax for the vesting 

period, and the percentage by which the total shareholder return of a Kesko B share exceeds the OMX Helsinki Benchmark Cap GI Index. In addition, a cash 

component is paid to cover the taxes and tax-like charges incurred by the award.

CoMMITMeNT PeRIoD oF sHARe-BAseD PAYMeNTs
The share award in Kesko B shares involves a commitment period of three calendar years, following each vesting period, during which the shares may not 

be assigned. The commitment period for shares awarded for the 2011 vesting period ends on 31 December 2014, the commitment period for shares award-

ed for the 2012 vesting period ends on 31 December 2015, and the commitment period for shares awarded for the 2013 vesting period ends on 31 December 

2016. If a person’s employment in or service relationship to a Kesko Group company ends before the compensation is paid due to company reorganisation 

or business transfer or because the recipient retires or dies, the Board will decide at its discretion whether the recipient or his/her beneficiary has a right to 

the compensation.
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sHARe oPTIoNs
As at 31 Dec. 2012, Group Management Board members, excluding President and CEO Halmesmäki, held a total of 17,000 2007B and 65,500 2007C share 

options. As at 31 Dec. 2013, Group Management Board members held no share options. The 2007A-2007C share options carry an obligation set by Kesko’s 

Board to option recipients to use 25% of the proceeds from their share options to buy company shares for permanent ownership.

ReTIReMeNT BeNeFITs, PeRIoDs oF NoTICe AND TeRMINATIoN BeNeFITs oF GRoUP MANAGeMeNT 
BoARD MeMBeRs

Old age pension age (yrs) Pension as percentage of pensionable salary (%) Period of notice Termination benefit
Matti Halmesmäki, Ch. 63 66 6*/12 mo 12 mo salary
Jorma Rauhala 62 66 6 mo 6 mo salary
Minna Kurunsaari 62 66 6 mo 6 mo salary
Terho Kalliokoski 62 66 6 mo 12 mo salary
Pekka Lahti 62 66 6 mo 18 mo salary
Arja Talma based on TyEL** based on TyEL** 6 mo 12 mo salary
Jukka Erlund based on TyEL** based on TyEL** 6 mo 6 mo salary
Matti Mettälä 62 66 6 mo 12 mo salary

If the company terminates the service contract of a Group Management Board member, he/she is paid a 6–12-months’ salary for the period of notice and 

a separate lump sum termination benefit which corresponds to his/her 6–18-months’ non-variable monetary salary and fringe benefits (a total of 12–24 x 

termination month’s monetary salary + fringe benefits). If the executive resigns, he/she is entitled to a salary for the period of notice.

The statutory pension security of Group Management Board members is organised through a pension insurance company. Except for two (2) members 

(Erlund and Talma), the Group Management Board members are members of the Kesko Pension Fund’s department A that was closed in 1998, and their 

supplementary retirement benefits are based on its rules and each of their service contracts. Their retirement benefits are based on defined benefit plans. 

The IFRS pension obligation based on a defined benefit plan that arises from the Group Management Board members’ (excluding Halmesmäki, Erlund and 

Talma) supplementary retirement benefit is €3.2 million. The pension obligation is fully covered. During the financial year 2013, the supplementary retire-

ment benefit did not incur cash flow contributions. The IFRS pension cost calculated on an accrual basis was positive by €0.1 million due to surplus. 

* If the President and CEO resigns, he is entitled to a 6-months’ salary for the period of notice.
** TyEL = the Employees’ Pensions Act

REMUNERATION OF THE PRESIDENT 
AND CEO AND OTHER MANAGEMENT
The remuneration plan for the President 
and CEO and for the other members of 
the Group Management Board con-
sists of a non-variable monetary salary 
(monthly salary), fringe benefits (free car 
and mobile phone benefit), a perfor-
mance bonus based on criteria set annu-
ally (the maximum performance bonus 
of President and CEO corresponds to his 
monetary salary for a maximum of eight 
months, and that of the other members 
of the Group Management Board to their 
monetary salary for a maximum of 4–5 
months), share-based compensation, 
share option plans and the manage-
ment’s retirement benefits.

Based on the Remuneration Commit-
tee’s preparatory work, Kesko’s Board 
makes decisions on the individual 
compensation, other financial benefits, 
the performance bonus system criteria 
and the performance bonuses paid to the 

President and CEO and the Group Man-
agement Board members responsible for 
lines of business. The President and CEO 
makes decisions on the compensation 
and other financial benefits of Group 
Management Board members other than 
those responsible for lines of business 
within the limits set by the Chair of the 
Board’s Remuneration Committee.

Read more about Kesko manage-
ment’s remuneration and the compa-
ny’s share-based compensation and 
share option plans on pages 52–53 and 
60–61, or at www.kesko.fi.

RIsk MANAGeMeNT, INTeRNAL 
CoNTRoL AND INTeRNAL AUDIT
RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is an integral  
part of management in Kesko
Kesko’s risk management is proactive 
and an integral part of its management 
and day-to-day activities. The objective 
of risk management is to ensure the 

fulfilment of customer promises, profit 
performance, dividend payment capac-
ity, shareholder value, the implementa-
tion of responsible operating practices 
and the continuity of operations in 
Kesko Group. The risk management pol-
icy confirmed by the Board of Directors 
guides risk management in Kesko Group. 

Kesko Group has a uniform risk 
assessment and reporting system and 
it applies a business-oriented and com-
prehensive approach to risk assessment 
and management. This means that 
key risks are systematically identified, 
assessed, managed, monitored and re-
ported as part of business operations at 
the Group, division, company and unit 
levels in all operating countries. 

Providing insurance cover is  
part of Kesko’s risk management
Providing insurance cover is part of 
Kesko’s risk management, and the pol-
icy confirmed by Kesko’s Board defines 
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the principles for providing insurance. 
The objective of insurance is to ensure 
that the Group’s personnel, assets, 
business operations and liabilities 
have appropriate, good value insurance 
cover, while taking account of legisla-
tive requirements and the Group’s risks 
and risk tolerance at any given time. 
The Group’s risk management func-
tion is responsible for the Group-level 
insurance programmes, their compet-
itive tendering and brokerage services 
as part of the Group’s damage/loss risk 
management.

Responsibilities and roles  
in risk management
The business division and Group 
function managements are responsible 
for implementing risk management. 
Each division has appointed a man-
agement board member, usually the 
finance director, to be responsible for 
coordinating risk management and se-
curity, for providing guidelines in each 
respective division, and for reporting 
on risk management responses. In 
addition, divisions have risk managers 
and security managers responsible for 
the development and supervision of 
risk management and security in the di-
vision in cooperation with the business 
management and supporting functions.

Kesko has a Group-level Risk Manage-
ment Steering Group, which is chaired 
by the Group’s President and CEO and is 
composed of the representatives of the 
management of the various divisions 
and Group functions. 

The Group’s risk management 
function supervises and coordinates 
the development of joint risk manage-
ment and security procedures and the 
adoption of best practices in the Group. 
It is also responsible for risk reporting 
to the Group’s management. 

The management of financial risks 
is based on the Group’s finance policy, 
which is confirmed by Kesko’s Board. 
The Group Treasury is centrally respon-
sible for funding, liquidity manage-
ment, debt investor relations and the 
management of financial risks.

Risk reporting
Based on risk analyses carried out by 
the divisions and Group functions,  
Kesko Group’s risk management 
function prepares a quarterly Group 
risk map, which presents the most 
significant risks and explains how they 
are managed. The risk map, the most 
significant risks and uncertainties, 
and changes in and responses to them 
are reported to the Kesko Board’s Audit 
Committee when the interim reports 
and the financial statements are han-
dled. The Audit Committee’s Chair re-
ports on risk management to the Board 
as part of the Audit Committee report. 
Kesko’s Board discusses the most signif-
icant risks and the responses required 
to manage them, and assesses the effi-
ciency of risk management. The most 
significant risks and uncertainties are 
reported to the market by the Board in 
the financial statements, and material 
changes to them are set out in interim 
reports.

Risk management responses in 2013
Kesko’s risk management process is 
established and no significant changes 
took place in 2013. As in previous years, 
the risk management, legal affairs and 
internal audit functions organized 
value discussions on Kesko’s respon-
sible operating practices in Kesko’s 
subsidiaries. During 2013, an e-learning 
programme on occupational safety was 
started in Kesko’s Finnish operations. 
The project for enhanced user rights 
management was continued in Kesko’s 
various SAP environments. The trend 
in terms of damages was better than in 
previous years, and there was no major 
isolated damage.

The risk management function took 
part in an international self-assessment 
concerning the level of risk manage-
ment. The results will be used to further 
improve Kesko’s risk management. 

Focus areas of risk management in 2014
The risk management function will 
continue working in close cooperation 
with division parent companies and 
with Group functions in order to ensure 

the adoption of responsible operating 
practices, to prevent malpractice, and 
to develop risk management related 
to personnel safety, business conti-
nuity, information security and data 
protection, among other things. In 
2014, Kesko will start a Group-wide 
e-learning programme on data security. 
The project to develop SAP user rights 
management is ongoing and it will be 
expanded into all SAP environments. 
In collaboration with the divisions, the 
risk management function organises 
crisis exercises and training sessions on 
safety and security. 

The most significant risks and 
management responses 
The risks and uncertainties impacting 
Kesko’s business operations, their 
management responses and the 
 organisation and principles of Kesko’s 
risk management are described at  
www.kesko.fi/investors and in the Re-
port by the Board of Directors on page 67. 

Financial risks (such as counterpar-
ty risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, 
interest rate risk and commodity risk 
relating to electricity derivatives) are 
described in note 32 to Kesko’s finan-
cial statements in the online Annual 
Report.

INTeRNAL CoNTRoL
Internal control is an integral part of 
management and it is a key way of 
ensuring the achievement of business 
objectives. Through efficient internal 
control, deviations from objectives can 
be prevented or discovered as early as 
possible, so that corrective measures 
can be taken. The tools of internal 
control include policies and principles, 
work instructions, manual controls 
and automatic controls built into IT 
systems, follow-up reports, inspections 
and audits, among other things.

The objective of internal control in 
Kesko Group is to ensure the profitabil-
ity, efficiency, continuity and freedom 
from disruptions of operations, the 
reliability of financial and operational 
reporting both externally and within 
Kesko Group, compliance with laws 
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and agreements and Kesko’s values 
and operating principles, as well as 
the security of assets, know-how and 
information.

The planning of control measures be-
gins with defining business objectives 
and identifying and assessing risks that 
pose a threat to the objectives. The defi-
nition of objectives and assessment of 
risks should take into account not only 
operational objectives, but also require-
ments related to operations’ conformity 
to law and to the correctness of the 
information used in decision-making 
and reporting. Control measures are 
targeted based on risks, and control 
measures are selected as appropriate so 
as to keep the risks under control. 

The Board and the President and CEO 
are responsible for the organisation 
of internal control. The management 
of each division, company and unit is 
responsible for ensuring that functional 
and efficient control practices are in 
place. The divisions annually prepare 
control plans that contain the focus and 
development areas for control among 
other things. Every Kesko employee is 
expected to comply with responsible 
working principles and report any prob-
lems to their supervisor.

Kesko’s Group units provide guidance 
and support to divisions and subsidi-
aries through policies, principles and 
guidelines concerning their areas of 
responsibility. Kesko Group’s internal 
audit function evaluates and verifies 
the performance and efficiency of 
Kesko’s internal control, reports on it 
to the President and CEO and the Audit 
Committee of Kesko Corporation’s 
Board and assists the management and 
Kesko companies in the development of 
an internal control system.

In December 2013, the Audit Commit-
tee of Kesko’s Board confirmed the up-
dated internal control policies, which 
are based on good control principles, 
widely accepted internationally (COSO 
2013).

INTeRNAL AUDIT
Kesko Group’s internal audit is respon-
sible for the independent evaluation 

and assurance function required of a 
listed company. It systematically exam-
ines and verifies the efficiency of risk 
management, control, management 
and governance. The Audit Committee 
of Kesko’s Board has approved the oper-
ating instructions for Kesko’s internal 
audit function.

Organisation and operation  
of internal audit
The internal audit function is organised 
under Kesko’s President and CEO and 
the Audit Committee, and it reports 
on its findings and recommendations 
to the Audit Committee, the Presi-
dent and CEO, the management of the 
audited operations and the auditor. The 
function covers all of Kesko’s divisions, 
companies and functions.

Auditing is based on risk analyses 
and risk management and control 
discussions with the Group’s and 
divisions’ managements. Meetings with 
the auditor are arranged regularly. An 
internal audit plan, subject to approval 
by the President and CEO and the Audit 
Committee, is prepared annually. The 
annual plan is modified on a risk basis, 
if necessary.

As necessary, the internal audit 
function purchases external services 
for added resources or for the purpose 
of conducting audit operations that re-
quire special competencies. Audits can 
also make use of the competencies and 
contributions of Kesko Group’s other 
specialists. The professional skills of 
auditors are maintained by internal and 
external training and by studying for 
vocational degrees in the field.

The internal audit function cooper-
ates with the Group’s risk management 
function and participates in the work of 
the Risk Management Steering Group. 
The internal audit function assesses the 
efficiency of Kesko’s risk management 
system annually.

Internal audit operations in 2013
In 2013, the most important targets 
for the internal audit function were 
Kesko’s business operations in Russia 
and related risks, and various basic 

controls such as payment controls, 
store controls and proactive IT con-
trols. Other focus areas included the 
ongoing business and IT projects, the 
information security and control of 
online stores and malpractice risks. In 
the information system audit, special 
attention was paid to the progress 
and management of ongoing projects. 
Compliance with Kesko’s accounting 
policies and reporting guidelines was 
verified and assessed in various audits, 
with an emphasis on the accuracy of 
inventory values and trade receivables. 
Close cooperation with the auditor was 
maintained in order to ensure suffi-
cient coverage of audit operations and 
to avoid overlapping operations.

Internal audit focus areas in 2014
The key focus areas of internal audit 
operations in 2014 will be the business 
operations in Russia and related risks, 
as well as e-services and related infor-
mation security and data protection. 
Other focus areas include the ongoing 
business and IT projects, as well as 
responsible purchasing.

 
GRoUP’s FINANCIAL RePoRTING
Kesko’s financial reporting and 
planning are based on Kesko Group’s 
management system. The Group units’ 
financial results are reported and an-
alysed within the Group monthly, and 
disclosed in interim reports published 
quarterly. Financial plans are prepared 
for quarterly periods, in addition to 
which significant changes are taken 
into account in monthly performance 
forecasts. The strategies and related 
long-term financial plans of the Group 
and its units are updated annually.

Key actions in 2013
Kesko Group continued its project to 
harmonise its financial management 
information systems. The project 
serves both the Group companies and 
the K-Group’s retailers. In Finland, the 
centralisation of financial management 
routines in the Shared Service Centre 
of Kesko Group continued, and in Rus-
sia, the Shared Service Centre started 
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AUDIToRs’ Fees IN 2012–2013 (€1,000)

2013

PwC Other audit firms Total

Kesko Corporation Other Group companies Kesko Corporation Other Group companies
Auditing 115 741 0 71 927
Tax consultation 8 40 4 3 55
IFRS consultation 3 3 3 0 9
Other services 58 92 102 16 268
Total 184 876 109 90 1,258

2012

PwC Other audit firms Total

Kesko Corporation Other Group companies Kesko Corporation Other Group companies
Auditing 132 705 - 83 931
Tax consultation 22 80 11 5 118
IFRS consultation - 5 5 - 10
Other services 96 133 161 66 445
Total 250 923 177 154 1,504

operations in January 2013. In addition, 
Kesko Group and the Group companies 
continued to work in cooperation to 
increase the efficiency of financial 
management routines and convert 
them to electronic format.

The adoption of a shared planning 
system, which had begun earlier, con-
tinued. The project will harmonise the 
Group companies’ planning systems 
and integrate them into the Group’s 
reporting system.

Key actions in 2014
In 2014, the financial management 
function will continue its information 
system project servicing the K-Group 
and the adoption of the system. In addi-
tion, the routines of Group companies’ 
financial management will continue to 
be centralised in Shared Service Cen-
tres, and operations will continue to be 
made more efficient and electronic in 
Finland and Russia.

AUDIT
According to the Articles of Association, 
Kesko has one auditor, which shall be 
an audit firm authorised by the Central 
Chamber of Commerce. The term of an 
auditor is the company’s financial year 
and an auditor’s duties terminate at the 

close of the Annual General Meeting 
following the election. 

The 2013 General Meeting elected 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorised 
Public Accountants, as the company’s 
auditor, with APA Johan Kronberg as the 
auditor with principal responsibility.

oTHeR INFoRMATIoN
More comprehensive information on 
Kesko’s Corporate Governance and the 
separate statements, referred to in the 
Corporate Governance Code, Kesko’s Cor-
porate Governance Statement and the 
Remuneration Statement, are available 
in the Investor section at www.kesko.fi.

 
ReAD MoRe
www.kesko.fi/investors
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BoARD oF DIReCToRs

esA kIIskINeN
b. 1963, Business College Graduate

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Chair 
(Chair of the Remuneration  

Committee)

Principal occupation: food retailer.

Main employment history: K-food 

retailer since 1990.

Main positions of trust: Confedera-

tion of Finnish Industries EK: Chair 

of the Delegation for Entrepreneurs 

2012–, Confederation of Finnish 

Industries EK: Vice-Chair of the Board 

2012–, Finnish Family Firms Associa-

tion: member of the Board 2011–, the 

Foundation for Vocational Training 

in the Retail Trade: Chair of the Board 

2008–, Saija ja Esa Kiiskinen Oy: 

Chair of the Board 1995–, the Federa-

tion of Finnish Commerce: member 

of the Board 2008–2012, K-Retailers’ 

Association: Chair of the Board 

2008–2012, Vähittäiskaupan Tili-

palvelu VTP Oy: member of the Board 

2008–2012.

Board member since: 30 March 

2009.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: a total of 
107,350 A shares held by him or his 

company. No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 

107,350 A shares held by him or his 

company. No share options.

sePPo PAATeLAINeN
b. 1944, Master of Science (Agricul-

ture and Forestry)

Domicile: Suonenjoki, Finland

Deputy Chair 
(Deputy Chair of the Audit Committee 

and the Remuneration Committee)

Principal occupation: -
Main employment history: Atria 

Yhtymä Oyj: CEO 1991–2006, Itikka 

Co-operative and Itikka Lihabotnia 

Oy: CEO 1988–1991, Luja-Yhtiöt: Direc-

tor 1973–87, Itikka Co-operative: 

Production Director 1970–73.

Main positions of trust: Ilk-

ka-Yhtymä Oyj: Chair of the Board 

2007–, member of the Board 1994–

2007, Alma Media Corporation: Chair 

of the Board 2011–2013, Deputy Chair 

of the Board 2009–2010, Seinäjoki 

Region Business Service Center: Chair 

of the Board 2009–2012, Finavia 

Corporation: Chair of the Board, 

member of the Board 2010–2011, 

Valga Viro: Chair  of the Board 2005–

2006, Pit Product (Russia): Chair of 

the Board 2005–2006, Liha ja Säilyke 

Oy: Chair of the Board 1998–2006, 

OKO: member of the Supervisory 

Board 1997–2006.

Board member since: 27 March 

2006.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: No shares. 

No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 
1,000 B shares held by him. No share 

options.

ILPo kokkILA
b. 1947, Master of Science (Technol-

ogy) (Member of the Remuneration 

Committee)

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Principal occupation: SRV Group 

Plc: Chair of the Board.

Main employment history: SRV 

Group Plc: Chair of the Board 1987–, 

Pontos Oy: Chair of the Board 2002–, 

Perusyhtymä Oy: Director 1974–1987, 

A-Betoni Oy: constructor 1972–1974.

Main positions of trust: Confedera-

tion of Finnish Industries EK: Chair 

of the Board 2013–, Finnish-Russian 

Chamber of Commerce (FRCC): 

Deputy Chair of the Board 2006–2011, 

Chair of the Board 2012–, JTO School 

of Management: Chair of the Board 

1999–2012, Central Chamber of 

Commerce: member of the Board 

2002–2006, Council member 2001–

2011.

Board member since: 27 March 

2006.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: a total of 
16,100 B shares held by him. No share 

options.

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 

16,100 B shares held by him. No share 

options.

ToMI koRPIsAARI
b. 1968, retailer, Master of Science 

(Economics)

Domicile: Hausjärvi, Finland

Principal occupation: retailer, 

building and home improvement and 

agricultural trade.

Main employment history: K-re-

tailer since 1995. 

Main positions of trust: the Federa-

tion of Finnish Commerce: member 

of the Board 2012–, K-Retailers’ 

Association: Chair of the Board 2012–, 

Deputy Chair of the Board 2008–2012, 

member of the Board 2005–2007, 

Vähittäiskaupan Tilipalvelu VTP Oy: 

Chair of the Board 2012–, member of 

the Board 2010–2012, the Foundation 

for Vocational Training in the Retail 

Trade: Chair of the Board 2012–, 

Deputy Chair 2008–2012, Etelä-

Hämeen Osuuspankki: Chair of the 

Supervisory Board 2014–, Confedera-

tion of Finnish Industries EK: mem-

ber of the Delegation for Entrepre-

neurs 2008–, Finnish Family Firms 

Association: member of the Board 

2013–, member of the Delegation of 

Family Enterprises 2010–2012, Olavi 

Korpisaari Oy: member of the Board 

and Managing Director 2001–, 

OP-Pohjola Group Central Coopera-

tive: member of the Supervisory 

Board 2009–2012, Riihimäen Seudun 

Osuuspankki: Chair of the Supervi-

sory Board 2007–2013.

Board member since: 16 April 2012.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: a total of 
87,211 A shares and 500 B shares held 

by him or his company. No share 

options.

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 

87,211 A shares and 500 B shares held 

by him or his company. No share 

options.
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MAARIT NÄkYVÄ
b. 1953, Master of Science (Econom-

ics) (Chair of the Audit Committee)

Domicile: Kirkkonummi, Finland

Principal occupation: -
Main employment history: Sampo 

Fund Management Ltd: member of 

the Board 2007–2008, Sampo Bank 

plc: member of the Board 2001–2008, 

Executive Vice President 2007–2008, 

Sampo plc: Executive Vice President 

2001–2006, Leonia Bank plc: member 

of the Board 1998–2000, Merita Fund 

Management Ltd: President 1996–

1997, Merita Bank Ltd.: Director 

1995–1996, Unitas Bank Ltd.: Director 

1990–1995.

Main positions of trust: Luot-

tokunta: member of the Board 2007–

2008, Realty World Ltd: Chair of the 

Board 2004–2008.

Board member since: 1 January 2001.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: No shares. 

No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 
1,000 B shares held by her. No share 

options.

ToNI PokeLA
b. 1973, retailer, Secondary School 

Graduate

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Principal occupation: food retailer.

Main employment history:  K-food 

retailer since 1997.

Main positions of trust: Pokela Oy 

Iso Omena: member of the Board and 

Managing Director 1998–, K-Retailers’ 

Association: member of the Board 

2008–2012, K-Food Retailers’ Club: 

Chair of the Board 2010–2012, Deputy 

Chair of the Board 2008–2010, Finn-

ish Grocery Trade Association: mem-

ber of the Board 2010–2011. 

Board member since: 16 April 2012.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: a total of 
179,400 A shares held by the company 

controlled by him. No share options. 

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 

179,400 A shares held by the company 

controlled by him. No share options.

VIRPI TUUNAINeN
b. 1967, Doctor of Science in Econom-

ics (Member of the Audit Committee)

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Principal occupation: Professor at 

the Department of Information and 

Service Economy at Aalto University 

and Director of Aalto Service Factory. 

Main employment history: Helsinki 

School of Economics: Professor 

2004–2009, University of Jyväskylä: 

Scientific Leader, INFORTE Pro-

gramme 2008–2011. Since 1995, 

Visiting Researcher and Professor at 

Finnish and foreign universities and 

higher education institutions.

Main positions of trust: SFR-Scandi-

navian Financial Research Ltd: mem-

ber of the Advisory Board 2000–, 

Cambridge Service Alliance: member 

of the Academic Advisory Board 

2011–, Council member and Vice 

President of Publications for Associa-

tion of Information Systems (AIS) 

2013–, KP-Media Oy: member of the 

Board 2007–2012, Aalto University: 

Chair of Real-Time Economy Compe-

tence Center 2007–2012, First Vice 

Chair of Tenured Professors Council 

2010, Helsinki School of Economics: 

Head of the GEBSI Graduate School 

2001–2009, Deputy Head of the 

Department of Business Technology 

2004–2009.

Board member since: 16 April 2012.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: No shares. 

No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: a total of 

500 B shares held by her. No share 

options.

 
ReAD MoRe
www.kesko.fi/Board-of-Directors

The website provides up-to-date 

information on the main positions of 

trust and their terminations. The term 

of office of each Board member will 

expire at the close of the 2015 Annual 

General Meeting in accordance with 

the Articles of Association.
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GRoUP MANAGeMeNT BoARD 

MATTI HALMesMÄkI
b. 1952, Master of Science (Econom-

ics), Master of Laws.

President and CEO of Kesko Corporation, 

Chair of the Group Management Board

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Other major duties: Confederation of 

Finnish Industries EK: member of the 

Board 2005– and Deputy Chair of the 

Board 2005–2011, 2014–, the Finnish 

Fair Corporation: member of the Board 

2005–, Federation of Finnish Com-

merce: member of the Board 2005– and 

Chair of the Board 2012–2013, Ilmari-

nen Mutual Pension Insurance Com-

pany: member of the Board 2010–, 

Foundation for Economic Education: 

member of the Board 2005–, Finnish 

Business and Policy Forum EVA: mem-

ber 2005–, the Association for Promot-

ing Voluntary National Defence of 

Finland: Delegation member 2005–, 

Savonlinna Opera Festival Patrons’ 

Association, member of the Board of 

Trustees 2006–, the Central Chamber of 

Commerce in Finland: member of the 

Board 2006–2010, 2014–, East Office of 

Finnish Industries Oy: member of the 

Board 2008–, Luottokunta: member of 

the Supervisory Board 2005–2013 and 

Chair of the Supervisory Board 2007–

2010, Varma Mutual Pension Insurance 

Company: member of the Supervisory 

Board 2005–2010.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Ltd since 1980. Kesko Corpora-

tion’s Managing Director and Kesko 

Group’s President and CEO since 1 

March 2005.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 1 January 2001.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 2,000 A shares 

and 17,794 B shares. No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 2,000 A 

shares and 31,401 B shares. No share 

options.

JoRMA RAUHALA
b. 1965, Master of Science (Econom-

ics). President of Kesko Food Ltd

Domicile: Espoo, Finland

Other major duties: the Finnish 

Grocery Trade Association: Chair of 

the Board 2013–.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Ltd since 1992. President of 

Kesko Food Ltd since 5 February 2013. 

Vice President responsible for the 

K-citymarket chain’s food trade 2012–

2013, Managing Director of Kespro Ltd 

2007–2012.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 5 February 2013.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 5 February 2013: 1,833 B shares 

and 8,000 C share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 3,161 B 

shares. No share options.

MINNA kURUNsAARI
b. 1965, Master of Laws.

Senior Vice President for the home 

and speciality goods trade

Domicile: Espoo, Finland

Other major duties: Pro Luomu ry: 

Vice Chair 2011–2012, Finfood - Finn-

ish Food Information: member of the 

Board 2008–2011, the Finnish Grocery 

Trade Association: member of the 

Purchasing and Logistics Group 

2008–2011.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Ltd since 1995. Senior Vice 

President for the home and speciality 

goods trade since 1 December 2011. 

Senior Vice President responsible for 

Kesko’s customer information and 

e-commerce projects 2011–2013. Vice 

President for Kesko Food’s Commerce 

2008–2011.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 1 December 2011.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 12,532 B 

shares and 12,500 C share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 14,134 B 

shares. No share options.

TeRHo kALLIokoskI
b. 1961, Master of Science (Economics). 

President of Rautakesko Ltd

Domicile: Kirkkonummi, Finland

Other major duties: Eurobuy GmbH: 

member of the Board 2013–, Euro-

group Far East Ltd: member of the 

Board 2013–, Helsinki Region Cham-

ber of Commerce: member of the 

Board 2009–, Deputy Chair of the 

Board 2012–, the Association of Finn-

ish Advertisers: member of the Board 

2005–2013, the Finnish Grocery Trade 

Association: member of the Board 

2006–2013, Deputy Chair of the Board 

2006–2007, Chair of the Board 2008–

2009 and 2013, the Finnish 4H Federa-

tion: member of the Supervisory Board 

2009–2012, Association for the Finn-

ish Work: Council member 2006–

2009, member of the Board 2010.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Ltd since 1985. President of 

Rautakesko Ltd since 5 February 2013. 

President of Kesko Food Ltd 2005–

2013.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 17 March 2005.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 9,464 B 

shares. No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 15,000 B 

shares. No share options.
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ARJA TALMA
b. 1962, Master of Science (Econom-

ics), eMBA.

Senior Vice President, Store Sites and 

Investments

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Other major duties: Aktia Bank Plc: 

member of the Board 2013–, Varma 

Mutual Pension Insurance Company: 

member of the Supervisory Board 

2013–, Sponda Plc: member of the 

Board 2007– and Chair of the Audit 

Committee 2007–, Association for the 

Finnish Work: Council member 2012–, 

Finnish Scout Foundation: member of 

the Supervisory Board 2010–, Eurobuy 

GmbH: member of the Board 2012–

2013, Eurogroup Far East Ltd: member 

of the Board 2011–2013, VR-Group Ltd: 

member of the Board 2006–2012 and 

Chair of the Audit Committee 2006–

2012, Luottokunta: member of the 

Board 2008–2012.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Corporation since 2004. Senior 

Vice President, Store Sites and Invest-

ments since 5 February 2013. President 

of Rautakesko Ltd 2011–2013. Senior 

Vice President, CFO 2005-2011.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 17 March 2005.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 4,598 B 

shares, 15,000 B share options and 

25,000 C share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 10,500 B 

shares. No share options.

JUkkA eRLUND
b. 1974, Master of Science (Econom-

ics), eMBA.

Senior Vice President, CFO

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Other major duties: Federation of 

Finnish Commerce: Chair of the Tax 

and Economic Policy Committee 

2011–, Confederation of Finnish 

Industries EK: member of the Finance 

and Taxation Committee 2012–, 

Suomen Luotto-osuuskunta: member 

of the Board 2012–, Luottokunta: 

member of the Board 2012.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Corporation since 2004. Senior 

Vice President, CFO since 1 November 

2011. Kesko Food Ltd’s Vice President 

for Finance 2010–2011.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 1 October 2011.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 1,576 B 

shares, 2,000 B share options and 

8,000 C share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 3,738 B 

shares. No share options.

MATTI MeTTÄLÄ
b. 1963, Master of Laws.

Senior Vice President, Human 

Resources and Stakeholder Relations

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Other major duties: Finnish Business 

& Society ry: member of the Board 

2013–, Huoltoupseeriyhdistys ry: 

member of delegation 2013–, Federa-

tion of Finnish Commerce: member of 

the Research Committee 2013–, Foun-

dation for Vocational Training in the 

Retail Trade: member of the Board 

2005–.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Ltd in 1990–2005 and since 

2012. Senior Vice President, Human 

Resources and Stakeholder Relations 

since 1 October 2012. K-Retailers’ 

Association: Managing Director 

2005–2012.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 1 October 2012.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 280 B shares. 

No share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 280 B shares. 

No share options.

PekkA LAHTI
b. 1955, Master of Science (Agricul-

ture).

President of VV-Auto Group Oy

Domicile: Vantaa, Finland

Other major duties: the Association 

of Automobile Importers in Finland: 

member of the Board 2007–2012, Chair 

of the Board 2010–2012, Finnish Car 

Recycling Ltd: member of the Board 

2007–2012, the Finnish Information 

Centre of Automobile Sector (AUT): 

member of the Board 2009–2012, 

Chair of the Board 2010–2012, Federa-

tion of Finnish Commerce: member of 

the Board 2010–2012.

Employment history: employed by 

Kesko Ltd since 1981. President of 

VV-Auto Group Oy since 1 February 

2006.

Member of the Group Management 
Board since: 1 March 2005.

Kesko shares and share options held:
As at 31 December 2012: 2,615 B 

shares and 20,000 C share options.

As at 31 December 2013: 6,767 B 

shares. No share options.

 
ReAD MoRe
www.kesko.fi/group- management-

board

The website provides up-to-date 

information on the main positions of 

trust and their terminations and more 

detailed employment history informa-

tion.

The numbers of shares held by the 

members of the Group Management 

Board, except for Mettälä, also include 

shares granted as share awards which 

are subject to restriction on transfer.
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RePoRT BY THe BoARD oF DIReCToRs
Financial  
perFormance
NeT sALes AND PRoFIT FoR 2013
The Group’s net sales were €9,315 million, which is 3.8% down on 
the corresponding period of the previous year (€9,686 million). 
Especially in Finland, the weakening of the general economic sit-
uation and consumer demand contributed to the decline of net 
sales in the home and speciality goods trade and the building and 
home improvement trade. In Finland, net sales decreased by 3.3% 
and in the other countries by 6.1%. Net sales performance in the 
other countries was materially impacted by exchange rate chang-
es and the sales decline in the building and home improvement 
trade in Norway resulting from the retailer changes that took 
place in the Byggmakker chain in the previous year. International 
operations accounted for 17.8% (18.2%) of net sales. Net sales 
grew in the food trade and declined in the other divisions.

Net sales Change
Operating 

profit* Change

1–12/2013 € million % € million € million

Food trade 4,387 +1.8 203.3 +35.8
Home and speciality 
goods trade 1,457 -9.1 -8.3 -27.9
Building and home 
improvement trade 2,607 -7.8 25.7 +12.4
Car and machinery trade 1,037 -6.9 33.9 -8.0
Common operations 
and eliminations -173 -2.4 -15.8 -3.5
Total 9,315 -3.8 238.8 +8.8

* Excl. non-recurring items

Operating profit excluding non-recurring items was €238.8 million 
(€230.0 million). The enhancement measures of the profitability 
programme had a significant positive impact on the Group’s profit 
performance. Operating expenses decreased by €87 million re-
gardless of store site network expansion and cost inflation. In the 
previous year, costs were reduced and operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items was improved by the €12 million amount rec-
ognised as revenue in connection with the transfer of the pension 
insurance portfolio. The operating expenses for the previous year 
included write-offs of €6 million related to personnel reductions 
and non-recurring expenses of €20.8 million.

Operating profit was €248.4 million (€212.0 million). The 
operating profit includes €9.6 million (€-18.0 million) of 
non-recurring items. The non-recurring items include gains 
on the disposals of properties in the amount of €9.4 million 
(€2.7 million). The non-recurring items for the previous year 
included an impairment of Anttila’s goodwill, a reversal of the 
impairment of Indoor’s brand and non-recurring expenses for 
restructuring Musta Pörssi’s business operations.

The Group’s profit before tax was €242.3 million (€210.5 million).

The Group’s earnings per share were €1.75 (€1.26). The 
Group’s equity per share was €22.96 (€22.48). 

The K-Group’s (i.e. Kesko’s and the chain stores’) retail and 
B2B sales (VAT 0%) were €11,575 million, down 4.4% com-
pared to the previous year. The K-Plussa customer loyalty 
programme gained 74,317 new households. At the end of De-
cember, there was 2,251,311 K-Plussa households and 3.9 (3.8) 
million K-Plussa cardholders.

FINANCe
The cash flow from operating activities was €413.8 million (€381.7 
million). The cash flow from investing activities was €-152.0 
million (€-390.7 million) including a €21.8 million (€24.5 million) 
amount of proceeds from the sales of fixed assets.

The Group’s liquidity remained at an excellent level. Liquid 
assets totalled €681 million (€489 million). Interest-bearing 
liabilities were €554 million (€624 million) and interest-bear-
ing net debt €-126 million (€135 million) at the end of the year. 
Equity ratio was 54.5% (52.5%). 

The Group’s net finance costs were €5.8 million (€0.6 mil-
lion). The increase in net finance costs was attributable to the 
low Euribor rates which reduced the return on liquid assets.

TAxes
The Group’s taxes were €57.7 million (€74.6 million). The 
effective tax rate was 23.8% (35.5%), affected by loss-making 
foreign operations. The Group’s tax rate was affected by the 
reduction of the corporate tax rate to 20% effective from 1 
January 2014 in Finland, which is why deferred taxes of €14 
million were recognised as income. The impact of the tax rate 
change in the Group’s tax rate was 5.6 percentage points.

CAPITAL exPeNDITURe
The Group’s capital expenditure totalled €171.5 million (€378.3 
million), or 1.8% (3.9%) of net sales. Capital expenditure in 
store sites was €125.5 million (€310.0 million), in IT €22.9 mil-
lion (€22.1 million) and other capital expenditure was €23.2 
million (€46.1 million). Capital expenditure in foreign opera-
tions represented 41.3% (22.9%) of total capital expenditure.

kesko’s sTRATeGIC FoCUs AReAs AND 
PRoFITABILITY PRoGRAMMe
The key focus areas in Kesko’s business operations are to 
strengthen sales growth and the return on capital in all divi-
sions, to exploit business opportunities in e-commerce and in 
Russia, and to maintain good solvency and dividend payment 
capacity.

As a result of a weakened general economic situation, tight-
ened competition and an increase in the level of costs, Kesko is 
implementing the profitability programme announced previous-
ly, aimed to ensure price competitiveness and to improve profita-
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bility. The profitability programme includes significant measures 
aimed to increase sales, to enhance purchasing operations and to 
adjust costs, working capital and capital expenditure.

The Group level cost saving target of a total of around €100 
million was achieved in 2013. In 2013, Kesko’s operating ex-
penses were €1,767 million, representing a net decrease of €87 
million (-4.7%) from the previous year regardless of store site 
network expansion and cost inflation.

Measures for staff cost enhancement were implement-
ed as announced previously. In addition to terminations, 
reductions included reduced working hours and retirement 
arrangements. Other significant savings were implemented by 
adjusting especially marketing and store site expenses and by 
centralising ICT purchases. In addition, special enhancement 
measures were targeted at operations with low profitability. 

In the next few years, capital expenditure will be aligned 
with funds generated from operations to some €200-300 
million per year.

IMPRoVING ANTTILA’s PRoFITABILITY
In the home and speciality goods trade, the increase of online 
shopping and increased competition have considerably 
weakened the profitability of Anttila and the home technol-
ogy trade. In order to improve profitability, plans are made 
to close some rented store sites during the next two years. 
The closures are expected to cause non-recurring expenses 
amounting to approximately €20 to 30 million during the first 
quarter. Approximately one third of the current Anttila depart-
ment store network is planned to be closed. At the same time, 
the selection of products in the NetAnttila and Musta Pörssi 
online stores will be considerably expanded, and the Anttila 
and Kodin1 department store concepts will be renewed.

kesko Looks INTo seTTING UP A ReAL esTATe FUND
In 2013, Kesko reviewed the criteria on which store sites 
owned by it are classified as strategic and other properties. 
As at 31 December 2013, according to the new classification, 
53% of store sites were strategic, compared to 78% in the old 
classification.

Kesko is looking into selling some of its store sites to a fund to 
be set up with Kesko as one of its major investors. Kesko Group 
would continue its operations in the store sites under long-term 
leases signed in connection with their sales to the fund.

Kesko’s objective is to set up a fund of mainly Kesko-owned 
store sites and shopping centres in Finland, Sweden and Russia 
with a maximum fair value of approximately €750-950 million.

Launching the real estate investment fund depends, in ad-
dition to investor interest, on whether it is possible for Kesko 
to achieve such terms and conditions in the arrangement 
that are commercially viable for it, taking the Group’s strong 
financial position into account. Moreover, starting a real 
estate investment fund is subject to the authorisation of the 
Financial Supervisory Authority.

The possible fund is expected to be launched in the course 
of 2014.

PeRsoNNeL
The average number of employees in Kesko Group was 19,489 
(19,747) converted into full-time employees. In Finland, the 
average decrease was 426 people, while outside Finland, there 
was an increase of 168 people.

At the end of 2013, the number of employees was 23,863 
(24,080), of whom 12,776 (13,278) worked in Finland and 11,087 
(10,802) outside Finland. Compared to the end of 2012, there 
was a decrease of 502 people in Finland and an increase of 285 
people outside Finland.

The Group’s staff cost was €611.1 million, showing a 0.6% 
increase compared to the previous year. 

seGMeNT INFoRMATIoN
seAsoNAL NATURe oF oPeRATIoNs
The Group’s operating activities are affected by seasonal 
fluctuations. The net sales and operating profits of the 
reportable segments are not earned evenly throughout 
the year. Instead, they vary by quarter depending on the 
characteristics of each segment. 

FooD TRADe

1–12/2013 1–12/2012

Net sales, € million 4,387 4,311
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items,  
€ million 203.3 167.5
Operating margin excl. non-recurring items, % 4.6 3.9
Capital expenditure, € million 91.6 200.0

Net sales, € million 1–12/2013 Change, %

Sales to K-food stores 3,330 +0.1
Kespro 803 +2.0
K-ruoka, Russia 71 -
Others 184 -5.1
Total 4,387 +1.8

In the food trade, net sales were €4,387 million (€4,311 mil-
lion), up 1.8%. The grocery sales of K-food stores in Finland 
remained at the level of the previous year (VAT 0%). In the 
grocery market, retail prices are estimated to have changed 
by some +4% compared to the previous year (VAT 0%, Kesko’s 
own estimate based on the Consumer Price Index of Statistics 
Finland), and the total market (VAT 0%) is estimated to have 
grown by some 2.5% compared to the previous year (Kesko’s 
own estimate). The rise of consumer prices in the grocery 
trade has slowed towards the end of the reporting period. The 
sales and profitability of Kespro and the food stores in Russia 
were realised better than expected for the reporting period.

The operating profit excluding non-recurring items of the 
food trade was €203.3 million (€167.5 million), or €35.8 million 
up on the previous year. Profitability was improved by signif-
icant savings achieved from enhanced operations and by the 
adjustment of capital expenditure. Excluding the impact of 
expansion of Russian business operations, costs decreased by 
€31 million. Operating profit was €208.0 million (€170.2 mil-
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lion). Non-recurring income included €4.8 million (€2.7 
million) of gains on the disposals of properties. 

The capital expenditure of the food trade was €91.6 million 
(€200.0 million), of which €80.5 million (€187.1 million) in 
stores sites.

HoMe AND sPeCIALITY GooDs TRADe

1–12/2013 1–12/2012

Net sales, € million 1,457 1,603
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items,  
€ million -8.3 19.6
Operating margin excl. non-recurring items, % -0.6 1.2
Capital expenditure, € million 23.1 61.1

Net sales, € million 1–12/2013 Change, %

K-citymarket, home and speciality goods 628 -5.4
Anttila 391 -16.5
Intersport, Finland 190 +5.0
Intersport, Russia 18 -36.2
Indoor 182 -1.2
Musta Pörssi 29 -48.8
Kenkäkesko 21 -8.7
Total 1,457 -9.1

In the home and speciality goods trade, net sales were €1,457 
million (€1,603 million), down 9.1%. Consumer demand weak-
ened and the change in customer behaviour strengthened 
in the home and speciality goods trade during the reporting 
period. Sales declined especially in the department store 
trade. Net sales performance was also impacted by the ending 
of Musta Pörssi’s retailer business and the closing of unprofit-
able stores of Intersport Russia. The profitability of K-citymar-
ket home and speciality goods, Intersport Finland and Asko 
and Sotka remained at a good level.

The operating profit excluding non-recurring items of the 
home and speciality goods trade was €-8.3 million (€19.6 mil-
lion), down €27.9 million compared to the previous year. The 
performance was affected by the increased losses caused by the 
decreased sales of Anttila. The operating profit excluding non-re-
curring items of the comparative period was improved by the €9 
million amount recognised as revenue in connection with the 
transfer of the pension insurance portfolio. Cost savings from the 
implementation of the profitability programme as planned were 
€31 million. Operating profit was €-2.1 million (€0.0 million). 
Non-recurring items include gains on the disposals of properties 
in the amount of €4.1 million. In the previous year, non-recur-
ring items (€-19.5 million) included the non-recurring costs 
related to the reorganisation of the Musta Pörssi business.

The capital expenditure of the home and speciality goods 
trade was €23.1 million (€61.1 million).

BUILDING AND HoMe IMPRoVeMeNT TRADe 

1–12/2013 1–12/2012

Net sales, € million 2,607 2,827
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items,  
€ million 25.7 13.3
Operating margin excl. non-recurring items, % 1.0 0.5
Capital expenditure, € million 37.8 63.1

Net sales, € million 1–12/2013 Change, %

Rautakesko, Finland 1,173 -4.6
K-rauta, Sweden 205 -4.0
Byggmakker, Norway 470 -26.0
K-rauta, Estonia 69 +8.1
K-rauta, Latvia 52 +1.1
Senukai, Lithuania 263 -1.1
K-rauta, Russia 272 -4.2
OMA, Belarus 106 +22.7
Total 2,607 -7.8

In the building and home improvement trade, net sales were 
€2,607 million (€2,827 million), down 7.8%. Excluding the 
impact of retailer changes in Norway, net sales performance 
in terms of local currencies was -0.5%. The trend in construc-
tion activity still remained weak in Rautakesko’s operating 
area. Sales decrease was most significant in basic building 
materials.

In Finland, net sales were €1,173 million (€1,229 million), 
a decrease of 4.6%. The building and home improvement 
products contributed €794 million to the net sales in Finland, 
a decrease of 6.4%. The agricultural supplies trade contributed 
€379 million to net sales, down 0.5%. 

The retail sales of the K-rauta and Rautia chains in Finland 
decreased by 4.6% to €1,025 million (VAT 0%). The sales of 
Rautakesko B2B Service were down 10.7%. The retail sales 
of the K-maatalous chain were €460 million (VAT 0%) at the 
previous year’s level.

The net sales from the foreign operations of the building and 
home improvement trade were €1,435 million (€1,598 million), 
a decrease of 10.2%. In terms of local currencies and excluding 
the impact of retailer changes in Norway, the increase in the net 
sales from foreign operations was 2.8%. In Sweden, net sales in 
terms of kronas were down 4.6%. In Norway, net sales in terms 
of krones decreased by 22.7%, which was affected by the chang-
es that took place in the Byggmakker chain last year. New chain 
agreements for the retailer business in Norway came into force 
on 1 January 2014 and the company restructuring was complet-
ed in January 2014. In Russia, net sales in terms of roubles in-
creased by 1.6%. Foreign operations contributed 55.0% (56.5%) 
to the net sales of the building and home improvement trade.

The operating profit excluding non-recurring items of the 
building and home improvement trade was €25.7 million (€13.3 
million), up €12.4 million compared to the previous year. Due 
to enhancement measures, profit performance was clearly pos-
itive regardless of the decline in sales. Costs decreased by €21 
million. Operating profit was €24.8 million (€11.6 million).
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The capital expenditure of the building and home improve-
ment trade totalled €37.8 million (€63.1 million), of which 
44.1% (51.4%) abroad. Capital expenditure in store sites repre-
sented 88.0% of total capital expenditure.

CAR AND MACHINeRY TRADe

1–12/2013 1–12/2012

Net sales, € million 1,037 1,114
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items,  
€ million 33.9 41.9
Operating margin excl. non-recurring items, % 3.3 3.8
Capital expenditure, € million 15.1 26.6

Net sales, € million 1–12/2013 Change, %

VV-Auto 745 -5.7
Konekesko 293 -9.9
Total 1,037 -6.9

The net sales of the car and machinery trade were €1,037 mil-
lion (€1,114 million), down 6.9%. 

VV-Auto’s net sales were €745 million (€790 million), a 
decrease of 5.7%. The combined market performance of first 
time registered passenger cars and vans was -7.2%.

The combined market share of passenger cars and vans 
imported by VV-Auto was 20.6% (20.2%). Volkswagen was the 
market leader in both passenger cars and vans.

Konekesko’s net sales were €293 million (€325 million), 
down 9.9% compared to the previous year. Net sales in 
Finland were €178 million, down 15.7%. The net sales from 
Konekesko’s foreign operations were €116 million, up 0.2%. 

The operating profit excluding non-recurring items of the 
car and machinery trade was €33.9 million (€41.9 million), 
down €8.0 million compared to the previous year. Due to 
enhancement measures, profitability remained at a good level 
regardless of the decline in sales.

Operating profit was €33.9 million (€41.9 million). 
The capital expenditure of the car and machinery trade was 

€15.1 million (€26.6 million).

CHANGes IN THe GRoUP CoMPosITIoN
No significant changes took place in the Group composition 
during the reporting period.  

sHARes, seCURITIes MARkeT AND 
BoARD AUTHoRIsATIoNs 
At the end of December 2013, the total number of Kesko Corpora-
tion shares was 99,832,693, of which 31,737,007, or 31.8%, were A 
shares and 68,095,686, or 68.2%, were B shares. At 31 December 
2013, Kesko Corporation held 548,984 own B shares as treasury 
shares. These treasury shares accounted for 0.81% of the number 
of B shares and 0.55% of the total number of shares, and 0.14% 
of votes carried by all shares of the company. The total number of 
votes carried by all shares was 385,465,756. Each A share carries ten 
(10) votes and each B share one (1) vote. The company cannot vote 

with own shares held as treasury shares and no dividend is paid 
on them. At the end of December 2013, Kesko Corporation’s share 
capital was €197,282,584. During the financial year, the number 
of B shares was increased eight times to account for the shares 
subscribed for with the options based on the 2007 option scheme. 
The increases were made on 11 February 2013 (74,600 B shares), 2 
May 2013 (135,861 B shares), 5 June 2013 (592,619 B shares), 30 July 
2013 (116,773 B shares), 30 September 2013 (68,461 B shares), 30 Oc-
tober 2013 (6,100 B shares), 28 November 2013 (56,779 B shares) and 
on 27 December 2013 (69,160 B shares) and announced in a stock 
exchange notification on the same days. The shares subscribed for 
were listed for public trading on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki (Helsinki 
Stock Exchange) with the old B shares on 12 February 2013, 3 May 
2013, 6 June 2013, 31 July 2013, 1 October 2013, 31 October 2013, 29 
November 2013 and 30 December 2013. The subscription price 
of €19,554,663.12 received by the company was recorded in the 
reserve of invested non-restricted equity. 

The price of a Kesko A share quoted on NASDAQ OMX Hel-
sinki was €24.39 at the end of 2012, and €26.80 at the end of 
December 2013, representing an increase of 9.9%. Correspond-
ingly, the price of a B share was €24.77 at the end of 2012, and 
€26.80 at the end of December 2013, representing an increase 
of 8.2%. In January-December, the highest A share price was 
€27.55 and the lowest was €22.48. For B share, they were €27.80 
and €20.96 respectively. In January-December, the Helsinki 
stock exchange (OMX Helsinki) All-Share index was up 26.5% 
and the weighted OMX Helsinki CAP index was up 26.0%. 
Correspondingly, the Retail Index was down 0.6%.  

At the end of December 2013, the market capitalisation of A 
shares was €851 million, while that of B shares was €1,810 million, 
excluding the shares held by the parent company. The combined 
market capitalisation of A and B shares was €2,661 million, an 
increase of €243 million from the end of 2012. In January-Decem-
ber 2013, a total of 1.1 million (2.3 million) A shares was traded on 
the Helsinki stock exchange, down 50.3%. The exchange value of 
A shares was €28 million. The total number of B shares traded was 
51.3 million (68.5 million), down 25.0%. The exchange value of B 
shares was €1,238 million. In terms of volumes, the Helsinki stock 
exchange accounted for 68% of Kesko A and B share trading in 
2013. Kesko shares were also traded on multilateral trading facili-
ties, the most significant of which were BATS Chi-X with 22% and 
Turquoise with 9% of the trades (source: Fidessa).

 The company operates the 2007 option scheme for man-
agement and other key personnel, under which the share 
subscription period of 2007B share options ran from 1 April 
2011 to 30 April 2013 (subscription period has expired), and 
that of 2007C share options runs from 1 April 2012 to 30 April 
2014. The share options have been included on the official 
list of the Helsinki stock exchange since the beginning of the 
share subscription periods. During the reporting period, a 
total of 381,332 2007B share options were traded at a total value 
of €923,801, and a total of 401,466 2007C share options were 
traded at a total value of €4,751,525. The share subscription pe-
riod of 2007A share options under the option scheme expired 
and their trading on the official list ended in 2012.
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The Board has the authority, granted by the Annual General 
Meeting of 16 April 2012 and valid until 30 June 2015, to issue 
a total maximum of 20,000,000 new B shares. The shares can 
be issued against payment for subscription by shareholders in 
a directed issue in proportion to their existing shareholdings 
regardless of whether they consist of A or B shares, or, departing 
from the shareholder’s pre-emptive right, in a directed issue, 
if there is a weighty financial reason for the company, such as 
using the shares to develop the company’s capital structure, and 
financing possible acquisitions, investments or other arrange-
ments within the scope of the company’s business operations. 
The amount paid for the shares is recognised in the reserve of in-
vested non-restricted equity. The authorisation also includes the 
Board’s authority to decide on the share subscription price, the 
right to issue shares against non-cash consideration and the right 
to make decisions on other matters concerning share issuances. 

In addition, the Board has the authority, granted by the Annual 
General Meeting of 8 April 2013 and valid until 30 September 
2014, to decide on the acquisition of a maximum of 500,000 own 
B shares, and the authority, valid until 30 June 2017, to decide on 
the issuance of a maximum of 1,000,000 own B shares held as 
treasury shares by the company.

On 4 February 2013, based on the authority to issue own shares 
valid prior to the Annual General Meeting of 8 April 2013 and the 
fulfilment of the vesting criteria of the 2012 vesting period of Kes-
ko’s three-year share-based compensation plan, the Board decided 
to grant own B shares held as treasury shares by the company to 
people included in the target group of the 2012 vesting period. The 
issuance of the total of 66,331 own B shares, referred to above, was 
announced in a stock exchange release on 5 February 2013 and on 5 
April 2013. The latter release also announced that 866 own B shares 
had been returned to the company without consideration. During 
the reporting period, a total of 6,724 shares granted based on the 
fulfilment of the vesting criteria of the 2011 and 2012 vesting peri-
ods were returned to the company in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the share-based compensation plan. The shares 
returned during the reporting period were announced in the stock 
exchange release referred to above and in stock exchange notifi-
cations on 8 May 2013, 20 May 2013, 18 June 2013, 19 July 2013, 20 
August 2013, 9 October 2013 and 20 December 2013. Further infor-
mation on the Board’s authorisations is available at www.kesko.fi. 

At the end of December 2013, the number of shareholders 
was 42,809, which was 1,745 less than at the end of 2012. At the 
end of December, foreign ownership of all shares was 25%. At 
the end of December, foreign ownership of B shares was 36%.

FLAGGING NoTIFICATIoNs  
Kesko Corporation did not receive flagging notifications dur-
ing the reporting period.

keY eVeNTs DURING  
THe RePoRTING PeRIoD
Changes, effective 5 February 2013, took place in Kesko’s Group 
Management Board. Arja Talma, M.Sc. (Econ.), eMBA, 50, was 
appointed Senior Vice President responsible for Kesko Group’s 

store sites and investments. Terho Kalliokoski, M.Sc. (Econ.), 
51, was appointed Rautakesko Ltd’s President. Jorma Rauhala, 
M.Sc. (Econ.), 47, was appointed Kesko Food Ltd’s President. 
Starting from 5 February 2013, Kesko’s Group Management 
Board is composed of Matti Halmesmäki, Chair; Jorma Rau- 
hala, food trade; Minna Kurunsaari, home and speciality goods 
trade and Kesko’s customer information and e-commerce 
projects; Terho Kalliokoski, building and home improvement 
trade; Pekka Lahti, car and machinery trade; Arja Talma, store 
sites and investments; Jukka Erlund, CFO, accounting, finance 
and IT management; and Matti Mettälä, human resources and 
stakeholder relations. (Stock exchange release on 5 February 
2013)

On 5 April 2013, Kesko transferred a total of 66,331 own B 
shares (KESBV) held by the company as treasury shares to the 
about 150 Kesko management employees and other named 
key persons included in the target group of the 2012 vesting 
period of Kesko’s three-year share-based compensation plan. 
In the same context, 866 B shares, originally transferred to a 
person included in the target group of the 2011 vesting period 
of the share-based compensation plan, were returned to Kesko 
without consideration. After the transfer and return of shares, 
Kesko held 543,126 own B shares as treasury shares. (Stock 
exchange release on 5 April 2013)

With effect from 1 January 2013, Kesko Group adopted the 
revised IAS 19 Employee benefits standard. The amendment 
had an impact on Kesko Group’s pension costs and profit, as 
well as the pension assets and equity on the balance sheet. 
Resulting from the amendment, Kesko’s consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of financial position and 
segment information for 2012 were updated in compliance 
with the requirements prescribed in the revised standard. 
(Stock exchange release on 11 April 2013)

Kesko announced that it was looking into selling some of 
the store sites it owns to a fund to be set up with Kesko as one 
of its significant investors. Kesko Group would continue its 
operations in the store sites under long-term leases signed in 
connection with their sales to the fund. The possible fund is 
expected to be launched in the course of 2014. (Stock ex-
change release on 29 November 2013)

ResoLUTIoNs oF THe 2013 ANNUAL 
GeNeRAL MeeTING AND DeCIsIoNs oF 
THe BoARD’s oRGANIsATIoNAL MeeTING 
Kesko Corporation’s Annual General Meeting, held on 8 
April 2013, adopted the financial statements for 2012 and 
discharged the Board members and the Managing Director 
from liability. The General Meeting also resolved, as pro-
posed by the Board, to distribute €1.20 per share, or a total of 
€117,892,576.80 as dividends. The dividend pay date was 18 
April 2013. The General Meeting resolved that the number of 
Board members is unchanged at seven, elected Pricewater-
houseCoopers Oy as the company’s auditor, with APA Johan 
Kronberg as the auditor with principal responsibility, and 
approved the Board’s proposals for amending Article 9 of the 
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Articles of Association concerning the delivery of the notice 
of a General Meeting, for authorising the Board to acquire a 
maximum of 500,000 own B shares and to issue a maximum 
of 1,000,000 own B shares held as treasury shares by the com-
pany. The General Meeting also approved the Board’s proposal 
that it be authorised to decide on the donations in a total max-
imum of €300,000 for charitable or corresponding purposes 
until the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2014.

The organisational meeting of the company’s Board of Direc-
tors, held after the Annual General Meeting, kept the composi-
tions of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee 
unchanged.

The resolutions of the Annual General Meeting and the deci-
sions of the Board’s organisational meeting were announced in 
more detail in stock exchange releases on 8 April 2013.

ResPoNsIBILITY 
In January, Kesko was included on ‘The Global 100 Most 
Sustainable Corporations in the World’ list for the ninth time. 
Kesko was classified into the bronze class in the Food & Drug 
Retailers sector in RobecoSAM’s Sustainability Yearbook 2013.

Kesko published its updated responsibility programme, 
which sets both short- and long-term objectives for the opera-
tions of Kesko and the whole K-Group up to 2020.

Kesko and K-retailers joined the Youth Guarantee effort pro-
moting employment and preventing social exclusion among 
young people. A tailored programme has been built for the 
K-Group to employ young people in K-stores and Kesko.

Kesko and K-stores took part in the Earth Hour 2013 event in 
March by turning off the illuminated signs and pylons in their re-
mote controlled properties and stores across Finland for one hour.

In March, as in the two previous years, Kesko was awarded 
by World Finance Magazine for ‘the Best Corporate Govern-
ance in Finland’ in terms of corporate governance develop-
ment and reporting.

Kesko’s 13th Corporate Responsibility Report was published 
in May. The theme of report is Let’s do good. Together. The 
2012 report provides information on the objectives, actions 
and results of Kesko’s responsibility programme and work.

Kesko Fair Play scholarships were granted to over 2,800 
pupils who had promoted peace and tolerance, motivation 
in schoolwork and a positive atmosphere in their schools 
with their exemplary behaviour. The scholarship recipients 
were selected by comprehensive schools across Finland from 
among their grade nine pupils. The scholarship total amount-
ed to nearly €150,000. 

Kodin1 opened the first passive retail store building in Fin-
land and the Nordic countries in Raisio. The department store 
saves energy with the help of lighting solutions, demand-con-
trolled ventilation, building automation and airtight structures.

Kesko arranged a Mothers’ Day event at Kaivopuisto in 
Helsinki, where 10,000 Pirkka Fairtrade roses were given to 
mothers and grandmothers. Another 10,000 were handed out 
at maternity wards in Hyvinkää, Turku, Tampere, Lahti, Seinä-
joki, Jyväskylä, Kuopio, Oulu, Espoo and Helsinki.

Kesko’s Board of Directors granted scholarships to talented 
young athletes and art students. The total scholarship amount 
was €40,000.

In September, Kesko was included in the Dow Jones Sus-
tainability Indices DJSI World and DJSI Europe for the 11th 
time. Kesko’s total score increased from the previous year 
and it received the highest score in its sector in the economic 
dimension.

Kesko was selected for the new UN Global Compact 100 
stock index composed of 100 companies selected from among 
the Global Compact signatories on the basis of a global re-
sponsibility evaluation. 

The Veturi shopping centre located in Kouvola achieved a 
BREEAM Very Good Certificate, receiving an especially high 
score in the energy category of the assessment. Veturi was 
opened in autumn 2012 and it is one of Kesko’s largest shop-
ping centre projects ever.

In October, Kesko scored highest in its sector in CDP’s 
Nordic Climate Disclosure Leadership index rating. Kesko is 
featured at the top of the index for a third consecutive time 
and improved its previous score by 10 points (98/100).

Matti Kalervo, Master of Science in Technology, was ap-
pointed Vice President responsible for Kesko’s responsibility 
and product safety starting from 1 November 2013.

In November, Kesko’s Corporate Responsibility Report 2012 
was chosen as Finland’s best in the 2013 Sustainability Report-
ing Award Finland Competition. Kesko’s report was also ranked 
the best by the media and non-governmental organisations.

Kesko and K-stores were the national partner of the Salva-
tion Army’s Christmas Kettle collection. 

In December, K-stores, the Association for Finnish Work, 
food manufacturers and the home and speciality goods 
industry launched a cooperation campaign for Finnish work 
running throughout 2014.

INFoRMATIoN CoNTAINeD IN THe 
NoTes To THe FINANCIAL sTATeMeNTs
Information on the Group’s personnel is disclosed in note 6 to 
the financial statements.

Information on options, shares under options and voting 
rights is disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

Related party transactions are disclosed in note 33 to the 
financial statements.

Kesko Group is not engaged in significant research and 
development activities.

In April 2014, Kesko will publish a separate Corporate 
Responsibility Report which analyses the Group’s perfor-
mance in economic, social and environmental responsibility. 
An assurance statement will be provided by an independent 
external party.

RIsk MANAGeMeNT
Kesko’s risk management is proactive and an integral part of 
its management and day-to-day activities. The objective of 
risk management is to ensure the delivery of customer promises, 
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profit performance, dividend payment capacity, shareholder 
value, the implementation of responsible operating practices and 
the continuity of operations in Kesko Group.

Risk management in Kesko Group is guided by the risk man-
agement policy confirmed by Kesko’s Board of Directors. The pol-
icy defines the objectives and principles, organisation, respon-
sibilities and practices of risk management in Kesko Group. The 
management of financial risks is based on the Group’s finance 
policy, which is confirmed by Kesko’s Board of Directors. The 
business division and Group managements are responsible for 
the execution of risk management.

Kesko Group applies a business-oriented and comprehensive 
approach to risk assessment and management. This means that 
key risks are systematically identified, assessed, managed, mon-
itored and reported at the Group, division, company and unit 
levels in all operating countries.

Kesko has a uniform risk assessment and reporting system. 
Risk identification is based on business objectives and opportu-
nities and the defined risk appetite. Risks are prioritised on the 
basis of their significance by assessing the impact and proba-
bility of their materialisation and the level of risk management. 
When assessing the impact of materialisation, the impacts on 
reputation, people’s wellbeing and the environment are consid-
ered in addition to financial impacts.

In connection with the strategy process, the divisions assess 
the risks and opportunities concerning each strategic period. 
Near-future risks are identified and assessed in accordance with 
the rolling planning framework. Risk assessment also covers the 
risks concerning significant projects.

A division’s risk assessment, which includes a risk map, risk 
management responses, responsible persons and schedules, 
is considered regularly by the division’s management board or 
the division parent company’s Board. The Group functions also 
assess the risks concerning their responsibility areas. 

Risks and management responses are reported in accordance 
with Kesko’s reporting responsibilities. The divisions report on 
risks and changes in risks to the Group’s risk management func-
tion on a quarterly basis. Risks are discussed by the risk reporting 
team, which includes representatives of the divisions and the 
Group functions. On that basis, the Group’s risk management 
function prepares the Group’s risk map, which presents the most 
significant risks and uncertainties and their management.

The Group’s risk map is considered by the Kesko Board’s Audit 
Committee in connection with considering the quarterly interim 
reports and the financial statements. The Chair of the Audit 
Committee reports on risk management to the Board as part of 
the Audit Committee’s report. The Kesko Board considers Kesko 
Group’s most significant risks and uncertainties and their man-
agement responses, and assesses the efficiency and performance 
of risk management at least once a year. The most significant 
risks and uncertainties are reported to the market by the Board 
in the financial statements, and any material changes in them in 
the interim reports.

The following describes the risks and uncertainties as-
sessed as significant.

sIGNIFICANT RIsks AND 
UNCeRTAINTIes
Slow economic growth, increases in taxes and public payments 
resulting from the indebtedness of the public sector, coupled 
with increasing unemployment, will weaken purchasing power 
and consumer confidence and may cause a long-term decline in 
the level of demand. This would negatively impact on the home 
and speciality goods trade, the building and home improvement 
trade and the car and machinery trade in particular. In the food 
trade, price is becoming increasingly important.

E-services and e-commerce are becoming increasingly pop-
ular in the retail trade. International e-commerce is increasing 
consumers’ alternatives, while buying and marketing of products 
and services has become more personalised and increasingly 
take place online. Buying decisions are often made based on 
online information. The achievement of business objectives 
requires an active approach and solid competencies in the 
development of attractive e-services and retail websites, the 
utilisation of a multi-channel approach and electronic customer 
communications to support it. The risk is that the progress of our 
e-commerce and e-service development projects is outpaced by 
competitors, or that competing online stores and e-services are 
more attractive to customers.

Economic development in Russia has slowed. It is essential for 
the profitability and expansion of operations to succeed in the 
acquisition and building of well-located store sites, the develop-
ment of the existing network and store concepts, purchasing and 
logistics operations, as well as the recruitment of personnel. The 
country risks in Russia, such as corruption, unpredictability of 
officials and rapid changes in laws and their application, coupled 
with unexpected changes in the operating environment can 
delay expansion and make business operations more difficult. 

The implementation of changes in business operations 
requires efficient management and control systems and in-
formation systems to support them. Increasing Kesko Food’s 
market share in Finland, implementing changes in Rautakesko’s 
business operations and expanding in Russia and the integration 
of K-citymarket home and speciality goods with Anttila, along 
with related changes in business operations and concepts, for 
example, are long-term projects. Failures in choosing competi-
tive advantages, in change management, technological choices 
and in the adoption of new operating models and systems would 
delay the implementation of changes in business operations.

Kesko’s chain operations are, contrary to most competitors, 
based on a retailer business model to a significant extent. The 
competitive advantages of the retailer business model include 
the retailer’s knowledge of local customers and the ability to 
rapidly respond to changes in customer needs or competitive 
situations. Decision-making concerning the development of the 
chains’ operations and the implementation of changes in busi-
ness operations can, however, be outpaced by competitors.

Effective from the beginning of 2014, the Finnish competition 
legislation was amended to the effect that, unlike in the rest of 
the EU area, the prohibition of abuse of dominant position in 
the market can be applied to companies whose national market 
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share in the groceries retail markets exceeds 30 percent. Accord-
ing to the new law, Kesko Food is in a dominant market position. 
Special obligations have been imposed on companies with 
dominant market position, which can weaken the trading sec-
tor’s possibilities to serve customers and operate efficiently. The 
implications of a dominant market position are partly open to in-
terpretation. An erroneous interpretation may result in monetary 
penalties, liability for damages and weakened reputation.

The trading sector is characterised by increasingly complicated 
and long supply chains and a higher dependency on information 
systems, data communications and external service providers. 
Failures in information systems and payment transactions or 
in other parts of the supply chain can cause significant losses in 
sales and decrease customer satisfaction.

For the purpose of increasing market share, good store sites 
are a key competitive factor. The acquisition of store sites can be 
delayed by zoning and permit procedures and the availability and 
pricing of sites. Considerable amounts of capital or lease liabil-
ities are tied up in store properties for many years. As the share 
of e-commerce grows or the market situation changes, there is 
a risk that a store site becomes unprofitable and operations are 
discontinued while long-term liabilities remain.

A failure in product safety control or in the quality assurance 
of the supply chain can result in financial losses, the loss of 
customer confidence or, in the worst case, a health hazard to 
customers.

The implementation of strategies and achievement of objec-
tives require competent and motivated personnel. There is the 
risk that the trading sector does not attract the most competent 
people. A growing need for special competencies increases the 
dependency on individual expertise and the key person risk. 

In divisions strongly dependent on individual principals 
and suppliers, such as the car and machinery trade, ownership 
arrangements and changes in a principal’s or supplier’s strategy 
concerning product selections, pricing and distribution channel 
solutions can mean weakened competitiveness, decreased sales, 
or loss of business.

Crimes are increasingly committed through data networks and 
crime is becoming more international and professional. A failure 
especially in the protection of payment transactions and person-
al information can cause losses, claims for damages and harm 
to reputation. There is a risk that controls against such crime are 
not sufficient.

Different aspects of responsibility, such as the ethicality of 
the production and supply chains, fair and equal treatment 
of employees and environmental protection are increasingly 
important for customers. Possible failures of responsibility 
would result in negative publicity for Kesko. Kesko’s challenges 
in responsibility work include communicating its responsibil-
ity policies to customers, suppliers and retailers, and ensuring 
responsibility in the supply chain.

Compliance with laws and agreements is an important part 
of Kesko’s responsibility. Non-compliance can result in fines, 
compensations for damages and other financial losses, and a loss 
of confidence and reputation.

Kesko’s objective is to produce and publish reliable and timely 
information. If some information published by Kesko proved to 
be incorrect, or communications failed to meet regulations in 
other respects, it could result in loss of investor and other stake-
holder confidence and in possible sanctions.

Accidents, natural phenomena and epidemics can cause 
damages or business interruptions which cannot be prevented. 
There is also the risk that insurances do not cover all unexpected 
accidents and damages.

Other risks and uncertainties related to profit performance are 
described in the Group’s future outlook.

FUTURe oUTLook
Estimates of the future outlook for Kesko Group’s net sales 
and operating profit excluding non-recurring items are given 
for the 12 months following the reporting period (1/2014-
12/2014) in comparison with the 12 months preceding the 
reporting period (1/2013-12/2013).

Future prospects for the general economic situation and 
consumer demand continue to be characterised by significant 
uncertainty. In consequence of weakened employment and 
consumers’ purchasing power, the growth prospects for the 
trading sector still remain weak. 

In the Finnish grocery trade, the market is expected to re-
main stable. As a result of the weakened economic situation, 
the demand in the home and speciality goods trade, the build-
ing and home improvement trade and the car and machinery 
trade is expected to remain weak.

Kesko Group’s net sales and the operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items for the next twelve months are expected 
to remain at the level of the preceding twelve months, unless 
the overall consumer demand weakens significantly.

PRoPosAL FoR PRoFIT DIsTRIBUTIoN
The parent’s distributable profits are €1,218,801,719.88, of 
which the profit for the financial year is €174,655,403.71.

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 7 April 2014 that a dividend of €1.40 per 
share be paid on shares held outside the company at the date 
of dividend distribution. No dividend is paid on own shares 
held by the company as treasury shares at the record date of 
dividend distribution.

At the date of the proposal for distributions of profits, 3 Feb-
ruary 2014, a total of 99,283,709 shares were held outside the 
Company, amounting to a total dividend of €138,997,192.60.

ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeeTING
The Board of Directors decided to convene the Annual General 
Meeting at Messukeskus Helsinki on 7 April 2014 at 13.00. Kesko 
Corporation will publish a notice of the General Meeting at a later 
date.

CoRPoRATe GoVeRNANCe sTATeMeNT
Kesko will publish a separate Corporate Governance Statement 
on its website at www.kesko.fi.
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Group’s KeY perFormance indicators
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Income statement
Net sales € million 8,447 8,777 9,460 9,686 9,315
Change in net sales % -11.9 3.9 7.8 2.4 -3.8

Operating profit excl. non-recurring items € million 155 268 279 230 239
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items as percentage of net sales % 1.8 3.1 2.9 2.4 2.6

Profit for the year (incl. non-controlling interests) € million 134 216 197 136 185
Profit for the year as percentage of net sales % 1.6 2.5 2.1 1.4 2.0

Profitability
Return on equity % 6.6 10.1 8.8 6.0 8.0
Return on equity excl. non-recurring items % 3.8 8.7 8.8 6.9 7.7
Return on capital employed % 11.0 16.0 13.2 8.3 10.2
Return on capital employed excl. non-recurring items % 7.4 14.0 13.1 9.0 9.8

Funding and financial position
Interest-bearing net debt € million -258.5 -370.5 32.8 135.3 -126.4
Gearing % -12.5 -16.8 1.5 6.0 -5.4
Equity ratio % 54.2 53.5 53.9 52.5 54.5
Interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA -0.7 -0.9 0.1 0.4 -0.3

Other performance indicators
Capital expenditure € million 198 325 425 378 171
Capital expenditure as percentage of net sales % 2.3 3.7 4.5 3.9 1.8

Cash flow from operating activities € million 379 438 216 382 414
Cash flow from investing activities € million 31 -240 -441 -391 -152

Personnel, average for the period 19,200 18,215 18,960 19,747 19,489
Personnel, as at 31 Dec. 22,207 22,124 23,375 24,080 23,863
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2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Share performance indicators
Earnings/share, diluted € 1.27 2.06 1.84 1.26 1.75
Earnings/share, basic € 1.28 2.08 1.85 1.27 1.75
Earnings/share excl. non-recurring items, basic € 0.71 1.78 1.84 1.47 1.68

Equity/share € 20.39 21.81 22.29 22.48 22.96
Dividend/share € 0.90 1.30 1.20 1.20 1.40*
Payout ratio % 70.5 62.6 64.9 94.5 79.9*
Payout ratio excl. non-recurring items % 126.9 72.9 65.3 81.8 83.3*
Cash flow from operating activities/share, adjusted € 3.86 4.45 2.20 3.88 4.17

Price/earnings ratio (P/E), A share, adjusted 18.55 16.82 13.55 19.30 15.35
Price/earnings ratio (P/E), B share, adjusted 18.14 16.93 14.14 19.60 15.35
Effective dividend yield, A share % 3.8 3.7 4.8 4.9 5.2*
Effective dividend yield, B share % 3.9 3.7 4.6 4.8 5.2*

Share price as at 31 Dec.
A share € 23.60 34.70 24.82 24.39 26.80
B share € 23.08 34.93 25.96 24.77 26.80
Average share price
A share € 21.92 30.42 29.20 23.71 24.85
B share € 19.18 29.83 29.36 22.75 24.11

Market capitalisation as at 31 Dec., A share € million 749 1,101 788 774 851
Market capitalisation as at 31 Dec., B share € million 1,537 2,337 1,719 1,644 1,810

Turnover
A share Million pcs 1 4 2 2 1
B share Million pcs 78 53 63 68 51
Relative turnover rate
A share % 3.1 13.8 6.6 7.6 3.6
B share % 117.4 78.8 94.6 102.0 77.0

Diluted number of shares as at 31 Dec. Thousand pcs 98,382 99,121 98,919 98,472 99,136

Yield of A share for the last five periods % 10.0 11.6 -5.0 -4.4 8.3
Yield of B share 

For the last five periods % 12.4 12.0 -4.9 -3.8 13.3
For the last ten periods % 13.3 17.1 13.5 12.4 11.9

* Proposal to the General Meeting       
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Net sales by segment 

€ million  1–12/2013  1–12/2012 Change, %

Food trade 4,316 4,308 0.2
Food trade, other countries* 71 3 (..)
Food trade total 4,387 4,311 1.8
- of which inter-segment sales 172 172 -0.2

Home and speciality goods trade, Finland 1,424 1,557 -8.6
Home and speciality goods trade, other countries* 33 45 -27.6
Home and speciality goods trade total 1,457 1,603 -9.1
- of which inter-segment sales 17 18 -5.5

Building and home improvement trade, Finland 1,173 1,229 -4.6
Building and home improvement trade, other countries* 1,435 1,598 -10.2
Building and home improvement trade total 2,607 2,827 -7.8
- of which inter-segment sales -1 0 (..)

Car and machinery trade, Finland 921 998 -7.7
Car and machinery trade, other countries* 116 116 0.3
Car and machinery trade total 1,037 1,114 -6.9
- of which inter-segment sales 1 1 0.9

Common operations and eliminations -173 -169 2.4
Finland total 7,661 7,924 -3.3
Other countries total* 1,654 1,762 -6.1
Group total 9,315 9,686 -3.8

* Net sales in countries other than Finland

Operating profit by segment   

€ million  1–12/2013  1–12/2012 Change

Food trade 208.0 170.2 37.8
Home and speciality goods trade -2.1 0.0 -2.1
Building and home improvement trade 24.8 11.6 13.3
Car and machinery trade 33.9 41.9 -8.0
Common operations and eliminations -16.3 -11.8 -4.5
Group total 248.4 212.0 36.4

Operating profit excl. non-recurring items by segment   

€ million  1–12/2013  1–12/2012 Change

Food trade 203.3 167.5 35.8
Home and speciality goods trade -8.3 19.6 -27.9
Building and home improvement trade 25.7 13.3 12.4
Car and machinery trade 33.9 41.9 -8.0
Common operations and eliminations -15.8 -12.2 -3.5
Group total 238.8 230.0 8.8
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Group’s performance indicators by quarter        

 1–3/2012  4–6/2012  7–9/2012  10–12/2012  1–3/2013  4–6/2013  7–9/2013  10–12/2013

Net sales, € million 2,318 2,460 2,449 2,459 2,159 2,420 2,374 2,362
Change in net sales, % 10.2 -0.5 1.9 -0.9 -6.9 -1.6 -3.1 -3.9
Operating profit, € million 25.1 57.7 77.4 51.8 19.2 77.0 84.1 68.0
Operating margin, % 1.1 2.3 3.2 2.1 0.9 3.2 3.5 2.9
Operating profit excl. non-recurring items, € million 22.3 59.4 77.4 70.9 18.6 69.8 83.6 66.8
Operating margin excl. 
non-recurring items, % 1.0 2.4 3.2 2.9 0.9 2.9 3.5 2.8
Finance income/costs, € million -0.1 -0.3 -1.3 1.1 -3.3 0.4 -2.6 -0.4
Profit before tax, € million 25.0 57.3 76.1 52.1 15.8 77.2 81.5 67.9
Profit before tax, % 1.1 2.3 3.1 2.1 0.7 3.2 3.4 2.9
Return on capital employed, % 4.1 8.9 11.9 8.0 3.1 12.3 14.2 11.5
Return on capital employed excl. 
non-recurring items, % 3.6 9.2 11.9 10.9 3.0 11.1 14.1 11.3
Return on equity, % 3.1 7.1 9.6 4.4 1.9 9.5 10.2 10.8
Return on equity excl. non-recurring items, % 2.8 7.3 9.6 8.0 1.8 8.6 10.1 10.6
Equity ratio, % 52.8 51.2 51.3 52.5 51.7 50.5 52.9 54.5
Capital expenditure, € million 104.1 67.8 102.6 103.8 41.5 48.1 35.4 46.6
Earnings/share, diluted, € 0.16 0.37 0.50 0.23 0.11 0.50 0.53 0.60
Equity/share, € 22.56 21.72 22.33 22.48 22.62 21.79 22.39 22.96

       

Net sales by segment           

€ million  1–3/2012  4–6/2012  7–9/2012  10–12/2012  1–3/2013  4–6/2013  7–9/2013  10–12/2013

Food trade 1,010 1,091 1,078 1,132 1,045 1,099 1,095 1,148
Home and speciality goods trade 369 352 395 487 345 322 351 439
Building and home improvement trade 629 782 759 657 562 740 710 596
Car and machinery trade 353 274 259 227 249 301 260 226
Common operations and eliminations -42 -41 -41 -45 -42 -41 -43 -46
Group total 2,318 2,460 2,449 2,459 2,159 2,420 2,374 2,362

       

Operating profit by segment       

€ million  1–3/2012  4–6/2012  7–9/2012  10–12/2012  1–3/2013  4–6/2013  7–9/2013  10–12/2013

Food trade 37.4 38.6 49.4 44.8 48.2 55.1 56.5 48.3
Home and speciality goods trade -12.9 -0.7 0.9 12.8 -17.7 -5.6 -2.1 23.3
Building and home improvement trade -9.0 13.5 17.9 -10.8 -16.1 18.0 23.9 -1.0
Car and machinery trade 15.5 10.3 11.4 4.7 7.8 13.0 9.8 3.3
Common operations and eliminations -5.9 -4.0 -2.2 0.3 -3.0 -3.4 -4.0 -5.9
Group total 25.1 57.7 77.4 51.8 19.2 77.0 84.1 68.0

       

Operating profit excl. non-recurring items by segment       

€ million  1–3/2012  4–6/2012  7–9/2012  10–12/2012  1–3/2013  4–6/2013  7–9/2013  10–12/2013

Food trade 34.7 38.6 49.4 44.8 48.2 50.8 56.0 48.3
Home and speciality goods trade -12.9 -0.7 0.9 32.3 -17.8 -10.0 -2.2 21.6
Building and home improvement trade -9.0 15.2 17.9 -10.8 -16.6 19.5 23.9 -1.1
Car and machinery trade 15.5 10.3 11.4 4.7 7.8 13.0 9.8 3.3
Common operations and eliminations -5.9 -4.0 -2.2 -0.1 -3.0 -3.4 -4.0 -5.4
Group total 22.3 59.4 77.4 70.9 18.6 69.8 83.6 66.8
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CALCULATIoN oF PeRFoRMANCe INDICAToRs 
  
Profitability 

Return on equity, % =
(Profit/loss before tax − income tax) 

x 100
Shareholders' equity

Return on equity excl.  
non-recurring items, % =

(Profit/loss adjusted for non-recurring items before tax −  
income tax adjusted for the tax effect of non-recurring items)  

x 100
Shareholders' equity

Return on capital employed, % =
Operating profit

x 100
(Non-current assets + inventories + receivables + other current assets −  
non-interest-bearing liabilities) for a 12 month average

Return on capital employed 
excluding non-recurring items, %

=
Operating profit excluding non-recurring items

x 100
(Non-current assets + inventories + receivables + other current assets −  
non-interest-bearing liabilities) for a 12 month average

EBITDA = Operating profit + depreciation and amortisation + impairments

Funding and financial position 

Equity ratio, % =
Shareholders' equity 

x 100
(Balance sheet total − prepayments received)

Gearing, % =
Interest-bearing net debt

x 100
Shareholders' equity

Interest-bearing net debt = Interest-bearing liabilities − money market investments − financial assets

Interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA =
Interest-bearing net debt

EBITDA

Share performance indicators 

Earnings/share, diluted =
Profit/loss − non-controlling interests

Average number of shares adjusted for the dilutive effect of options

Earnings/share, basic =
Profit/loss − non-controlling interests

Average number of shares

Earnings/share excl.  
non-recurring items, basic

=
Profit/loss adjusted for non-recurring items − non-controlling interests

Average number of shares

Equity/share =
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Basic number of shares at balance sheet date

Payout ratio, % =
(Dividend/share) 

x 100
(Earnings/share)

Price/earnings ratio, (P/E) =
Share price at balance sheet date

(Earnings/share)

Effective dividend yield, % =
(Dividend/share) 

x 100
Share price at balance sheet date

Market capitalisation = Share price at balance sheet date × number of shares

Cash flow from operating 
activities/share =

Cash flow from operating activities

Average number of shares

Yields of A share and B share = Change in share price + annual dividend yield
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analYsis oF shareholdinG     
ANALYsIs oF sHAReHoLDING BY sHAReHoLDeR TYPe As AT 31 DeC. 2013    

All shares 
Number of  
shares, pcs

Percentage of  
all shares, %

Non-financial corporations and housing corporations 30,140,191 30.19
Financial and insurance corporations 4,285,780 4.29
General government* 5,900,063 5.91
Households 28,696,254 28.74
Non-profit institutions** 6,220,119 6.23
Rest of the world 411,962 0.41
Nominee registered 24,178,324 24.22
Total 99,832,693 100.00

A shares 
Number of  
shares, pcs

Percentage of  
A shares, %

Percentage of  
all shares, %

Non-financial corporations and housing corporations 21,489,460 67.71 21.53
Financial and insurance corporations 1,456,292 4.59 1.46
General government* 291,122 0.92 0.29
Households 6,486,430 20.44 6.50
Non-profit institutions** 1,600,372 5.04 1.60
Rest of the world 6,521 0.02 0.01
Nominee registered 406,810 1.28 0.41
Total 31,737,007 100.00 31.79

B shares 
Number of 
shares, pcs

Percentage of  
B shares, %

Percentage of  
all shares, %

Non-financial corporations and housing corporations 8,650,731 12.70 8.67
Financial and insurance corporations 2,829,488 4.16 2.83
General government* 5,608,941 8.24 5.62
Households 22,209,824 32.62 22.25
Non-profit institutions** 4,619,747 6.78 4.63
Rest of the world 405,441 0.60 0.41
Nominee registered 23,771,514 34.91 23.81
Total 68,095,686 100.00 68.21

* General government, for example, municipalities, the provincial administration of Åland, authorised pension provider and social security funds  
** Non-profit institutions, for example, foundations awarding scholarships, organisations safeguarding certain interests and various charitable associations 
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ANALYsIs oF sHAReHoLDING BY NUMBeR oF sHARes HeLD As AT 31 DeC. 2013 

All shares 
Number of 

shareholders, pcs
Percentage of 

shareholders, % Share total, pcs
Percentage

of shares, %

Number of shares 

1−100 13,715 32.04 780,839 0.78
101−500 15,960 37.28 4,336,103 4.34
501−1,000 5,639 13.17 4,438,854 4.45
1,001−5,000 5,783 13.51 12,760,982 12.78
5,001−10,000 921 2.15 6,570,692 6.58
10,001−50,000 644 1.50 13,178,287 13.20
50,001−100,000 84 0.20 5,957,643 5.97
100,001−500,000 46 0.11 9,510,318 9.53
500,001−999,999,999,999 17 0.04 42,298,975 42.37
Total 42,809 100.00 99,832,693 100.00

A shares
Number of  

shareholders, pcs

Percentage of
holders of

A shares, %
A share

total, pcs
Percentage of

A shares, %

Number of shares

1−100 2,311 31.26 111,015 0.35
101−500 1,763 23.85 457,068 1.44
501−1,000 1,026 13.88 878,504 2.77
1,001−5,000 1,549 20.95 3,787,375 11.93
5,001−10,000 389 5.26 2,737,107 8.62
10,001−50,000 304 4.11 6,564,045 20.68
50,001−100,000 34 0.46 2,395,446 7.55
100,001−500,000 12 0.16 2,894,270 9.12
500,001−999,999,999,999 5 0.07 11,912,177 37.53
Total 7,393 100.00 31,737,007 100.00

B shares
Number of  

shareholders, pcs

Percentage of
holders of

B shares, %
B share

total, pcs
Percentage of

B shares, %

Number of shares

1−100 12,367 32.63 720,484 1.06
101−500 15,064 39.74 4,100,398 6.02
501−1,000 4,901 12.93 3,799,253 5.58
1,001−5,000 4,589 12.11 9,754,809 14.33
5,001−10,000 541 1.43 3,875,931 5.69
10,001−50,000 356 0.94 7,084,038 10.40
50,001−100,000 44 0.12 3,209,592 4.71
100,001−500,000 27 0.07 6,012,899 8.83
500,001−999,999,999,999 13 0.03 29,538,282 43.38
Total 37,902 100.00 68,095,686 100.00



78    kesko 2013

kesko 2013

10 LARGesT sHAReHoLDeRs BY NUMBeR oF sHARes HeLD As AT 31 DeC. 2013   

Number of
shares, pcs

Percentage 
of shares, %

Number
of votes

Percentage
of votes, %

1. K-Retailers' Association 3,627,904 3.63 36,279,040 9.41
2. Vähittäiskaupan Takaus Oy 3,491,771 3.50 27,148,568 7.04
3. Kruunuvuoren Satama Oy 3,438,885 3.44 34,388,850 8.92
4. Valluga-sijoitus Oy 1,340,439 1.34 13,404,390 3.48
5. Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1,150,000 1.15 1,150,000 0.30
6. Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1,130,986 1.13 1,130,986 0.29
7. Foundation for Vocational Training in the Retail Trade 1,028,744 1.03 8,916,488 2.31
8. Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1,001,587 1.00 3,611,245 0.94
9. Oy The English Tearoom Ab 1,000,000 1.00 1,000,000 0.26

10. The State Pension Fund 608,000 0.61 608,000 0.16

10 LARGesT sHAReHoLDeRs BY NUMBeR oF VoTes As AT 31 DeC. 2013     
   

Number of
shares, pcs

Percentage 
of shares, %

Number
of votes

Percentage
of votes, %

1. K-Retailers' Association 3,627,904 3.63 36,279,040 9.41
2. Kruunuvuoren Satama Oy 3,438,885 3.44 34,388,850 8.92
3. Vähittäiskaupan Takaus Oy 3,491,771 3.50 27,148,568 7.04
4. Valluga-sijoitus Oy 1,340,439 1.34 13,404,390 3.48
5. Foundation for Vocational Training in the Retail Trade 1,028,744 1.03 8,916,488 2.31
6. Heimo Välinen Oy 430,000 0.43 4,300,000 1.12
7. K-Food Retailers' Club 420,473 0.42 4,204,730 1.09
8. Food Paradise Oy 389,541 0.39 3,895,410 1.01
9. Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1,001,587 1.00 3,611,245 0.94

10. A. Toivakka Oy 211,450 0.21 1,934,500 0.50

MANAGeMeNT’s sHAReHoLDINGs

At the end of December 2013, Kesko Corporation’s Board members, the President and CEO and the corporations controlled by 
them held 375,961 Kesko Corporation A shares and 50,501 Kesko Corporation B shares, i.e. a total of 426,462 shares, which repre-
sents 0.43% of the company’s total share capital and 0.11% of voting rights.

At 31 December 2013, the President and CEO held 2,000 Kesko Corporation A shares and 31,401 Kesko Corporation B shares, 
which represented 0.03% of the company’s total share capital and 0.01% of votes. At 31 December 2013, the Group Management 
Board including the President and CEO held 2,000 Kesko Corporation A shares and 84,981 Kesko Corporation B shares, which rep-
resented 0.09% of the company’s total share capital and 0.02% of votes. At 31 December 2013, the Group Management Board held 
no share options.             
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consolidated income statement   
€ million 1 Jan.–31 Dec. 2013 % 1 Jan.–31 Dec. 2012 %

Net sales 9,315.2 100.0 9,685.9 100.0
Cost of sales -8,033.8 -86.2 -8,366.9 -86.4
Gross profit 1,281.4 13.8 1,319.0 13.6

Other operating income 734.3 7.9 747.2 7.7
Staff cost -611.1 -6.6 -607.6 -6.3
Lease expenditure -421.7 -4.5 -433.6 -4.5
Marketing costs -240.7 -2.6 -276.2 -2.9
Property and store site maintenance costs -128.4 -1.4 -133.5 -1.4
Information system expenses -81.0 -0.9 -97.9 -1.0
Other operating expenses -131.4 -1.4 -147.0 -1.5
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -153.0 -1.6 -158.5 -1.6
Operating profit 248.4 2.7 212.0 2.2

Interest income and other finance income 19.8 0.2 21.1 0.2
Interest expense and other finance costs -20.0 -0.2 -17.8 -0.2
Foreign exchange differences -5.7 -0.1 -4.0 0.0
Total finance income and costs -5.8 -0.1 -0.6 0.0

Share of profit from associates -0.3 0.0 -0.9 0.0
Profit before tax 242.3 2.6 210.5 2.2

Income tax -57.7 -0.6 -74.6 -0.8

Profit for the year 184.6 2.0 135.8 1.4

Profit for the year attributable to
Owners of the parent 173.1 124.4
Non-controlling interests 11.5 11.4

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity holders of the parent, €
Basic, € 1.75 1.27
Diluted, € 1.75 1.26

CoNsoLIDATeD sTATeMeNT oF CoMPReHeNsIVe INCoMe
Profit for the year 184.6 135.8

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Actuarial gains and losses 12.2 0.8

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Currency translation differences related to a foreign operation -13.9 -0.5
Adjustment for hyperinflation 2.8 3.8
Cash flow hedge revaluation -3.8 -1.9
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets -4.9 9.2
Others -0.2 -0.2

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -7.7 11.3

Total comprehensive income for the year 176.9 147.1

Comprehensive income for the year attributable to
Owners of the parent 165.9 133.3
Non-controlling interests 11.0 13.9
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consolidated statement oF Financial position
€ million 31 Dec. 2013 % 31 Dec. 2012* %

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1,651.4 1,677.8
Intangible assets 189.1 192.1
Investments in associates 87.5 83.0
Available-for-sale financial assets 16.9 22.3
Non-current receivables 12.5 88.6
Deferred tax assets 3.0 2.4
Pension assets 170.2 153.8
Total non-current assets 2,130.5 48.8 2,220.0 50.7

Current assets  
Inventories 797.5 814.2
Interest-bearing receivables 11.8 25.0
Trade receivables 616.7 703.0
Current tax assets 2.2 2.4
Other non-interest-bearing receivables 121.6 126.0
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 170.7 137.2
Available-for-sale financial assets 398.4 249.0
Cash and cash equivalents 111.8 102.9
Total current assets 2,230.6 51.1 2,159.7 49.3
Non-current assets held for sale 0.5 0.0 2.3 0.0
Total assets 4,361.7 100.0 4,382.0 100.0

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 197.3 197.3
Share premium 197.8 197.8
Other reserves 263.4 243.8
Currency translation differences -13.3 -2.1
Revaluation reserve 1.2 9.9
Retained earnings 1,632.9 1,558.9

2,279.4 52.3 2,205.5 50.3

Non-controlling interests 73.1 1.7 66.6 1.5
Total equity 2,352.5 53.9 2,272.1 51.8

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 355.1 450.3
Non-interest-bearing non-current liabilities 9.9 10.3
Deferred tax liabilities 68.1 80.7
Pension obligations 1.8 1.6
Provisions 17.4 20.5
Total non-current liabilities 452.3 10.4 563.5 12.9

Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 199.3 174.1
Trade payables 825.4 803.6
Other non-interest-bearing liabilities 235.2 241.9
Current tax liabilities 10.7 16.2
Accrued liabilities 248.6 271.0
Provisions 37.7 39.5
Total current liabilities 1,556.9 35.7 1,546.3 35.3

Total liabilities 2,009.2 46.1 2,109.9 48.2

Total equity and liabilities 4,361.7 100.0 4,382.0 100.0

* Comparatives for 2012 have been restated in accordance with the revised IAS 19, Employee benefits standard.     
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consolidated statement oF cash Flows 
€ million 1 Jan.–31 Dec. 2013 1 Jan.–31 Dec. 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 242.3 210.5
Adjustments

Depreciation according to plan 151.6 154.7
Finance income and costs 5.8 0.6
Other adjustments 8.2 103.1

165.6 258.4
Change in working capital

Current non-interest-bearing receivables, increase (-)/decrease (+) 89.1 4.9
Inventories increase (-)/decrease (+) 2.9 56.9
Current non-interest-bearing liabilities, increase (+)/decrease (-) -1.3 -70.2

90.7 -8.4

Interest paid and other finance costs -21.8 -18.9
Interest received 14.5 18.2
Dividends received 0.1 0.1
Income tax paid -77.5 -78.2
Net cash generated from operating activities 413.8 381.7

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of associate -0.1 -22.5
Purchases of tangible and intangible assets -173.2 -387.4
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets -0.7 -1.2
Proceeds from disposal of tangible and intangible assets 21.8 24.4
Increase (-)/decrease (+) in non-current loan and receivables 0.2 -4.0
Net cash used in investing activities -152.0 -390.7

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase (+)/decrease (-) in interest-bearing liabilities -46.8 232.1
Repayments of finance lease obligations -0.5 -2.0
Increase (-)/decrease (+) interest-bearing receivables 77.6 37.3
Dividends paid -122.4 -123.0
Proceeds from issuance of shares 19.6 1.0
Increase (-)/decrease (+) in short-term money market investments -90.6 -1.5
Other items 4.6 -13.6
Net cash used in financing activities -158.6 130.3

Change in cash and cash equivalents and current available-for-sale financial assets 103.2 121.3

Cash and cash equivalents and current available-for-sale financial assets at 1 Jan. 351.9 230.8
Currency translation difference adjustment and change in value -2.1 -0.1
Cash and cash equivalents and current available-for-sale financial assets at 31 Dec. 453.0 351.9
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consolidated statement oF chanGes  
in equitY

Attributable to owners of the parent

Share
capital Reserves

Currency
transla-

tion
differ-
ences

Revalua-
tion

reserve
Treasury

shares
Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interest
Total

equity

€ million

Balance as at 1 January 2013 197.3 441.6 -2.1 9.9 -19.4 1,578.3 2,205.5 66.6 2,272.1
Shares subscribed for with options 19.6 19.6 19.6
Share-based payment 1.6 1.6 0.0 1.6
Dividends -117.9 -117.9 -4.5 -122.4
Other changes 0.0 -0.3 5.0 4.7 0.0 4.7
Profit for the year 173.1 173.1 11.5 184.6
Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gains/losses 14.6 14.6 14.6
Currency translation differences related to a 
foreign operation 0.0 -10.8 -10.8 -3.1 -13.9
Adjustments for hyperinflation 0.3 0.3 2.6 2.8
Cash flow hedge revaluation -4.7 -4.7 -4.7
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets -4.7 -4.7 -4.7
Others -0.2 -0.2 -0.2
Tax related to other comprehensive income 0.8 -2.4 -1.6 -1.6

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 -10.8 -8.7 12.3 -7.2 -0.5 -7.7
Total comprehensive income for the period 0.0 -10.8 -8.7 185.4 165.9 11.0 176.9
Balance as at 31 December 2013 197.3 461.2 -13.3 1.2 -17.8 1,650.7 2,279.4 73.1 2,352.5

Balance as at 31 December 2011 197.3 440.7 -3.4 2.6 -22.0 1,559.4 2,174.7 58.3 2,233.0
Restated in accordance with the revised IAS 19, 
Employee benefits standard  8.0 8.0 -0.2 7.8

Balance as at 1 January 2012 197.3 440.7 -3.4 2.6 -22.0 1,567.4 2,182.7 58.2 2,240.9
Shares subscribed for with options 1.0 1.0 1.0
Share-based payment 2.5 0.5 3.0 0.0 3.0
Dividends -117.6 -117.6 -5.3 -123.0
Other changes 0.7 0.0 2.6 3.3 -0.1 3.1
Profit for the year 124.4 124.4 11.4 135.8
Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gains/losses 1.1 1.1 1.1
Currency translation differences related to a 
foreign operation 0.0 0.6 0.6 -1.0 -0.5
Adjustments for hyperinflation 0.3 0.3 3.5 3.8
Cash flow hedge revaluation -2.6 -2.6 -2.6
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 9.1 9.1 9.1
Others -0.2 -0.2 -0.2
Tax related to other comprehensive income 0.7 -0.3 0.4 0.4

Total other comprehensive income 0.0 0.6 7.3 1.0 8.8 2.5 11.3
Total comprehensive income for the period 0.0 0.6 7.3 125.4 133.3 13.9 147.1
Balance as at 31 December 2012 197.3 441.6 -2.1 9.9 -19.4 1,578.3 2,205.5 66.6 2,272.1
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seGment inFormation

The Group’s reportable segments are composed of the Group’s 
divisions, namely the food trade, the home and speciality goods 
trade, the building and home improvement trade, and the car and 
machinery trade.

Segment information is reported in a manner consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating deci-
sion-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, responsible for 
allocating resources to the operating segments, has been identi-
fied as the Group Management Board. The reportable operating 
segments derive their net sales from the food trade, the home and 
speciality goods trade, the building and home improvement trade, 
and the car and machinery trade. Sales between segments are 
charged at prevailing market rates.

The Group Management Board assesses the performances of the 
segments in terms of operating profit, operating profit adjusted for 
non-recurring items, and return on capital employed. Exceptional 
transactions outside ordinary course of business are treated as 
non-recurring items and allocated to the segments. The Group 
identifies gains and losses on the disposal of real estate, shares 
and operating activities, impairments and costs of discontinuing 
significant operations as non-recurring items. Gains on disposals 
are presented in the income statement within other operating 
income, and losses on disposals within other operating expenses. 
In other respects, the Management Board’s performance monitor-
ing is in full compliance with IFRS reporting. Finance income and 
costs are not allocated to the segments, as the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents are managed by the Group Treasury. Changes in 
the fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts entered into 
inside the Group are reported as part of other operating income and 
expenses to the extent that they hedge the segments’ operational 
foreign currency risk. 

The assets and liabilities of a segment’s capital employed consist 
of items which can be justifiably allocated to the segments. The 
assets of capital employed comprise property, plant and equipment 
and intangible fixed assets, investments in associates, pension 
assets, inventories, trade receivables and other non-interest-bear-
ing receivables, interest-bearing receivables and available-for-sale 
assets. The liabilities of capital employed consist of trade payables, 
other non-interest-bearing liabilities and provisions. The Group’s 
real estate assets and the revenue and costs derived from them 
have been allocated to the segments.

Capital employed does not include deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, except 
for fair value measurements of forward foreign exchange contracts 
recognised in the balance sheet, available-for-sale financial assets, 
cash and cash equivalents, or interest-bearing liabilities. 

FooD TRADe
The food trade comprises Kesko Food’s grocery trade in Finland and 
Russia, as well as Kespro’s grocery wholesale trade. In Finland,  
Kesko Food’s operating activities are based on the K-retailer business 
model and in Russia, Kesko Food itself acts as a retail operator. The 
retail trade comprises nearly 1,000 K-food stores operated using 

the K-retailer business model. These stores form the K-citymarket, 
K-supermarket, K-market and K-extra retail chains of the food 
trade. Kesko Food manages the operations of the chains made up 
of the stores. Chain operations ensure higher competitiveness 
and a strong operational base for K-retailers in terms of sourcing, 
building selections, marketing and price competition. Kesko Food’s 
subsidiary Kespro Ltd engages in wholesaling in the Finnish hotel, 
restaurant and catering (HoReCa) business. 

HoMe AND sPeCIALITY GooDs TRADe
The home and speciality goods trade comprises K-citymarket’s 
home and speciality goods, Anttila and Kodin1, Intersport and 
Budget Sport, Asko and Sotka, Musta Pörssi and Kookenkä. In addi-
tion to around 420 stores, the chains also serve customers online. 
Intersport engages in the sports equipment trade in Finland and 
Russia. Kesko’s home and speciality goods trade offers customers 
products and services related to clothing, home, sports, leisure, 
home technology, entertainment as well as interior decoration and 
furniture. Efficient chain operations ensure that a wide and price 
competitive selection of well-known Finnish and foreign product 
brands are available to customers. 

BUILDING AND HoMe IMPRoVeMeNT TRADe
The building and home improvement trade comprises Rauta- 
kesko’s building and home improvement trade and agricultural 
trade in Finland, and building and home improvement trade 
in Sweden, Norway, the Baltic countries, Russia and Belarus. 
Rautakesko’s operations are based on strong chain concepts, 
efficient sourcing, and best practices duplicated internationally. 
Rautakesko is responsible for the chains’ concepts, marketing, and 
sourcing and logistics services, store site network in all operating 
countries and retailer resources in Finland. Rautakesko itself is a 
retail operator in Sweden, Norway, the Baltic countries, Russia and 
Belarus. The retail store chains are K-rauta, Rautia, K-maatalous, 
Byggmakker (Norway), Senukai (Lithuania) and OMA (Belarus). 
Rautakesko’s building and home improvement stores serve both 
consumer and professional customers.

CAR AND MACHINeRY TRADe
The car and machinery trade comprises the business operations of 
VV-Auto and Konekesko. VV-Auto imports and markets Volkswagen, 
Audi and Seat passenger cars and Volkswagen commercial vehicles 
in Finland. VV-Auto is also engaged in car retailing and provides af-
ter-sales services at its own retail outlets. Konekesko is a service com-
pany specialising in the import and sales of construction, environ-
mental and agricultural machinery, trucks and buses, and recreational 
machinery. Konekesko operates in Finland and the Baltic countries.

CoMMoN oPeRATIoNs
Common operations comprise Group support functions.
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seGMeNT INFoRMATIoN FoR 2013

Food
trade

Home and
speciality

goods trade

Building and 
home improve-

ment trade

Car and
machinery

trade
Common

operations Eliminations Total

€ million
PROFIT
Segment net sales 4,386.9 1,456.5 2,607.5 1,037.2 123.9 9,612.0
of which inter-segment sales -172.0 -17.1 0.7 -1.0 -107.4 -296.8
Net sales from external customers 4,214.9 1,439.4 2,608.2 1,036.2 16.5 9,315.2

Other segment income 630.1 76.8 110.1 5.9 6.5 829.4
of which inter-segment income -83.2 -6.8 -4.8 -0.1 0.4 -0.4 -95.1
Other operating income from external customers 546.8 70.0 105.3 5.7 6.9 -0.4 734.3

Depreciation and amortisation -62.6 -26.7 -46.3 -11.5 -4.5 0.0 -151.6
Impairment -1.4 -1.4
Operating profit 208.0 -2.1 24.8 33.9 -15.1 -1.2 248.4

Non-recurring items 4.8 6.2 -0.9 - 0.4 -1.0 9.6
Operating profit excluding non-recurring items 203.3 -8.3 25.7 33.9 -15.5 -0.3 238.8

Finance income and costs -5.8
Share of profit from associates -0.3
Profit before tax 242.3

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Tangible and intangible assets 813.4 306.2 544.0 97.2 77.5 2.2 1,840.4
Investments in associates and other investments 4.6 0.1 0.3 0.0 100.1 -0.6 104.4
Pension assets 31.7 8.9 10.7 5.5 113.3 170.2
Inventories 106.6 241.4 262.5 188.0 - -1.1 797.5
Trade receivables 309.8 99.0 175.4 56.8 13.4 -37.6 616.7
Other non-interest-bearing receivables 53.5 28.3 48.9 4.9 38.3 -49.3 124.7
Interest-bearing receivables 16.1 2.2 2.6 0.1 3.0 -0.7 23.3
Assets held for sale 0.5 0.5
Assets included in capital employed 1,335.9 686.1 1,044.5 352.5 346.1 -87.2 3,677.9

Unallocated items
Deferred tax assets 3.0
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 170.7
Available-for-sale financial assets 398.4
Cash and cash equivalents 111.8
Total assets 1,335.9 686.1 1,044.5 352.5 346.1 -87.2 4,361.7

Trade payables 423.9 131.0 245.1 53.3 4.3 -32.1 825.4
Other non-interest-bearing liabilities 148.9 188.7 92.0 87.7 40.7 -51.9 506.2
Provisions 8.7 9.7 7.5 29.2 0.0 55.1
Liabilities included in capital employed 581.5 329.4 344.6 170.2 45.0 -84.0 1,386.7

Unallocated items
Interest-bearing liabilities 554.4
Deferred tax liabilities 68.1
Total liabilities 581.5 329.4 344.6 170.2 45.0 -84.0 2,009.2

Total capital employed as at 31 Dec. 754.4 356.7 699.9 182.3 301.1 -3.2 2,291.1
Average capital employed 821.0 445.3 732.1 161.0 286.3 -8.2 2,437.6

Return on capital employed excl.  
non-recurring items, % 24.8 -1.9 3.5 21.1 9.8

Capital expenditure 91.6 23.1 37.8 15.1 4.5 -0.6 171.5

Number of personnel as at 31 Dec. 3,570 8,483 10,066 1,261 483 23,863
Average number of personnel 3,143 5,751 8,910 1,252 433 19,489
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seGMeNT INFoRMATIoN FoR 2012 

Food
trade

Home and
speciality

goods trade

Building and 
home improve-

ment trade

Car and
machinery

trade
Common

operations Eliminations Total

€ million
PROFIT
Segment net sales 4,311.4 1,602.7 2,827.0 1,113.7 156.1 10,010.8
of which inter-segment sales -172.3 -18.1 -0.4 -1.0 -133.2 -325.0
Net sales from external customers 4,139.1 1,584.5 2,826.6 1,112.7 22.9 9,685.9

Other segment income 625.0 82.7 117.0 5.0 7.3 837.0
of which inter-segment income -81.5 -6.0 -3.2 -0.1 0.9 -89.9
Other operating income from external customers 543.5 76.7 113.8 4.9 8.2 747.2

Depreciation and amortisation -57.3 -31.7 -50.3 -11.1 -4.3 0.1 -154.7
Impairment -2.1 -1.7 -3.8
Operating profit 170.2 0.0 11.6 41.9 -12.6 0.9 212.0

Non-recurring items 2.7 -19.5 -1.7 -0.2 0.7 -18.0
Operating profit excluding non-recurring items 167.5 19.6 13.3 41.9 -12.4 0.2 230.0

Finance income and costs -0.6
Share of profit from associates -0.9
Profit before tax 210.5

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Tangible and intangible assets 789.4 330.1 570.4 100.3 77.5 2.2 1,869.8
Investments in associates and other investments 3.5 0.1 0.2 0.0 102.2 -0.6 105.4
Pension assets 31.3 8.8 10.6 5.5 97.6 153.8
Inventories 107.0 251.6 276.5 180.0 -1.0 814.2
Trade receivables 309.4 142.9 204.1 58.5 16.1 -27.7 703.2
Other non-interest-bearing receivables 39.1 35.3 56.7 5.3 15.4 -21.6 130.2
Interest-bearing receivables 110.3 2.0 1.1 0.1 2.0 -4.0 111.5
Assets held for sale 1.6 0.2 0.5 2.3
Assets included in capital employed 1,391.5 770.8 1,119.9 349.6 311.2 -52.7 3,890.4

Unallocated items
Deferred tax assets 2.4
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 137.2
Available-for-sale financial assets 249.0
Cash and cash equivalents 102.9
Total assets 1,391.5 770.8 1,119.9 349.6 311.2 -52.7 4,382.0

Trade payables 389.9 127.6 251.8 55.6 5.7 -27.0 803.6
Other non-interest-bearing liabilities 148.3 163.3 110.8 91.8 49.2 -22.5 541.0
Provisions 10.7 17.1 8.0 24.0 0.9 -0.7 60.0
Liabilities included in capital employed 548.9 308.0 370.6 171.4 55.8 -50.1 1,404.7

Unallocated items
Interest-bearing liabilities 624.5
Deferred tax liabilities 80.7
Total liabilities 548.9 308.0 370.6 171.4 55.8 -50.1 2,109.9

Total capital employed as at 31 Dec. 842.6 462.8 749.3 178.2 255.4 -2.6 2,485.7
Average capital employed 763.1 513.8 759.6 188.4 309.7 17.2 2,551.6

Return on capital employed excl.  
non-recurring items, % 21.9 3.8 1.7 22.3 9.0

Capital expenditure 200.0 61.1 63.1 26.6 27.6 -0.1 378.3

Number of personnel as at 31 Dec. 3,163 8,950 10,204 1,259 504 24,080
Average number of personnel 2,799 6,139 9,105 1,254 450 19,747



86    kesko 2013

kesko 2013

GRoUP-WIDe INFoRMATIoN        
The Group operates in Finland, Sweden, Norway, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Russia and Belarus. The food trade and the home and 
speciality goods trade mainly take place in Finland and Russia, the car and machinery trade in Finland and the Baltic countries, 
and the building and home improvement trade in Finland, Norway, Sweden, the Baltic countries, Russia and Belarus.   
    
Net sales, assets, capital expenditures and personnel are disclosed by location.     
 

2013

Finland

Other
Nordic 

countries
Baltic  

countries
Russia

and Belarus Eliminations Total

€ million

Net sales 7,678.4 675.5 511.9 467.9 -18.5 9,315.2
Assets 2,802.7 237.9 194.8 385.9 56.5 3,677.9
Capital expenditure 100.7 2.6 4.3 63.9 171.5
Average number of personnel 9,805 1,153 4,206 4,325 19,489

2012

Finland

Other
Nordic 

countries
Baltic  

countries
Russia

and Belarus Eliminations Total

€ million

Net sales 7,942.7 849.4 511.5 403.2 -20.9 9,685.9
Assets 3,014.0 290.6 188.2 353.9 43.6 3,890.4
Capital expenditure 291.6 7.8 3.1 75.8 378.3
Average number of personnel 10,231 1,440 4,254 3,822 19,747

Net sales are nearly completely derived from sales of goods. The amount derived from sales of services is immaterial.   
       
Kesko Group had no income derived from a single customer amounting to more than 10% of Kesko Group’s total income.  
              
 
       

ReAD MoRe
The full financial statements can be read  
in the online version of the Annual Report  
at annualreport2013.kesko.fi/
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shares and shareholders

DIVIDeND PoLICY
According to Kesko Corporation’s dividend policy, Kesko 
Corporation distributes at least 50% of its earnings per share 
excluding non-recurring items as dividends, taking into 
account, however, the company’s financial position and oper-
ating strategy

The financial objectives are presented on page 6.

PRoPoseD DIVIDeNDs FoR 2013
Kesko Corporation’s Board proposes to the General Meeting 
that a dividend of €1.40 per share be distributed on the basis 
of the adopted balance sheet for 2013, representing 80% of 
earnings per share and 83% of earnings per share exclud-
ing non-recurring items. In the five previous years, 83% of 
earnings per share excluding non-recurring items, on average, 
have been distributed as dividends.

BAsIC sHARe INFoRMATIoN
As AT 31 DeCeMBeR 2013
A share 
•	 symbol: KESAV (OMX) 
•	 ISIN code: FI0009007900
•	 voting rights per share: 10 votes 
•	 number of shares: 31,737,007 pcs
•	 market capitalisation: €851 million

B share 
•	 symbol: KESBV (OMX) 
•	 ISIN code: FI0009000202
•	 voting rights per share: 1 vote 
•	 number of shares: 68,095,686 pcs
•	 market capitalisation: €1,810 million

Trading unit of both share series: 1 share.
Total share capital: €197,282,584.
Total number of shares: 99,832,693 pcs.
Voting rights carried by all shares: 385,465,756.
Total market capitalisation: €2,661 million.

sHARe seRIes AND sHARe CAPITAL
Kesko Corporation’s share capital is divided into A and B share 
series. As at 31 December 2013, the company’s total share capi-
tal was €197,282,584. 

The minimum number of A shares is one (1) and the maxi-
mum number is two hundred and fifty million (250,000,000), 
while the minimum number of B shares is one (1) and 
the maximum number is two hundred and fifty million 
(250,000,000), provided, however, that the minimum aggre-
gate number of shares is two (2) and the maximum aggregate 
number is four hundred million (400,000,000). As at 31 

December 2013, the total number of shares was 99,832,693, of 
which 31,737,007 (31.8%) were A shares and 68,095,686 (68.2%) 
were B shares.

Each A share carries 10 votes and each B share one vote. 
Both shares carry equal dividend rights. The number of votes 
carried by A shares represented 82% and the number of votes 
carried by B shares 18% of the total voting rights.

The shares are included in the book-entry system operated 
by Euroclear Finland Ltd.

The right to receive funds distributed by the company and 
to subscribe for shares when shares are issued belongs only 
to those who are registered as company shareholders in the 
shareholder register as at the record date, whose right to 
receive payments is registered in the book-entry securities 
account of the shareholder registered in the shareholder 
register as at the record date and registered in the shareholder 
register, and if a share is registered in a nominee name, into 
whose book-entry securities account the share is registered 
as at the record date and whose custodian is registered in the 
shareholder register as the custodian of the shares as at the 
record date.

AUTHoRIsATIoNs oF THe BoARD  
AND TReAsURY sHARes
2013 SHARE ISSUE AUTHORISATION

The Annual General Meeting held on 8 April 2013 authorised 
the company’s Board to decide on the issuance of a maximum 
of 1,000,000 own B shares held as treasury shares by the 
company. The B shares held as treasury shares by the company 
can be issued to shareholders for subscription in a directed 
issue in proportion to their existing holdings of the company 
shares, regardless of whether they own A or B shares. The 
shares can also be issued in a directed issue departing from 
the shareholder’s pre-emptive right, for a weighty financial 
reason for the company, such as using the shares to develop 
the company’s capital structure, to finance possible business 
acquisitions, capital expenditures or other arrangements 
within the scope of the company’s business operations, and to 
implement the company’s incentive plan.

The own B shares held as treasury shares by the company 
can be transferred either against or without consideration. 
According to the Limited Liability Companies Act, a directed 
share issue can only be without consideration, if the compa-
ny, taking into account the best interests of all its sharehold-
ers, has a particularly weighty financial reason for it.

The authorisation also includes the Board’s authorisation to 
make decisions concerning any other issues related to share 
issuances. The amount possibly paid for treasury shares is 
recognised in the reserve of invested non-restricted equity.

The authorisation is valid until 30 June 2017.
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2013 AUTHORISATION TO ACQUIRE OWN SHARES

The Annual General Meeting held on 8 April 2013 authorised 
the company’s Board to decide on the acquisition of a maxi-
mum of 500,000 own B shares. Based on the authorisation, 
own shares shall be acquired using the company’s unrestrict-
ed equity not in proportion to shares held by shareholders 
but at the market price quoted in public trading organised 
by NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (“the stock exchange”) at the 
time of acquisition. The shares shall be acquired and paid in 
accordance with the rules of the stock exchange.

The shares can be acquired to be used in the development of 
the company’s capital structure, to finance possible business 
acquisitions, capital expenditures and/or other arrangements 
within the scope of the company’s business operations, and to 
implement the company’s incentive plan, or to be transferred 
otherwise, or cancelled.

The authorisation is valid until 30 September 2014. By 31 
December 2013, more own shares had not been acquired based 
on the authorisation.

As at 31 December 2013, Kesko Corporation held a total of 
548,984 own B shares as treasury shares. Subsidiaries do not 
hold Kesko Corporation shares. Treasury shares accounted for 
0.81% of B shares and 0.55% of the total shares, and 0.14% of 
the total voting rights carried by the company shares.

2012 SHARE ISSUE AUTHORISATION

The Annual General Meeting held on 16 April 2012 author-
ised the company’s Board to make decisions concerning the 
issuance of a total maximum of 20,000,000 new B shares. 
The shares can be issued against payment for subscription 
by shareholders in a directed issue in proportion to their 
existing shareholdings regardless of whether they consist of A 
or B shares. The shares can also be issued departing from the 
shareholder’s pre-emptive right, in a directed issue, if there 
is a weighty financial reason for the company, such as using 
the shares to develop the company’s capital structure, and 
financing possible acquisitions, capital expenditures or other 
arrangements within the scope of the company’s business op-
erations. The shares can only be transferred against payment. 

The authorisation also includes the Board’s authorisation 
to decide on the share subscription price, the right to issue 
shares against non-cash consideration and the right to make 
decisions on other matters concerning share issuances. The 
amount possibly paid for the share subscriptions is recog-
nised in the reserve of invested non-restricted equity. 

The authorisation is valid until 30 June 2015.

sHAReHoLDeRs
According to the register of Kesko Corporation’s shareholders 
held by Euroclear Finland Ltd, there were 42,809 shareholders 
at the end of 2013 (44,554 at the end of 2012). The total num-
ber of shares registered in a nominee name was 24,178,324, 
accounting for 24.22% of all shares (16,801,383 and 17.02% re-
spectively at the end of 2012). These shares carried 27,839,614 
votes, or 7.22% of the total voting rights (18,498,486 or 4.81% 
respectively at the end of 2012). 

oTHeR sPeCIAL RIGHTs eNTITLING To sHARes
The Board does not have other valid authorisations to issue 
shares, to increase the share capital, or to acquire or transfer 
own shares.

 
TRADING IN kesko CoRPoRATIoN sHARes AND 
sHARe oPTIoNs IN 2013
Kesko Corporation shares are listed on the Helsinki stock ex-
change. The price performance of both A and B shares lagged 
slightly behind the overall trend. The price of liquid B shares 
increased by 8.2% and those of less liquid A shares by 9.9%, 
while the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki All Share Index increased by 
26.5%. The B share trading volume fell by 25.0% and the value 
by 20.7% on the Helsinki stock exchange. The A share trading 
volume fell by 50.3% and the value by 50.6% from the previ-
ous year. At the end of the year, the market capitalisation of 
A shares was €851 million and that of B shares €1,810 million. 
The total market capitalisation was €2,661 million, an increase 
of €243 million during the year.

ReAD MoRe
Shares and share options held by the management, pages 
58-61.
The 2007 share option plan and the share-based 
compensation plan, pages 52-53 and note 30 to the financial 
statements in the online Annual Report.
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CoMMUNICATIoNs  
PoLICY AND PRINCIPLes
The purpose of Kesko’s communications 
is to promote the business activities 
of the Group and its business partners 
by taking the initiative in providing 
stakeholders with correct information 
on the Group’s objectives and opera-
tions. The general principles followed in 
providing communications also include 
openness, topicality and truthfulness. 
No comments are made on the compa-
ny’s confidential or unfinished business 
transactions, or on competitors’ affairs.

The primary objective of commu-
nications is to describe what added 
value Kesko and its partners generate to 
consumers and other customers, whose 
impressions and behaviour ultimately 
decide Kesko’s success.

HUMAN ResoURCes AND 
sTAkeHoLDeR ReLATIoNs
Matti Mettälä, Senior Vice President
Tel. +358 105 322 200

Merja Haverinen, Vice President, Group 
Communications
Tel. +358 105 322 764

E-mail: firstname.lastname@kesko.fi

INVesToR ReLATIoNs
In line with its investor relations 
strategy, Kesko continually produces 
correct and up-to-date information for 
the markets as a basis for the formation 
of Kesko Corporation share prices. The 
aim is to make Kesko’s activities better 
known and to increase the transparency 
of investor information and, thereby, 
the attractiveness of Kesko as an invest-
ment.

In its investor communications, Kes-
ko follows the principle of impartiality 
and publishes all investor information 
on its website in Finnish and English.

Kesko publishes an Annual Report  
in Finnish and English. The printed ver-
sion includes a summary of the financial 

statements. The full financial statements 
can be read in the online version of the 
Annual Report at annualreport2013. 
kesko.fi/. The printed Annual Report can 
be ordered at www.kesko.fi/media.

The financial statements release and 
the three interim reports can be read on 
the company’s website. Kesko’s stock ex-
change and press releases, sent by e-mail, 
can be ordered at www.kesko.fi/media.  

Kesko publishes an online Corporate Re-
sponsibility Report in Finnish and English.

Kesko arranges press conferences for 
analysts and the media at the time of 
publishing financial information or other 
significant news, and holds a Capital 
Market Day for analysts and institutional 
investors on various themes once a year.

Kesko observes a three-week period 
of silence before publishing its results 
releases. At other times, enquiries of 
analysts and investors are answered 
by phone or e-mail, or at the investor 
meetings arranged.

IR CoNTACTs
Riikka Toivonen, Investor Relations 
Manager
Tel. +358 105 323 495

Jukka Erlund,  
Senior Vice President, CFO
Tel. +358 105 322 113

E-mail: IR@kesko.fi

BRokeRAGe FIRMs  
ANALYsING kesko
AlphaValue,
Paris
Virginie Blin
Tel. +33 1 7061 1050
foodretail@alphavalue.eu

Carnegie Investment
Bank Ab, Finland Branch, 
Helsinki   
Iiris Theman  
Tel. +358 9 6187 1241
firstname.lastname@carnegie.fi

Cheuvreux, 
Stockholm
Björn Gustafsson  
Tel. +46 8 723 5176
bgustafsson@cheuvreux.com

Danske Markets Equities, 
Helsinki 
Kalle Karppinen 
Tel. +358 10 236 4794 
firstname.lastname@danskebank.com

Evli Bank Plc,  
Helsinki 
Mika Karppinen  
Tel. +358 9 476 690  
firstname.lastname@evli.com

Handelsbanken Capital 
Markets,
Helsinki 
Robin Santavirta  
Tel. +358 10 444 2483  
rosa09@handelsbanken.se

Inderes Oy,
Helsinki 
Sauli Vilén  
Tel. +358 44 025 8908
firstname.lastname@inderes.com

Nordea Markets,  
Helsinki 
Rauli Juva  
Tel. +358 9 1655 9944
firstname.lastname@nordea.com

Pohjola Bank Plc,  
Helsinki 
Jari Räisänen  
Tel. +358 10 252 4504  
firstname.lastname@pohjola.fi

SEB Enskilda,
Helsinki
Jutta Rahikainen
Tel. +358 9 6162 8713
firstname.lastname@seb.fi 
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shareholder inFormation

FINANCIAL RePoRTING CALeNDAR  
AND keY DATes IN 2014
Year 2013 financial statements release 4 February 2014
Year 2013 Annual Report  
(including the financial statements and  
the report by the Board of Directors) Week 10
Annual General Meeting 7 April 2014
Year 2014 3-month interim report 24 April 2014
Year 2014 6-month interim report 22 July 2014
Year 2014 9-month interim report 22 October 2014

In addition, the Group’s sales figures are published monthly 
and the K-Group’s retail sales figures in connection with the 
interim reports.

GeNeRAL MeeTING
Notice is given to Kesko Corporation’s shareholders of the 
Annual General Meeting which will be held in Messukeskus 
Helsinki’s Conference Centre, Messuaukio 1 (Conference Cen-
tre entrance), Helsinki, on 7 April 2014 at 13.00. The reception 
desks for those registered for the meeting are open, voting 
tickets are provided and coffee is served from 12.00 EET.

Shareholders have the right to participate in the General 
Meeting if they are registered as shareholders in the compa-
ny’s register of shareholders kept by Euroclear Finland Ltd 
on 26 March 2014 (General Meeting record date). Sharehold-
ers whose shares are registered on their personal Finnish 
book-entry accounts are registered in the company’s register 
of shareholders.

A shareholder wishing to participate in the meeting should 
register for it no later than 2 April 2014 at 16.00 EET. The regis-
tration can be made either by post to Kesko Corporation, Legal 
Affairs, FI-00016 Kesko, by fax +358 105 323 421, by telephone 
+358 105 323 211, by e-mail to keskoyhtiokokous@kesko.fi, or 
through the website at www.kesko.fi/investors. The registra-
tion will have to be received at the company before the end of 
the registration period. Any proxies authorising the holders to 
participate in the General Meeting should be sent to the above 
postal address by the end of the registration period.

Holders of nominee registered shares are advised to request 
instructions for registering in the shareholder register, 
submitting their proxy documents and registering for the 
General Meeting from their custodian banks well in advance. 
The account management organisation of the custodian bank 
should request a holder of a nominee registered share wishing 
to participate in the General Meeting to be registered in the 
company’s temporary shareholder register no later than 2 
April 2014 at 10.00 EET.

More detailed information about the General Meeting, 
participation and decision-making is given in the Corporate 
Governance section on page 49.

The resolutions of the General Meeting are published with-
out delay after the meeting in a stock exchange release.

PAYMeNT oF DIVIDeNDs
The Board of Directors has decided to propose to the General 
Meeting that a dividend of €1.40 per share be paid for the year 
2013 on the basis of the adopted balance sheet. The dividend 
will be paid to shareholders registered in the register of Kesko 
Corporation’s shareholders kept by Euroclear Finland Ltd on 
the record date for the payment of dividend, 10 April 2014. The 
registration takes three banking days, which means that the 
dividends are paid to those who hold the shares at the close of 
the date of the General Meeting, 7 April 2014. Consequently, 
dividends on shares traded on the date of the General Meeting 
are paid to buyers.

The payment of dividends will start on 17 April 2014, as 
proposed by the Board of Directors.

FINANCIAL PUBLICATIoNs
Kesko publishes an Annual Report in Finnish and English. The 
printed version, which includes a summary of the financial state-
ments, can be ordered via the internet at www.kesko.fi/media. 
The online version of the Annual Report, which includes  
the financial statements and their notes, can be read at  
annualreport2013.kesko.fi/. Printouts of financial statements  
can be ordered at www.kesko.fi/media.

The financial statements release and the three interim 
reports can be read on the company’s website. Kesko’s stock 
exchange and press releases, sent by e-mail, can be ordered at 
www.kesko.fi/media.  

Kesko publishes an online Corporate Responsibility Report 
in Finnish and English. 

CHANGes oF ADDRess
Shareholders should notify changes of address to the bank, 
brokerage firm or other account operator with which they 
have a book-entry securities account.
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contacts

kesko CoRPoRATIoN
Satamakatu 3, FI-00160 Helsinki
FI-00016 Kesko
Tel. +358 5311
 
www.kesko.fi
www.twitter.com/Kesko_Oyj
www.facebook.com/KeskoOyj
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